

UBCMJ UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA MEDICAL JOURNAL

ning

Spring 2019 Volume 10 Issue 2

The Importance of the Anatomical Sciences in Canadian Medical Education: a UBC Medical Student's Perspective

Considering the Use of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) in Medical Education Addressing the Hidden Curriculum at UBC

Shaping Medical Education Through A Trauma-Informed Curriculum

The Significance of Race-Based Generalizations in Canadian Medical Education

MEDICAL EDUCATION



UBC's Hidden

The University of British Columbia Medical Journal (UBCMJ) is a peer-reviewed, studentdriven academic journal with the goal of engaging students in medical dialogue and contributing meaningful discourse to the scientific community.

To subscribe, advertise or submit, see our website. ubcmj.med.ubc.ca

Mailing Address: UBC Medical Journal c/o Student Affairs, UBC Faculty of Medicine 2775 Laurel Street, 11th Floor Vancouver, BC V5Z 1M9

DISCLAIMER: Please note that views expressed in the UBCMJ do not necessarily reflect the views of the editors, the Faculty of Medicine or any organizations affiliated with this publication. They are solely the authors' opinion and are intended to stimulate academic dialogue.

On the cover



The journey from medical school to practice as a physician is a dynamic one, filled with ever-increasing knowledge and experiences. New developments in clinical science and in education have stimulated the constant review of both the content and methodology of medical education. In this issue, the ever-changing nature of the medical curriculum is exemplified through creative delivery by online courses, its hidden curriculum exposed, and its foundational sciences given value anew.

Talise Lindenbach, MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Contents

VOLUME 10 ISSUE 2 | Spring 2019

EDITORIAL

The Medicine Garden 3 Ye A., Liang C.

FEATURES

- Addressing the Hidden Curriculum at UBC 4 Holmes C.
- 6 Students as Teachers Wallace C.
- How Can Medical Education Train Socially 8 **Responsible Physicians?** Parhar G.
- 10 The Future of Competency Based Learning and Workplace Based Assessment in Medical and Health Education Wong R. Y.

REVIEWS

13 Identifying Gaps in Clinical Decision-Making Teaching in Medical School Cherukupalli A., Tan C.N., Blair G.

COMMENTARIES

- 16 A Simulation–Based Group Study Method for Preclinical Medical Students Lum N., Ohm H., Sagorin Z., Tsang V.W.L., Yu A.
- 19 The Significance of Race-Based Generalizations 47 Increasing Patient Engagement Using in Canadian Medical Education Woo E.
- 21 The Humanity of Medicine: A Case for Literature and Subjectivity in Medical Education Haensel E.
- 23 Cadeveric Anatomical Education in the 21st **Century: Preserving Medical Education** Byers N., Baumeister P.
- 25 Considering the Use of Massive Open Online **Courses (MOOCs) in Medical Education** Mangalji A., Karthikeyan V.
- 27 Deconstructing Biases: The West is Not Best Cheema B.K.
- 29 Telecommunications: the Disconnect Between Medical Practice and Medical Education Afford R.

- 31 Highlighting Current Needs in Addressing Youth Mental Health in British Columbia Nguyen T., Tsang V.W.L., Randhawa P.A., Rosenkrantz M., Amirie M., Bhatia F., Drabkin L., Kim J.L., Leung A.S., Tang J.K.K., Singh T.K.
- 34 The Importance of the Anatomical Sciences in Canadian Medical Education: a UBC Medical Student's Perspective Cairns J.
- 36 Coordinating Student Academic Advocacy in the **UBC Medical Undergraduate Program through** the Medical Education Committee (MEC) Zhao E.Y., Nguyen K., Tinker J., Lu D., Liu J.
- **39** The Decline of Embryology Instruction Within **Medical Schools World-wide: Options for** Adapting Robertson A.B., Oyedele O.
- 41 Shaping Medical Education Through A Trauma-Informed Curriculum Wong C., Maleki M.
- 43 Should We Be Teaching Medical Students to be Moral Isolationists? Udwadia F.R.
- 45 Potential Cost Savings and Reduction of Medication Errors Due to Implementation of **Computerized Provider Order Entry and Bar-**Coded Medication Administration in the FHA Larson K., Lo C.
- **Community-Based Resources** Houlton R.E.

NEWS AND LETTERS

- 50 Listen and Learn: How the Podcast Revolution is **Shaping Medical Education** Paul B.R.
- 52 The Future of Lung Cancer? An Interview with Dr. Stephen Lam Golin A.P.
- 53 The Problem of Unmatched Canadian Medical Graduates: Where Are We Now? Young S.
- 55 Screen Time and Childhood Obesity: A **Commentary on the Evidence Behind Current** Guidelines Johar J.

The Medicine Garden

Annette Ye¹, Calvin Liang¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (3)

orticulture is to medical school as a flower is to a medical Lprofessional. Take note, this is no average garden! Medical schools and training programs meticulously control the growing conditionswatering schedule (teaching), soil (curriculum), and sunlight (positive and negative experiences)—to ensure that each seed (medical student) is planted in the most optimal environment. The ultimate goal is for trainees to blossom into beautiful, symmetrical, six-petaled flowers that flourish in residency and bloom until retirement. Have you guessed what this horticulture technique is yet? More widely known by its formal name, the CanMEDS framework is a set of competency standards outlining the seven roles of a well-integrated physician in modern society.1 However, one might argue that the expectation of a trainee to become a medical expert, a communicator, a collaborator, a leader, a health advocate, a scholar, and a professional is unrealistic.² More alarmingly, others have posed that the demand for physicians to hold too many roles contributes to physician burnout.³ After all, there are no perfect horticulturists, no perfect seeds, and no perfect method. This process is dynamic, as producing medical professionals who can face the contemporary challenges of the healthcare system requires constant refinement.

The CanMEDS framework was established in the 1990s by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada and more recently updated in 2015 to incorporate milestones for Canadian residency programs.4 Each role in the CanMEDS framework lays out a fundamental building block of the modern Canadian physician as informed by broad stakeholder consultation. Similarly, the CanMEDS-Family Medicine 2017 framework by the College of Family Physicians of Canada uses seven leaves on a tree to paint the overall roles and responsibilities of a well-rounded Canadian family physician.⁵ Trickling downstream of the Colleges, a similar evolution of newer teaching methods and curriculum renewal has occurred at Canadian medical schools to nurture the various CanMEDS roles.¹ Active learning has replaced much of the eight-hour lecture day in medical school, with students taking part in case-based or problem-based learning, small group activities, interprofessional seminars, and community-oriented experiences. The trainee therefore takes on multiple roles throughout the day while learning in the classroom, conducting research, or taking on a leadership role by facilitating his or her small group activity. These activities mimic the expectations and routines of a competent physician in the workplace. Learning objectives in and out of the classroom also nourish the skills and attitudes necessary to face the challenges of contemporary medicine. For example, students may be in a small group focused seminar discussing the basics of genetic testing or learning how to have a dialogue regarding end-of-life care.

It is, without a doubt, not an easy task to ensure that all medical trainees achieve the competencies laid out by the seven pillars of CanMEDS. Simultaneously, one should appreciate the beauty of the

inevitable asymmetry in a flower's petals, regardless of how much watering and fertilizer it receives. This issue of the University of British Columbia (UBC) Medical Journal explores medical education throughout Canada, featuring pieces from renowned faculty members at UBC who take part in the effortful process of developing a modern medical school curriculum. Dr. Cheryl Holmes discusses the unofficial lessons from medical education in her piece "Addressing the Hidden Curriculum at UBC." Dr. Clarissa Wallace shares her insights from educators and philosophers on the importance of learning by teaching, while Dr. Gurdeep Parhar explores how UBC is tackling the contemporary issue of training socially responsible physicians. Finally, Dr. Roger Wong examines how the emphasis of active learning has led to a refinement in assessment tools in medical education. It is our hope that these curated pieces, along with a record number of thought-provoking Commentaries, will help us objectively, critically, and courageously discuss these issues to move the field of medicine forward.

- The CanMEDS 2015 Framework [Internet]. Ottawa: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2015 [cited 2019 Jan 5]. Available from: http://www. canmeds.royalcollege.ca/en/framework
- 2. Ellaway R. CanMEDS is a theory. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract. 2016;21(5):915-7.
- 3. Voll S, Valiante TA. Watering CanMEDS flowers. Can Med Educ J. 2017;8(3):e117-8.
- Competence by design [Internet]. Ottawa: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; [date unknown] [cited 2019 Jan 5]. Available from: http:// www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/cbd/competence-by-design-cbd-e
 The College of Family Physicians of Canada. CanMEDS-Family Medicine 2017:
- The College of Family Physicians of Canada. CanMEDS-Family Medicine 2017: a competency framework for family physicians across the continuum [Internet]. Mississauga: The College of Family Physicians of Canada; 2017 [cited 2019 Jan 5]. Available from: https://www.cfpc.ca/canmedsfm/

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Correspondence to Calvin Liang (calvin.liang@alumni.ubc.ca) Annette Ye (annette.ye@alumni.ubc.ca)

Addressing the Hidden Curriculum at UBC

Cheryl Holmes¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (4-5)

Abstract

The hidden curriculum, a set of unspoken rules and conventions in medical practice, is a much more powerful force influencing professional behaviours of learners in the health professions than what they learn in the classroom. In this commentary, I explore the effect of the hidden curriculum on the learning environment. Findings from a hidden curriculum study from the UBC Faculty of Medicine are used to illustrate what medical students can do to manage the more distressing aspects of the hidden curriculum.

What is meant by the hidden curriculum in health professions training?

In medical education, the formal curriculum can be described as the structured intentional curriculum found in documents, such as course syllabi, lecture handouts, case–based learning materials, and clinical skills materials, to name a few. The informal curriculum refers to the more unplanned, unscripted, and often opportunistic learning that occurs during delivery of the formal curriculum and in delivery of teaching with patient care, such as in physician offices, in clinics, and on the hospital wards. The hidden curriculum refers to the "cultural mores" of the profession that are transmitted but not openly acknowledged through formal and informal teaching encounters.¹ Gofton and Regehr² describe the hidden curriculum as "a set of influences, defined by the organizational culture and enacted by the members of the organization, which shape the attitudes and values of the trainee."

On the positive side, the hidden curriculum plays a key role in transmitting the values, ideals, and conditions required to become a physician. Implicit in the medical profession's "social contract" with society is the public's expectations of the medical profession, such as competence, altruistic service, morality, integrity, honesty, accountability, trust, shared responsibility for health, and a balanced lifestyle.³

Yet the hidden curriculum also has a more pernicious side, whereby professionalism lapses and unethical behaviours are normalized, particularly in the clinical setting. This erosion of humanism is prominently represented in the literature whereby the hidden curriculum is perceived to enact, through mistreatment and negative role–modeling, a "stamping out of the innate humanistic tendencies of medical students."⁴ Feudtner and Christakis studied Year 3 medical students and provided a chilling insight into the ethical dilemmas and distress experienced by new clerks as they experienced pressures to fit into their medical teams on the wards.⁵

The literature describes three approaches to redress the pernicious aspects of the hidden curriculum: 1) focus on the learners; 2) train faculty to behave more professionally; and 3) change the institutional culture. In this commentary, I will focus on what students can do to manage the hidden curriculum based on research at UBC, while acknowledging that managing the hidden curriculum is a collective responsibility.

Hidden curriculum research at UBC

Based on the literature,67 the UBC Faculty of Medicine Medical Undergraduate Program (MDUP) envisioned a learner-centered approach to the hidden curriculum involving four iterative steps: 1) priming students that there is a hidden curriculum and that all students are prone to incidental adoption of the values transmitted from their learning environment; 2) noticing these moments of enculturation as something to be reflected on; 3) reflecting on experiences in a safe, guided, and group setting; and finally 4) choosing strategies for the future that best reflect each student's own internal values. Based on this model, the MDUP implemented a reflection-based course for medical students transitioning to clerkship with three goals: 1) to sensitize learners to the hidden curriculum; 2) to provide a safe and confidential forum to discuss their experiences; and 3) to co-construct strategies to deal with the pressures in the clinical environment.8 Students found the group setting helpful and commented on the importance of sharing their experiences and gaining feedback from others.

Informed by previous research,^{68,9} the MDUP, as part of curriculum renewal¹⁰, instituted the Portfolio program¹¹ in all four years of the program at all four sites. Modeled after the UBC study on the hidden curriculum, this program creates a safe and confidential forum whereby groups of eight medical students meet regularly with a Portfolio Coach to explore socialization and the hidden curriculum, grounded in clinical experiences. In Years 1 and 2, the sessions are more structured. However, in Year 3, as students' clinical experiences dramatically increase, the sessions become more flexible to allow students space to discuss and process these experiences.

Managing the effects of the hidden curriculum

The Portfolio Program was designed to be a safe space for conversations about ambiguity, uncertainty, death and dying, communication, professionalism, ethical dilemmas, teamwork, professional identity, moral distress, and other issues encountered in the hidden curriculum. After completing our study, students shared with me the following helpful tips, illustrating each step in the MDUP's approach to the hidden curriculum. These tips can be springboards for discussion in the portfolio groups at UBC.

1. Recognize that you are human, and the human condition is that we are hardwired to mimic:

"I was amazed with how much my preceptors' attitudes towards a patients' illness (e.g., frustration with addiction or recurrent abdominal pain presenting to the ED) affected my personal attitude and how difficult those attitudes/prejudices were to correct once established."

¹Associate Dean, Undergraduate Medical Education Program, Clinical Associate Professor, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia

2. Find ways to notice the hidden curriculum and how it is affecting you:

"I recognize that it is incredibly challenging to recognize and address these nuances in our day to day but I have found that they are both consciously and unconsciously noted by learners and carried forward. Preceptors can make an incredible difference in a learner's attitude towards a specialty, profession, disease, social class, and colleague simply by recognizing their nonverbal cues, inflection, etc. and addressing them in a conversation with the learner. This is especially true in early clerkship where a student's professional identity is far from established."

This may actually be the hardest step; noticing when you are experiencing the hidden curriculum. Some students solved this for themselves by taking their own emotional temperature:

"A significant tool that the hidden curriculum course provided me with was the capacity to notice when patients were being treated a way I didn't agree with or when an environment was unnecessarily unpleasant. Once I notice these things, I try to set internal 'alarms.' These 'alarms' serve as personal reminders that I hope to use as tools to recognize signs of burnout or prejudice within myself and correct it early."

3. You can unhide the hidden curriculum by discussing what you are going through with your colleagues and in your portfolio groups:

"Discussing the hidden curriculum with classmates and physicians in a small group empowered me to identify discourse between how preceptors treated patients or how they perceived patients and how I want to practice. As a new clerk, I had no framework within which to place patient—physician interactions and insufficient confidence to questions my preceptors' attitudes, however, discussing the hidden curriculum caused me to realize early in my clinical education that our preceptors are not always right. In other words, I realized things don't have to be certain way. I have the power to recognize issues and ensure that they are not carried forward into my own practice."

4. Even the best preceptors have bad days and you have the power to choose the behaviours that reinforce your best professional identity:

'I have the power to recognize issues and ensure that they are not carried forward into my own practice. Specifically, the patient with borderline personality disorder doesn't have to be seen as a nuisance, and the patient suffering from addiction doesn't have to be viewed as a waste of resources. I do not need to carry the prejudices and perceptions of my preceptors." In summary, UBC medical students have an opportunity to use portfolio group time as a safe space to co-construct strategies to deal with the powerful forces of enculturation that go against their internal ideals of being a physician. In naming the hidden curriculum and noticing how it affects them personally, students can harness these positive and negative experiences to better prepare themselves to respond in ways that reinforce their best professional identity.

The hidden curriculum is a collective responsibility

In conclusion, the most powerful antidote to the more negative aspects of the hidden curriculum is to empower students through guided group reflective experiences so they can choose to act differently, hopefully changing the culture of medicine. As Graber¹² writes, "we look with great hope at the possibility that the next generation of clinicians will 'get it." As clinicians and medical students, the risk of ignoring our role in the hidden curriculum is that we perpetuate its harmful effects on our and others' professional identity formation. Thus, it is our collective responsibility to monitor and address our own resiliency and how we contribute to medicine's hidden curriculum.

- Hafler JP, Ownby AR, Thompson BM, Fasser CE, Grigsby K, Haidet P, et al. Decoding the learning environment of medical education: a hidden curriculum perspective for faculty development. *Acad Med.* 2011;86(4):440-4.
- Gofton W, Regehr G. What we don't know we are teaching: unveiling the hidden curriculum. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2006;449:20-7.
- Cruess RL, Cruess SR. Expectations and obligations: professionalism and medicine's social contract with society. *Perspect Biol Med.* 2008;51(4):579-98.
- Martimianakis MA, Michalec B, Lam J, Cartmill C, Taylor JS, Hafferty FW. Humanism, the hidden curriculum, and educational reform: a scoping review and thematic analysis. *Acad Med.* 2015;90(11 Suppl):S5-S13.
- Feudtner C, Christakis DA, Christakis NA. Do clinical clerks suffer ethical erosion? Students' perceptions of their ethical environment and personal development. *Acad Med.* 1994;69(8):670-9.
- Holmes CL, Harris IB, Schwartz AJ, Regehr G. Harnessing the hidden curriculum: a four–step approach to developing and reinforcing reflective competencies in medical clinical clerkship. *Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract.* 2015;20(5):1355-70.
- Mann K, Gordon J, MacLeod A. Reflection and reflective practice in health professions education: a systematic review. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract. 2009;14(4):595-621.
- Holmes CL, Hubinette MM, Maclure M, Miller H, Ting Ď, Costello Ġ, et al. Reflecting on what? The difficulty of noticing formative experiences in the moment. *Perspet Med Educ.* 2018 Dec;7(6):379-85.
- Holmes CL, Miller H, Regehr G. (Almost) forgetting to care: an unanticipated source of empathy loss in clerkship. *Med Educ*. 2017;51(7):732-9.
- Bates J, Towle A. Dean's task force on MD undergraduate curriculum renewal. Vancouver: Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia; 2010 [cited 2018 Oct 9]. Available from: https://mednet.med.ubc.ca/AboutUs/StrategicPlanning/ InitiativesAndProjects/Documents/Dean's%20Task%20Force%200n%20MD%20 Undergraduate%20Curriculum%20Renewal_Final%20Report_2010.pdf

Student as Teachers

Clarissa Wallace¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (6-7)

Abstract

The wave of democratization in teaching of the past 30 years is now sweeping medical education. Residents routinely develop teaching skills in Residents as Teachers Programs across Canada, but medical students are increasingly called to teach as well. Just as each student must filter a wealth of positive and negative clinical experiences to develop good behaviour as a physician, so they would do well to view teaching through a lens of awareness and selectivity to make conscious choices of right teaching practices.

Students as teachers

In the teaching philosophy of Freire, "whoever teaches learns in the act of teaching, and whoever learns teaches in the act of learning."¹ The reciprocation of teaching and learning among students and teachers, or students and patients, has been an integral part of the medical profession throughout history. The etymology of the word doctor from the Latin verb docere "to teach" is a reminder that the act of teaching, both of patients and of apprentices, is a defining quality of the physician's role.²

Students now routinely assume the role of peer and near-peer teacher. Case-based learning and other forms of collaborative learning have become the norm rather than the exception in Canadian medical schools. Beyond this small group approach, there is growing literature on students as teachers in a broader context showing many benefits of student-led learning.

"Teaching others those things, that one has learnt not long before, consolidates one's knowledge and prepares for future cognitive development...the near-peer teacher has excellent recall of how to make that 'aha' happen, how it recently happened for them."³

In addition to the advantage of this "cognitive congruence", peer teaching affords a safer and more relaxed learning environment, while fostering self-esteem and intrinsic motivation for future teaching.⁴

Furthermore, "evidence suggests that if teachers support students' autonomy, competence, and relatedness, they will thrive in educational settings, they will take responsibility for their learning and also act in a more autonomy–supportive way in their interactions with patients."⁵

Learning occurs by doing. For many residents and established physicians in clinical practice, development of a teaching practice has happened at a minimally conscious level, lacking significant or at least deliberate reflection. Early exposure to basic principles of teaching, through interaction with teaching mentors, fosters a more purposeful and stronger teaching ethic; a right way to approach teaching from both pedagogical and philosophical perspectives.

"It is essential that, in preparing to teach, the prospective teacher must realize that a correct way of thinking is not a gift from heaven, nor is it to be found in teachers' guide books. On the contrary, a correct way of thinking that goes beyond the ingenuous must be produced by the learners in communion with the teacher responsible for their education."⁶ The teacher acts as a catalyst in the transformation.

The most important role for the teacher then, is not as a source of knowledge and skill, but as a developmental guide to the student and student–teacher. But what is this "correct thinking" toward which we should be guided? The good teacher is expected to possess the attributes of an ethical and good person, but there are additional features of right thinking which seem vital to a good teacher and doctor.

Right thinking for teaching

1. Humility. "The average teacher explains complexity; the gifted

Correspondence to Clarissa Wallace (clarissa.wallace@ubc.ca) teacher reveals simplicity," according to online aphorist Robert Brault.⁷ A teacher who believes in learning makes his subject more accessible to share the beauty and joy of concepts, not less accessible as a covert method of self–aggrandizement.

The practice of humility should come easily to the beginner but is often eroded by the growth of expertise. No matter how much one knows, there will always be far more unknown, not to mention that at least some of what one firmly believes will ultimately prove to be false. Socrates, though now infamous for his association with excessive questioning, taught that life is about learning, and that we learn through speaking in dialogue with others.⁸

2. Openness to contradiction and correction, except in matters of universally accepted ethical principles. It follows that we must be open to opposition and even to outright negation of something that we believe to be true, whether it be in the realm of knowledge or of ideology. To teach, we must listen.

With respect to knowledge and skill, school and the heavy responsibilities of early practice often instil a desperate need to never be or do wrong. Each of us must break this "perfection trap" at some point. Our best safeguard against doing harm through error is to attend to, rather than ignore, both the inner voice of uncertainty, and the voices of others raised in constructive contradiction. Though uncomfortable, these moments of correction are times of intense learning for doctors and teachers.

In matters of ideology, a good teacher will be vigorous in defense of the rights of all individuals as enshrined in the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights. These rights are frequently violated, and yet their intrinsic value is not a matter of personal opinion or belief but of established global principle.

But beyond these "inalienable rights," each of us must recognize and acknowledge our biases in order to avoid moving from education to a practice of indoctrination. Information delivery is a simple presentation of fact. Education presents facts in a biasing context by adding opinion or ethical perspective as guidance. However, there is danger in further extrapolation of this continuum to the abuse of education as indoctrination. "Indoctrination is the act of presenting only a biasing context or an explicit political position to the public."⁹

Teachers and students must recognize and reject indoctrination and miseducation presented in the guise of learning. Those who imply that, "if you are not with us, you are against us" are tyrants, not teachers. To welcome contrary views is vital to teaching and learning.

3. Curiosity. Curiosity is the attitude that saves us from arrogance at the personal level and dogmatism at the societal level. Preserving a desire to see or learn what is strange, unknown, and foreign is a requirement for civil society, as well as for service to individual patients, many of whom have conditions which cannot and should not be easily categorized and dispatched.

A teacher without curiosity lacks creativity. It is often through new and imaginative connections across disciplines that truly innovative ideas are born. The potential for these new insights keeps us open to learning from all others and in all fields, always ready for the jolt of

¹Assistant Dean, Undergraduate Medical Education Program, Faculty of Medicine, Clinical Associate Professor, Department of Medicine, Division of Endocrinology, University of British Columbia

surprise and joy of concept(ion).

4. Authenticity. We teach so much more than the knowledge we intend to impart. "To teach right thinking is not something that is simply spoken of or an experience that is merely described…but something that is done and lived while it is being spoken of, as if the doing and living of it constituted a kind of irrefutable witness of its truth."¹⁰

If we as teachers "talk the talk" but don't "walk the walk," we are teaching hypocrisy. To be authentic, we must first be self-aware and then be willing to reflect on our teaching practice as a demonstration of who we are and what we believe.

5. Connection and compassion. Consider the "platinum rule" of teaching from Dr. Janet Riddle: "treat your students as you would like them to treat your patients."¹¹ Could we not also say, that we should treat both students and patients as we ourselves would like to be treated as patients? As educators, our behaviours help to weave the fabric of the future. Let us not be the doctors and educators who "might treat [the] society under study as though [they] are not participants in it."¹²

Ironically, clinical work may encourage us to distance ourselves from our patients, not to be "over-involved" or "let it get to you." For many, the most profound learnings of medicine are at the emotional level, rarely described or explained, and often unacknowledged. On this level, there is no student-teacher, or doctor-patient dichotomy, only our common humanity.

6. Unconditional positive regard. As teachers, our duty is to make clear to each student and each patient that they need not "earn" our positive regard. Small marks of natural respect reassure patients and students of their intrinsic value and their "right to be here."

7. Willingness for transformation. In the dialogue of teaching and learning, both the student and the teacher are changed, not just in the

revision of their opinions but in themselves as people.

To practice both teaching and medicine, each of us must prove worthy of the trust of our students and patients. In accepting this trust as a profound gift, we become obligated to manifest our best possible selves, and therein lies personal growth.

Conclusion

Students, student-teachers, professors, doctors, and doctors of the future let us work toward further democratization of medical teaching. Let us strive for "right thinking" as an expression of our love for both medicine and teaching as acts of shared discovery, compassion, and freedom.

- Friere P. Pedagogy of freedom: ethics, democracy, and civic courage. Rowman & Littlefield; 1998. p 31.
 Erlich DR, Shaughnessy AF. Student-teacher education programme (STEP) by step: transforming medical students into competent, confident teachers. *Med Teach*. 2014 Apr; 36(4): 322-32.
- students into competent, confident teachers. *Mal Tead*, 2014 Apr, 36(4): 322-32.
 Ten Cate Q, Durning S. Peer teaching in medical education: twelve reasons to move from theory to practice. *Mal Teach*, 2007 Sep, 29(6): 591-9.
- Kusurkar RA, Croiset G, Ten Cate O. Twelve tips to stimulate intrinsic motivation in students through autonomy-supportive classroom teaching derived from self-determination theory. *Med Teach*. 2011; 33(12): 978-82.
- Orsini C, Evans P, Jerez O. How to encourage intrinsic motivation in the clinical teaching environment?: a systematic review from the self-determination theory. J Educ Eval Health Prof. 2015, 12: 8. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.3352/jeehp.2015.12.8.
- Friere P. Pedagogy of freedom: ethics, democracy, and civic courage. Rowman & Littlefield; 1998. p 43.
 Robert Breault AZQuotes.com; (n.d.) [cited 2019 Jan 3]. Available from: https://www.azquotes.com/ quote/355093
- Oh RC, Reamy BV. The Socratic method and pimping: optimizing the use of stress and fear in instruction. Virtual Mentor, 2014 March; 16(3): 182-186.
- Sethi MB. Information, education, and indoctrination: the federation of American scientists and public communication strategies in the atomic age. Historical Studies in the Natural Sciences. 2012; 42(1): 1-29.
- Friere P. Pedagogy of freedom: ethics, democracy, and evice courage. Rowman & Littlefield; 1998, p 42.
 Riddle, J.An Introduction to Medical Teaching, William B. Jeffries and Kathryn N. Huggett Editors; Ch. 6, Teaching Clinical Skills. Springer, 2010. pp 68
- 12. Friere P. The politics of education: culture, power, and liberation. Bergin and Garvey; 1985. p 103.



How Can Medical Education Train Socially Responsible Physicians?

Gurdeep Parhar^{1,2} Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (8-9)

In 2010, a Working Group on Social Responsibility and Accountability was formed to inform the UBC MD undergraduate program's curriculum renewal. Based on "The Future of Healthcare in Canada' report¹ and the 'Stakeholder Input' report² this working group identified eleven key themes that would direct the creation of a medical curriculum to develop socially responsible physicians (Figure 1).



Figure 1 | Social Responsibility and Accountability Framework

As represented in Figure 1, Social Responsibility, protected by a circle around it, symbolizes the sacredness of this core value to the medical profession. Spreading out, and supported by the notion of social responsibility, are eleven themes that were identified to be the focus of the MD Undergraduate Curriculum. The outside circle of Social Accountability represents the interface with all external stakeholders. For example, Social Accountability acknowledges how a faculty of medicine displays and demonstrates that its medical curriculum is meeting its social responsibility mandate while incorporating stakeholder feedback.

Social Responsibility Themes

Health Disparity

The Institute of Medicine's 'Unequal Treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care' (2003) noted that racial and ethnic minorities received lower quality of health care even after controlling for access issues.³ This report recommended that cross–cultural curricula needed to be integrated early into health professional training.

The framework proposes that medical students be provided frequent opportunities to gain an understanding of health disparities through didactic lectures which outline the basic foundations, small group learning sessions which encourage discussion, and clinical experiences which invite student engagement with diverse communities. In addition to an increased awareness and sensitivity to social determinants of health, medical students need to understand their own capacity and responsibility to impact these health disparities during their training and subsequently in independent clinical practice.

Diversity

It has been well recognized that the delivery of quality healthcare to diverse patient populations is suboptimal.^{4,5} One strategy to address this has been to increase the diversity of the physician population to meet the needs of diverse communities.⁶

While gender, ethnic minority, and students from non-traditional academic backgrounds have improved overall medical student diversity,^{7,8,9} there remains an underrepresentation of students from lower income families¹⁰ and from Aboriginal communities in Canadian medical schools.

Also absent is a representation of female role models in academic leadership positions. Similarly, there remains a lack of ethnic diversity in faculty and leadership.¹¹ It is proposed that initiatives to connect medical students with diverse leadership and to enhance the mentorship of students belonging to underrepresented groups will lead to more inclusive health and education organizations.

Changing Demographics

The Census of 2016¹² indicates that there are more seniors living in Canada than there are children. Also indicated is an increase in ethnic diversity through the growing immigrant population in Canada.¹³ Both of these shifts in demographics will significantly affect the practice of future physicians. It is proposed that to better train medical students in healthy aging, chronic disease management, global health, and cultural safety, these content areas should be emphasized in didactic sessions and in problem/case–based learning. These topics can also be integrated in clinical experiences that are strategically organized for students to experience practicing with society's changing demographics.

Aboriginal Peoples' Health

For future physicians to address the significant health disparities amongst First Nations, Inuit, and Métis peoples¹⁴ in Canada, the medical curriculum needs to include the history of colonization, residential schooling, and intergenerational trauma as well as the social determinants of health including housing, employment, income, environment, and education. It is anticipated that educational priorities as identified by Indigenous communities, with an educational curriculum developed by Indigenous scholars, will be implemented throughout medical training in a safe and effective manner.

Rural and Remote Health Care

It is recognized that recruiting and retaining sufficient physicians in rural and remote areas of Canada is a significant healthcare challenge,¹⁵ that has been further aggravated by an urban–centric educational paradigm in both the recruitment and training of physicians.¹⁶

It is proposed that early exposure to rural clinical practice and then repeated exposure later in training leads to a better understanding of the opportunities and realities of rural practice. Medical students should also have interactions with rural medicine role models.

Global Health

Improving medical students' global health education will strengthen

¹Executive Associate Dean, Clinical Partnerships and Professionalism, University of British Columbia ²Clinical Professor, Department of Family Practice, University of British Columbia

students' abilities in communication, collaboration, and advocacy. While reminding the medical students of their obligations of global citizenship, medical education should improve the medical students' knowledge and skills that will enhance their clinical practice both locally and internationally. While considerable resource and logistical challenges exist, students need increased learning opportunities for clinical rotations in developing countries and for increased engagement with recent immigrant and refugee patient communities in well resourced countries.

Generalist and Specialist Training

While it is well understood that family physicians improve health outcomes¹⁷ there remain forces that discourage students from choosing family medicine as a career.^{18,19} It is proposed that medical students be provided ongoing valuable rural practice clinical experiences. It is also critical to recognize that physicians with highly specialized skills are crucial to ensuring positive health outcomes.20 Medical students need exposure to both generalist and specialist high quality practices early in their training so that they can make informed career choices. This is best achieved through a combination of rich mandatory clinical rotations and a wide offering of electives in both generalist and specialist practices.

Collaborative Care

There is considerable research evidence that ideal collaboration provides better health outcomes, while dysfunctional health care teams lead to negative outcomes.^{21,22} To train socially responsible physicians, medical students need to spend time in interprofessional education (IPE), which has been defined as "occasions when members or students of two or more professions learn with, from, and about each other to improve collaboration and the quality of care and services."23 Curriculum topics such as professionalism, ethics, resiliency, patient safety, and conflict resolution are appropriate for small group learning sessions with students from a variety of health education programs. During the clinical years, medical students would benefit from interacting with the entire health professional team to provide patient care.

Research and Scholarship

Medical students should be given opportunities to participate in socially responsible research to create and translate health knowledge to address society's most complex and significant health concerns. This should include opportunities for ethical community driven participatory research. Rather than doing this on their own extracurricular time, medical students need protected time to engage in scholarly research for which they will be granted academic credit.

Health Promotion and Disease Prevention

Socially responsible physicians recognize that health improvement and disease prevention is not only more cost effective than the treatment of disease, but is also consistent with the notion that disease occurrence should be avoided whenever possible. Medical education needs to include sessions on healthy lifestyles, screening for diseases, as well as the role of physicians during large-scale emergencies and epidemics.

Patient-Centred Care

For medical students to become socially responsible, the curriculum needs to emphasize high levels of competency in communication, empathy, and cultural safety so that truly patient-centred care can be practiced.

Medical students should also be provided opportunities for worklife balance, mindful practice, and self-reflection. The importance of the therapeutic alliance and relationship-based care need to be highlighted throughout the medical curriculum. There needs to be protected time to learn and practice resiliency strategies.

Conclusion

The framework proposes that a socially responsible physician, while performing each of the CanMEDS competency framework²⁴ roles of Medical Expert, Communicator, Collaborator, Leader, Health Advocate, Scholar, and Professional, must understand that meeting society's needs is not secondary to being a competent physician.

It is the role of medical education to both assist medical students to achieve CanMEDS competencies, and to nurture their development into socially responsible physicians.

- 2.
- 4.
- 5.
- 6.
- 7.
- Jamieson J. Future of health care in Canada. University of British Columbia. 2010. Hopkins, R, Bates, J, & Towle, A. Stakeholder Input. University of British Columbia. 2010. Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR, editors. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparties in Health Care. Washington. National Academics Press (US); 2003 Andruils DP, Brach C. Integrating literacy, culture, and language to improve health care quality for diverse populations. *Am J Health Behav.* 2007; 31(1):s122–s133. Horvat L, Horey D, Romios P, Kis-Rigo J. (2011). Cultural competence education for health professionals. *Colmune Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2011:10. Whitla DK, Orfield G, Silen W, Teperow C, Howard C, Reede J. Educational benefits of diversity in medical school: A survey of students. *Anad Med*. 2003;78:460 466. Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada. (2016). Canadian medical education statistics. 2016. [cited 2017 Nov 6]; Available from: https://afmc.ca/publications/canadian-medical-education-statistics-emes.
- Association of American Medical Colleges. Total enrollment by U.S. medical school and sex, 2012-2013 through 2016-2017. [cited 2017 Nov 6]; Available from: https://www.aamc.org/data/facts/ 8. enrollmentgraduate/
- Association of American Medical Colleges. Total enrollment by U.S. medical school and race/ethnicity 2016-2017. [cited 2017 Nov 6] from: https://www.aamc.org/data/facts/enrollmentgraduate/ 9.
- Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada. The future of medical education in Canada: A collective vision for MD education 2010-2015. [cited 2017 Nov 6]; Available from: https://afmc.ca/medical-education/future-medical-education-canada-fmec 10.
- Lois MN. The 21st century faculty member in the educational process—what should be on the Horizon? *Acad Med.* 2010 Sep;85(9): s45 s55. 11.
- 12. Statistics Canada. Census of Population. Ottawa: Government of Canada, Minister of Industry; 2016.
- 13. Statistics Canada. Canadian Demographics at a Glance. Ottawa: Government of Canada, Minister
- Statistics Canada. Canadian Demographics at a Grance. Ottawa. Government of Canada, infinited of Industry 2008. Adelson N. The embodiment of inequity: Health disparities in Aboriginal Canada. *Can J Public Health.* 2005 March/April; Suppl 2:45 61 Institute of Medicine. Quality through collaboration: The future of rural health. Washington, DC: The National Academics Press; 2005. Herbert R. Canada's health care challenge: recognizing and addressing the health needs of rural Construct. Labbridge Understand Recognizing and addressing the health needs of rural 14. 15.
- 16.
- 17.
- 18
- 19. 20.
- 21.
- Herbert R. Canada's health care challenge: recognizing and addressing the health needs of rural Canadians. Lethbridge Undergraduate Research Journal. 2007;2(1). Available from: http://www. luri.org/article.php/vol2n1/canada.xm Yves T, Fuller-Thomson E, Tudiver F, Habib Y, McIsaac W. Canadians without regular medical doctors: who are they? *Can Firm Physician*. 2001;47:58 64. Mahood SC. Medical education. *Can Firm Physician*. 2011;57(9): 983 985. Rohan-Minjares F, Alfero C, Kaufman A. How medical schools can encourage students' interest in family medicine. *Acad Med*. 2015;90(5):553 555. Diaz-Rubio M. (2001). The importance and the future of specialist units within medical departments. *Drugg Todys*. 2001;37:3 6. Baker GR, Norton PG, Flintoft V, Blais R, Brown A, Cox J, O'beirne M. The Canadian adverse events study: the incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. *CMAJI*. 2004;170(11):1678 1686. 22.
- World Health Organization. Framework for action on interprofessional education and collaborative practice. 2010. About CAIPE. CAIPE: Centre for the Advancement of Interprofessional Education [Internet]. 23.
- [cited 2017 Dec 4] Available from: http://www.caipe.org.uk/about-us/. Frank JR, Snell L, Sherbino J, editors. CanMEDS 2015 Physician Competency Framework. Ottawa: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2015. 24

The Future of Competency-Based Learning and Workplace-Based Assessment in Medical and Health Education

Roger Y. Wong^{1,2} Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (10-12)

edical and health education is constantly evolving to meet Michanging societal needs. This is a process that takes time, dedicated energy, and appropriate resources. In Canada, the Future of Medical Education in Canada (FMEC-MD) report recommends transformative changes in undergraduate medical education, beginning with a competency-based approach, and addressing the key areas of leadership, community needs, admissions process, scientific basis, prevention and public health, hidden curriculum, learning context, generalism, and inter/intra-professional practice.1 Along the continuum of health education, the Future of Medical Education in Canada Postgraduate Project (FMEC-PG) report on residency education makes similar recommendations.² Specifically, the renewal of postgraduate curricular structures and assessment methodologies are well under way for family medicine residency training (Triple C competency-based curriculum) and specialties residency training (Competence By Design).^{3,4} The implementation of the latter follows a phased approach across the 17 medical schools in Canada, beginning with two specialties in 2017, six in 2018, and ramping up to twelve in 2019.5 More specialties will be implemented in years to come, and complete implementation is anticipated to span across a decade. The transformation to competency-based learning provides a unique opportunity to seamlessly align undergraduate and postgraduate medical education, which in turn empowers students to progress and transition successfully into the various phases of their career trajectories. Similarly, the Future of Medical Education in Canada Continuing Professional Development Project (FMEC-CPD) report also recommends a competency-based approach for post-training, lifelong learning.⁶ The status quo of time-based learning has therefore begun to shift to competency-based learning, representing a muchneeded paradigm shift. The overall goal of these transformative changes is to achieve the newly expanded "quadruple aim" in health care: enhancing individual patient experience, improving population health, reducing costs, and, the most recent addition, improving the work life of health professionals.6

Competency–based learning has also been adopted in health professional education, and the terminology used to describe the competencies is consistent with that used in medical education. The Essential Competency Profile (ECP) in physiotherapy elicits exit competencies upon the completion of training of physiotherapists and physiotherapist assistants in Canada.⁷ The essential competencies of practice for occupational therapists in Canada have been developed by the Association of Canadian Occupational Therapy Regulatory Organizations.⁸ The Canadian Association of Genetic Counsellors has developed core competencies for training that include knowledge– based competencies and practice–based competencies.⁹ The National Audiology Competency Profile lists the competencies required

for training in audiology and speech-language pathology using the same framework as in medical residency education.¹⁰ The Canadian Midwifery Regulators Council has published general and specific core competencies for midwifery education in Canada.¹¹ In nursing education, a competency-based conceptual framework has been well-defined and adopted for some time, including competencies covering the domains of professional responsibility and accountability, knowledge-based practice, ethical practice, service to the public, and self-regulation.¹² Dental education is premised on a list of 47 essential competencies upon completion of training, which are defined by the National Dental Examining Board of Canada.13 Finally, the key and enabling competencies for pharmacist training in Canada are well-defined by the National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities.14 The competency-based approach in the training of medical and health professionals offers a unique opportunity for alignment and collaboration in interprofessional education, especially in a realistic workplace environment and early in training.

This article highlights how competency-based learning (which is a form of outcome-based learning) and workplace-based assessment (WBA) can strategically transform medical and health education.

Competency and outcome-based learning

Competency–based learning is an approach to preparing learners for practice that is fundamentally oriented to graduate outcome abilities and organized around competencies derived from an analysis of societal needs.¹⁵ It de–emphasizes pure time–based training; that is, the training duration may be lengthened or shortened, at least theoretically. It promises greater accountability, flexibility, and learner–centeredness. In medical and health education, competencies and outcomes are usually defined by external accreditation organizations and/or professional regulatory bodies.

To be successful, the implementation of competency and outcome-based learning should occur in a systematic fashion. Multiple steps are involved, including the development of guiding educational statements (vision, mission, and goals), exit outcomes (with corresponding key competencies and enabling competencies), milestones for the various learner levels, appropriate assessment tools, curriculum design, curriculum goals and unit objectives, educational activities and the related activity-specific objectives, and a curriculum evaluation strategy for continuous quality improvement. It is important to tailor the above steps to the local learning environment and context. Each step must be carefully coordinated, as failure to do so may compromise the success of competency-based learning.

Below is an example that illustrates how the abovementioned steps can be strategically implemented. Since 2015, the University of British Columbia (UBC)'s undergraduate medical education curriculum has implemented a robust renewal process to its underlying pedagogical principles. The renewed curriculum at UBC is grounded upon social responsibility and accountability, a competency–based curriculum, robust student assessment, flexibility, scholarship, integration of

¹Executive Associate Dean, Education, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada ²Clinical Professor, Department of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada

learning, continuity of learning, and adaptability to an evolving health care system. The graduate outcomes are set a priori, and the exit competencies are constructed to match the national requirements of the external qualifying examination. Competencies are grouped into year-specific milestones. The curriculum design was also changed from the traditional block system to the spiral system, whereby topics are split up and spread out longitudinally. The spiral system encourages both horizontal and vertical integration between topics and more closely approximates real-life thinking and encounters. For example, the teaching of biomedical ethics follows its own theme spiral. There are multiple learning activities in the first two years of the curriculum, including content in the Case Based Learning (CBL) cases, lectures, online modules, and interprofessional workshops. These learning activities are mapped to the biomedical ethics exit competencies. Additional content on ethics is also added to the final two years of the curriculum and delivered mainly in the workplace setting, to complete the spiral theme. This content is also captured in the curriculum map. Like any curriculum design, the spiral system can present challenges, such as the need for learners to jump between topics when studying. The renewed curriculum is subject to continuous improvement based on feedback from students and faculty members.

A number of enablers can help to ensure successful implementation of competency–based learning. One prerequisite is a user–friendly, real–time curriculum mapping tool. This is not a new concept, although its adaptation to a complex curriculum such as that seen in medical and health education requires a thoughtful and programmatic approach.¹⁶ The curriculum map links granular session level objectives to the broad exit competencies. At UBC, content experts ensure that each objective, at every level, is linked to at least one objective from the levels above and below. This process identifies how the yearly milestones (or exit competencies) are achieved and related to the session level objectives.

Another important enabler of successful competency-based learning is adequate teacher support through proactive faculty development. This is especially important for province-wide distributed medical education programs, such as in British Columbia, where many teachers are clinicians and practitioners located in a vast number of geographical locations. Helpful tips for teaching in the classroom and workplace settings have recently been published by my team.¹⁷ Examples of best practices in distributed classroom teaching include: promoting teacher-learner connectivity, optimizing the longdistance working relationship, using the reality television show model to maximize retention and captivate learners, including less teaching content if possible, telling learners what you are teaching and making it relevant, and turning on the technology tap to fill the knowledge gap. Some of the best practices in distributed teaching in a clinical workplace setting include: asking "what if" questions to maximize clinical teaching opportunities, trying the five-minute short snapper, multitasking to allow direct observation, creating dedicated time for feedback, reassuring learners that there really are no stupid questions, and working with a heterogeneous group of learners.

As we move into the future, many questions on competency– based learning remain to be answered. These concern the impact of competency–based learning on patient and population health outcomes, the cost–effectiveness of competency–based learning, and ways to empower learners to achieve excellence beyond the competency benchmarks. An education–scholarship approach in answering these questions would be helpful.

Workplace-based assessment

The traditional assessment methodology in medical and health education has limited workplace assessment, in terms of both scope and frequency. One of the implications of implementing competency and outcome-based learning is the need for a renewed student and learner assessment system, which would deploy multifaceted assessment modalities that are both continuous and frequent. Direct observation with regular feedback in a formative manner should be a critical feature, and authentic workplace-based assessment (WBA) can be used for summative decision making.

There is increasing evidence that supports a programmatic assessment approach in competency–based learning; this approach is based on the theoretical construct that any single assessment data point can be flawed, while a collection of multiple assessment points can strengthen the overall assessment decision.^{18,19} In general, the higher the stakes, the more assessment points are needed. Expert group judgment should be part of the process for making any high–stakes decision. In fact, the validity of any non–standardized assessment rests more with the user than with the assessment instrument *per se*.

At UBC, the undergraduate medical curriculum has adopted the programmatic assessment approach, which is comprised of five assessment modalities: progress tests, course written examinations, portfolio, objective structured clinical examinations, and WBAs. The details are well–articulated in a faculty development online modular course.²⁰

Of note, WBAs charts a learner's progression towards competence in tasks within clinical placements over time. To obtain a passing grade at the end of the year, students need to demonstrate that they have achieved the educational milestones related to the learning outcomes commensurate to the level of training, which are in turn predetermined by the program. There are two streams of information– gathering to inform WBAs: direct observations at the workplace and contributory data (which reflect the students' applied knowledge, skills, and attitudes, from multiple sources). Support for the students who demonstrate academic difficulty and opportunity for remediation are provided throughout the year.

Some of the early lessons learned from the rollout of WBAs include the need for continuous improvement of the system, active student engagement and feedback, and ongoing communication with the key stakeholders, including frontline teachers, administrative staff, and educational leaders. Change–management plays a critical role here.

As with implementing competency-based learning, further studies are warranted to examine the impact of WBAs on the student experience, resource requirement, and staff workload. It would also be interesting to explore how WBAs can continue upon completion of training, such as for the purpose of continuing professional development.

Implications

This article highlights the future of competency-based learning and workplace-based assessments in transforming medical and health education. These approaches provide consistency across the learning continuum, from the undergraduate to postgraduate and to professional development levels. The approaches also allow valid and reliable measurements to be made for quality improvement purposes. A number of competencies are common and can be shared among all health professions, providing new opportunities for alignment and collaboration in interprofessional education.

There is an increasing interest to adopt competency-based learning and WBAs in other university degree-granting programs. Lessons learned from medical and health education can be tremendously informative and helpful. The future is here and now.

Acknowledgement

I would like to acknowledge the contributions of the various UBC Faculty of Medicine education teams to the curriculum renewal process of the MD Undergraduate Program.

References

- The Future of Medical Education in Canada (FMEC). A collective vision for MD education. Ottawa, Canada: The Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada; 2010. Available from: https://afmc.ca/pdf/fmec/2010-FMEC-MD.pdf
- The Future of Medical Education in Canada Postgraduate Project (FMEC-PG). A collective vision for postgraduate medical education in Canada. Ottawa, Canada: The Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada; 2012. Available from: https://afmc. ca/future-of-medical-education-in-canada/postgraduate-project/pdf/FMEC_PG_ Final-Report_EN.pdf
- Triple C Competency Based Curriculum. Mississauga, Canada: The College of Family physicians of Canada; 2011. Available from: https://www.cfpc.ca/Triple_C/
- Competence By Design. Ottawa, Canada: The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2017. Available from: http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/cbd/ competence-by-design-cbd-e
- Competence By Design Implementation. Ottawa, Canada: The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2017. Available from: http://www.royalcollege. ca/rcsite/cbd/cbd-implementation-e
- The Future of Medical Education in Canada Continuing Professional Development Project (FMEC-CPD). Continuing professional development for physicians in Canada: a new way forward. Ottawa, Canada: The FMEC CPD Steering Committee; 2018. Available from: http://www.fmec-cpd.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/ FMEC_CPD_Synthesized_EN.pdf
- Canadian Physiotherapy Association. Essential Competency Profile. Ottawa, Canada: The Canadian Physiotherapy Association; 2017. Available from: https:// physiotherapy.ca/essential-competency-profile
- College of Occupational Therapists of British Columbia. Essential Competencies. Ottawa, Canada: The Association of Canadian Occupational Therapy Regulatory Organizations; 2011. Available from: https://cotbc.org/library/cotbc-standards/ essential-competencies/
- Canadian Association of Geriatric Counsellors Core Competencies. Oakville, Canada: The Canadian Association of Geriatric Counsellors; 2012. Available from: https://

www.cagc-accg.ca/?page=121

- The Canadian Alliance of Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology Regulators. National Audiology Competency Profile. Canada: The Canadian Alliance of Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology Regulators; 2018. Available from: http:// caaspr.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/National-Audiology-Competency-Profile. pdf
- Canadian Midwifery Regulators Council. Canadian Competencies for Midwives. Toronto, Canada: The Canadian Midwifery Regulators Council; 2018. Available from: http://cmrc-ccosf.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/National_Competencies_ENG.pdf
 Canadian Nurses Association. Framework for the Practice of Registered Nurses in
- Canadian Nurses Association. Framework for the Practice of Registered Nurses in Canada. Ottawa, Canada: The Canadian Nurses Association; 2015. Available from: https://www.cna-aiic.ca/~/media/cna/page-content/pdf-en/framework-for-thepracice-of-registered-nurses-in-canada.pdf
- pracice-of-registered-nurses-in-canada.pdf
 13. The National Dental Examining Board of Canada. Competencies for a Beginning Dental Practitioner in Canada. Ottawa, Canada: The National Dental Examining Board of Canada; 2005. Available from: https://ndeb-bned.ca/en/resources/ competencies
- National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities. Professional Competencies for Canadian Pharmacists at Entry to Practice. Ottawa, Canada: The National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities; 2014. Available from: https://napra.ca/pharmacists/professional-competencies-canadian-pharmacistsentry-practice-2014
- Frank JR, Snell L, Englander R, Holmboe ES, and on behalf of the ICBME Collaborators. Implementing competency-based medical education: moving forward. *Med Teach.* 2017 Jun;39(6):568-573.
- Wong RY, Roberts JM. Real time curriculum map for internal medicine residency. BMC Med Educ. 2007;7:42.
- Wong RY, Chen L, Dhadwal G, Fok MC, Harder K, Huynh H, et al. Twelve tips for teaching in a provincially distributed medical education program. *Med Teach*. 2012; 34:116-122.
- Van der Vleuten C, Schuwirth L, Driessen E, Dijkstra J, Tigelaar D, Baartman L, et al. A model for programmatic assessment fit for purpose. *Med Teach*. 2012; 34(3):205-214.
- Van der Vleuten C, Lindemann I, Schmidt L. Programmatic assessment: the process, rationale and evidence for modern evaluation approaches in medical education. *Med J Aust.* 2018; 209(9):386-388.
- Orientation to year 3 assessment in UBC's MD undergraduate program. Vancouver, Canada: The Office of Faculty Development and Educational Support; 2017. Available from: https://www.learningresources.med.ubc.ca/public/FacDev/ Year%203%20Assessment/Orientation%201v0%20Year%203%20Assessment%20 %20-%20Storyline%20output/story_html5.html

Identifying Gaps in Clinical Decision Making Education in Medical School

Abhiram Cherukupalli¹, Colin N. Tan¹, Geoffrey Blair^{1,2} Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (13-15)

Abstract

Clinical decision making (CDM) is a skill that is developed over the course of a medical doctor's career. It is the ability to collect pertinent information from a patient, synthesize the information to establish a diagnosis, and develop a personalized treatment plan. Various medical school curricula have attempted to integrate CDM into their curricula using surrogates such as problem/case–based learning. However, studies have shown that these pre–clinical CDM surrogates do not adequately prepare medical students for their clinical rotations. In this review we examine the various mediums through which CDM is currently integrated into medical school curricula as well as its impact on students in their clinical years. We will also discuss possible solutions to these issues and demonstrate the need for further research in this area of medical education in order to optimize pre–clinical training for future physicians.

Introduction

linical decision making (CDM) is a skill developed through experience over the entirety of one's medical career. Learning through repetitive clinical exposure, a physician can refine their skills and improve their own abilities as a healthcare practitioner. As learners in medical school, CDM is taught through the formulation of hypotheses, diagnoses, and management plans in a systematic and structured process. With time, clinicians will often transition to pattern recognition or direct automatic retrieval rather than hypotheticodeductive reasoning.¹ Where experienced physicians form rapid hypotheses and diagnostic plans based on patient presentations, novices have difficulty moving beyond collection of data to consider possible diagnoses.1 These limitations of students create an opportunity to enhance teaching of CDM in the pre-clinical years of medical school. Although many medical school curricula have created opportunities to practice CDM in pre-clerkship years, there are still limitations in a student's learning and mastery of this skill. The purpose of this review is to examine the current CDM curriculum in Canada and its ability to prepare students for clinical placements. Using this information, we will provide possible solutions and areas of improvement in the preclinical teaching of CDM, as well as areas for further investigation for curricular redevelopment.

Current Educational Patterns

One approach to teaching CDM is the use of problem–based learning (PBL) and case–based learning (CBL). PBL, and now CBL, are an effort to introduce the formation and testing of clinical hypotheses into the pre–clinical curriculum.¹ They provide students an opportunity to be presented with a "real–life" case and work through a differential diagnosis, lab tests, etc., to manage the care of a patient. These cases follow the serial–cue approach.² This method provides learners with pieces of information in a serial fashion. Therefore, this mandates students to collect data, create a differential, and constantly re–rank their suspected diagnoses with each successive piece of information provided. This process of CDM education has been implemented in the University of British Columbia MD Undergraduate Program,

Correspondence to Beth Rizzardo (beth.rizzardo@ubc.ca) as well as in most Canadian medical programs. PBL/CBL curricula are limited by student knowledge of epidemiological data of various diseases, as well as of key clinical patterns for recognition of diseases. Furthermore, the initial "anchor" of the clinical case unduly influences final opinions of students, and studies have shown the shift in probabilities following this initial clinical factor may often be insufficient to result in the determining the final diagnosis.¹ In pre– clinical learning, learners may find it difficult to account for various statistical probabilities and to synthesize these probabilities based on a series of clinical signs/symptoms. There are also other difficulties with the serial–cue format. A study conducted by Bergus et al. found that final opinions of clinical diagnoses are affected by the order of presentation.³ Information presented later in a case is given more weight than information presented earlier.³

An alternative to the serial-cue approach is the whole-case approach or clinical vignette. Schmidt and Mamede found that a whole-case approach, where more information is introduced at the start, is more effective due to the reduction in cognitive load on working memory.² Also, most examinations in medical school involve the use of clinical vignettes. By using a serial-cue approach to teaching CDM and pattern recognition, it establishes a dichotomy between what students learn in the classroom and how they are tested on major examinations. A study by Ilgen et al. found that clinicians and students encouraged to answer questions based on their first impression on standardized clinical exams performed better than those working under a "direct search" involving analytically weighing possible options and correct diagnoses.⁴ Another study found that diagnostic accuracy was significantly lower on serial-cue format for clinical problems in all levels of expertise, but particularly in students.5 There was a 72% lower accuracy compared to the whole-case format.5 This result was attributed to an inability to collect critical information in the serial-cue format. Therefore, it seems reasonable to question whether examination techniques using wholecase clinical vignettes is reflective of the goal of CDM education through PBL/CBL. An alternative could also be adjusting the methods of examination to gauge a student's CDM capabilities to then better reflect the serial-cue method of learning. If PBL/CBL is not sufficient to equip students with adequate CDM skills pre-clerkship, alterations in their structure or creation of supplementary teaching tools may foster more positive outcomes.

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada ²Division of Pediatric Surgery, BC Children's Hospital

Variation in Learners' Experiences

Students are faced with a large variety of patient presentations throughout their rotations in clerkship. The difficulty surrounds the ability to absorb all this knowledge under the guidance of their preceptor. Over the course of clerkship, students may encounter a different number of patients with potential variations in diseases. The one constant is the clinical preceptor's supervision; however, this guidance can vary between specialties as well as between geographic sites. This assumes students are placed with a single preceptor for each of their rotations. Yet, even with more than one supervisor per rotation, students may find it difficult to adjust to various teaching styles in such a short period of time, especially if the preceptors themselves are not engaged in educating the student. Wimmers et al. found that students claimed the role of clinical supervisor to be more important than the number of patients and variety of cases.⁶ Students at 12 hospitals recorded their patient encounters in logbooks, and analysis was done while accounting for site variability. It was found that neither an increased number of patient encounters nor a focus by programs on "must-see" clinical encounters in a clerkship rotation led to improved competence.⁶ Asking students to keep a tally of these cases without paying attention to the quality of supervision does not contribute towards improving student learning.6 This illustrates the importance of effective preceptors in a student's clerkship years. Many clinicians are not trained to provide effective feedback.7 They are expected to train their students to be effective clinicians, often without any framework to guide them.7 For example, clinical educators can allow students to preemptively prepare for an encounter. Asking learners to assess a patient without providing an opportunity to activate previous knowledge has limited clinical value and likely reduces knowledge gain.8 Secondly, effective preceptors should provide students with adequate time to evaluate the patient as well as an opportunity to read and reflect on the data through creation of an assessment/plan. Ultimately, faculty needs to assist clinicians in creating supportive and effective learning environments for students. Faculty development should thus focus on instructing preceptors on these aspects to enhance clinical teaching. Learners should also take an active role in their education rather than limiting their expectations to passive knowledge transfer. Kassirer suggests that clinical cognition requires the power of observation, willingness to question, and ability to learn from others.9 By exploring the rationale behind their preceptor's CDM and questioning areas of uncertainty when comparing care decisions, students will be exposed to a more diverse pool of information and knowledge to assist in improvement of their own CDM abilities.

Areas for Improvement

Medical school curricula tend to focus on developing basic CDM skills in their students. However, there are other practical skills involved in CDM that are lacking in many curricula. One such area of weakness in pre–clerkship students is effective case prioritization.¹⁰ Prioritization is a skill that is developed throughout an individual's medical training. It revolves around the CDM ability to determine which patient is in more critical condition and should be seen first. Often neglected, clinical prioritization and recognition of an individual's limitations are also part of the CDM process. McGregor et al. interviewed several medical students who all admitted that they would often see whomever paged them first rather than prioritizing based on the clinical need of their patients.¹⁰ Commencing clerkship with limited knowledge in this area can cause serious harm to a patient. Several efforts have been made to teach medical students prioritization in clerkship, but they have proven to be quite ineffective.¹¹ With the intention to deliver safe medical care, prioritization should be a skill that is integrated into pre–clerkship and clerkship curricula to assist medical students in this learning process.

A possible solution to address the gap in CDM education discussed in this review includes an emphasis on decision making as a graduation competency for undergraduate medical education. The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada emphasizes the use of CanMEDS competencies for post-graduate programs. The Medical Council of Canada provides similar objectives for undergraduate medical education curricular design, with the expectation that similar principles should be achieved by all students through different aspects of their medical curricula. Due to the lack of formality in the education of decision making, "Decision Maker" could be added as a CanMEDS and undergraduate graduation competency. This change would encourage medical schools to dedicate curricular time to the improvement of decision making skills. As cited by Schwartz, education in decision making should involve three specific areas: 1) competency in CDM in the interest of the patient; 2) knowledge and skills required to facilitate the decisions of others-notably patients and their families; and finally 3) competency to encompass the knowledge and skills necessary to understand decisions involving health policy and allocation of healthcare resources on the public scale.12 These skills could also be further enhanced with supplemental resources such as clinical vignette cases for each clinical topic, dedicated lectures regarding the above three domains, or complete integration into clinical and non-clinical teaching in the medical school curriculum.

Conclusion

Medical education is a fluid system that is constantly changing based on the needs of students and society. Although CDM is being introduced in pre-clerkship curricula, it still has its shortcomings. It is important to assess these disparities and work towards altering them to provide students with an effective learning experience as they enter clinical practice. If a candidate is taught the schemata of good organization of clinical knowledge at an early point in their training, it can be expected that he/she will demonstrate significant improvement in these skills in their subsequent training.¹³ CDM proficiency is a valuable tool that enables students to consider a wide range of diagnostic possibilities and narrow the differential intelligently, as well as to reduce misdiagnoses and adverse outcomes, and provide effective patient care. Therefore, early interventions to improve the CDM abilities in medical students and establishing a focus on decision making as a core competency can have a significant impact on a student's clinical proficiency as they progress through their career.

- Elstein AS, Schwarz A. Clinical problem solving and diagnostic decision making: selective review of the cognitive literature. *BMJ*. 2002 Mar 23;324(7339):729-32.
- Schmidt HG, Mamede S. How to improve the teaching of clinical reasoning: a narrative review and a proposal. *Med Educ.* 2015 Oct 1;49(10):961-73.
 Bergus GR, Chapman GB, Gjerde C, Elstein AS. Clinical reasoning about new formation of the second secon
- Bergus GR, Chapman GB, Gjerde C, Elstein AS. Clinical reasoning about new symptoms despite preexisting disease: sources of error and order effects. *Fum Med.* 1995 May;27(5):314-20.
- Ilgen JS, Bowen JL, McIntyre LA, Banh KV, Barnes D, Coates WC, Druck J, Fix ML, Rimple D, Yarris LM, Eva KW. Comparing diagnostic performance and the utility of clinical vignette-based assessment under testing conditions designed to encourage either automatic or analytic thought. *Acad Med.* 2013 Oct 1;88(10):1545-51.
- 5. Nendaz MR, Raetzo MA, Junod AF, Vu NV. Teaching diagnostic skills: clinical

vignettes or chief complaints?. Advan HS Educ. 2000 Mar 1;5(1):3-10.

- 6.
- Wimmers PF, Schmidt HG, Splinter TA. Influence of clerkship experiences on clinical competence. *Med Educ.* 2006 May 1;40(5):450-8. Dolmans DH, Wolfhagen IH, Essed GG, Scherpbier AJ, van der Vleuten CP. The impacts of supervision, patient mix, and numbers of students on the effectiveness of clinical rotations. *Aud Med.* 2002 Apr 1;77(4):332-5. 7.
- Rencic J. Twelve tips for teaching expertise in clinical reasoning. *Med Teach*. 2011 Nov 1;33(11):887-92. 8.
- Kassirer JP. Teaching clinical reasoning: case-based and coached. Acad Med. 2010 Jul 1;85(7):1118-24. 9.
- Jul 1;85(7):1118-24.
 McGregor CA, Paton C, Thomson C, Chandratilake M, Scott H. Preparing medical students for clinical decision making: a pilot study exploring how students make decisions and the perceived impact of a clinical decision making teaching intervention. *Med Teach*. 2012 Jul 1;34(7):e508-17.
 Chumley HS, Dobbie A, Pollock M, Delzell JE. Teaching medical students to prioritize preventive services. *Fam Med*. 2006 Nov 1;38(10):696.
 Schwartz A. Madical decision making: and medical education. *Challenges* and medical education. 10.
- 11.
- Schwartz A. Medical decision making and medical education: challenges and opportunities. *Persp Bio Med.* 2011;54(1):68-74. Brailovsky C, Charlin B, Beausoleil S, Cote S, Van der Vleuten C. Measurement 12.
- 13. of clinical reflective capacity early in training as a predictor of clinical reasoning performance at the end of residency: an experimental study on the script concordance test. Med Educ. 2001 May 13;35(5):430-6.

A Simulation–Based Group Study Method for Preclinical Medical Students

Nancy Lum^{*1}, Hyejee Ohm^{*1}, Zach Sagorin^{*1}, Vivian W. L. Tsang^{*1}, Alec Yu^{*1} Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (16-18)

Abstract

Group study has been identified to be an effective method in promoting student motivation, academic success, and mental health. We present a model of a semi-structured group study method that allows students to practice and develop their clinical decision-making, communication, and physical exam skills. This method centers around a case-based approach by running multiple simulated patient cases in parallel, and introducing time dedicated for case presentations, review of laboratory results, and patient counselling. The proposed group study method may be useful as an adjunct to the UBC curriculum in building student competency, while also encouraging bonding between fellow medical students.

Introduction

As a leader in medical education, the UBC MD Undergraduate Program (MDUP) has renewed its curriculum to facilitate student progression towards yearly milestones.¹⁴ This preclinical curriculum, formatted as a "spiral," leverages spaced repetition of both foundational knowledge and clinical skills to maximize retention and familiarity before students enter clerkship and residency. However, recent internal surveys indicate that over half of preclinical students feel they lack opportunities to practice their clinical skills.⁵ This finding is reflected across medical schools, where instructors and students have highlighted students' struggles with clinical skills and decision–making.⁶

In parallel with formal curriculum, students can integrate their knowledge and actively practice toward competencies through group study.⁷ The literature describes these social learning environments as a method for students to share key concepts and address knowledge gaps while enhancing motivation and accountability for their learning, thus improving academic outcomes.⁷⁻⁹ These groups have also been shown to promote student well–being, providing an avenue for both social and academic support that is particularly crucial during the transition into clinical years.⁹⁻¹¹

Positioned at the intersection of competency–based education and peer learning, this case study presents the iterative development of a group study method that allows for the deliberate practice of clinical roles. This method aims to promote the integrated application of clinical skills and decision–making, communication skills, and foundational knowledge, which aligns with the UBC MDUP milestones in all categories, particularly in the roles of "Medical Expert" and "Communicator."⁴

Methods

Our presented group study method was developed by five medical students of the UBC MDUP, who continually modified the approach through intermittent evaluation and adjustment in a Plan–Do–Study–Act (PDSA) model of quality improvement.^{12,13} The final iteration consisted of each group member creating a patient profile for a disease related to the curriculum topic of the week and being prepared to

roleplay as that patient. Every group member took a turn roleplaying as the "patient" and "provider," practicing history–taking, physical examination, differential diagnosis, and patient counselling in a timed manner as illustrated in Figure 1. Full descriptions of the iterations and PDSA cycles can be found in Appendix 1.

Patient cases were either written manually by group members or found from resources that provided prewritten cases. Group members wrote patient profiles by selecting a disease and researching the expected signs, symptoms, physical exam findings, laboratory results, imaging results, possible differential diagnoses, and the proposed assessment and management plan. Prewritten cases were found from sources such as The Human Diagnosis Project¹⁴ and Clinical Case articles from the New England Journal of Medicine.¹⁵

Discussion

Self-regulated learning

Self-regulated learning (SRL) is the process of a learner being proactive in motivation, behaviour, and metacognition¹⁶ and has been associated with academic achievement,^{17,18} success in clinical skills,¹⁹ and improved mental health among medical students.²⁰ Metacognition involves learners evaluating their own knowledge and recalibrating learning strategies to reach defined goals, which has also been associated with improved academic outcomes and skills attainment.^{21,22} In SRL, interdependent learning and motivation encourages the learner to transition through phases of planning, performance, and self–reflection.^{23,24}

Promoting metacognition prior to clinical years may improve SRL during the transition to clerkship and beyond, which is beneficial as poor SRL may contribute to difficulties when learning in clinical environments.^{25,26} This group study method utilizes the SRL framework to complement weekly curricular learning by creating and solving cases near the limit of the group's knowledge base. This active and performative learning environment fosters self–observation and self–evaluation as participants confront the bounds of their clinical skill and reasoning in real time. For example, amidst taking a history, students may find it necessary to pause the roleplay to ask for assistance from the group, as the group identifies and expands its knowledge limits.

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada *All authors contributed equally to this manuscript

COMMENTARY



Table 1 | PDSA cycles of three iterations.

Extension of roleplay in medical education

Active learning (AL) has been highlighted as a means of encouraging medical student learning and engagement.²⁷⁻³⁰ This group study methodology prioritizes AL in its participants, as responsibility for learning is placed on group members in a multimodal fashion. Specifically, students are forced to think critically in a stepwise fashion to rule out pathological conditions, as roleplay requires active participation in the selection of investigations and derivation of differential diagnoses. Traditional roleplay and simulation methodologies are commonly utilized in the pedagogy of medical communication skills in which students rotate between the roles of patient, interviewer, and observer when learning to take patient histories.³¹ Our method builds upon this foundation, as students in the role of the interviewer extend past history-taking to perform relevant physical exams, order laboratory investigations, and present an oral report to an audience of peers while synthesizing relevant findings in predetermined timeframes. In anticipation of scenarios that commonly occur in clerkship, these structured cases serve as a means to practice concrete medical skillsets in real time.³² This extended format of practice is built upon previous data illustrating common pitfalls of roleplay as a learning tool.33

Integration into the UBC MDUP

There are a number of ways through which this group study method can be implemented into the formal curriculum beyond the formation of independent student groups. The described study technique can be enhanced by involving clinical skills preceptors to provide direct observation and teaching points on medical presentation and clinical skills. Faculty can also choose to involve standardized or volunteer patients to enhance accuracy or realism of clinical cases, although this comes at the cost of student learning and engagement in case preparation. This can serve as an adjunct to the Family Practice preclinical curriculum, clinical decision making sessions, or roleplay focused questions during case-based learning sessions.

Limitations

Despite the improvements made through iterative development, this methodology is not without limitations. First, changes at each iteration were primarily based on members' perceptions of what would be most beneficial. Incorporating a validated measure to systematically assess the strengths and weaknesses of an iteration would strengthen the rationale and impact of changes. Second, the group study method must be constantly adapted to the group's level of training in order to be maximally helpful to students. For example, first-year medical students may find it difficult to adopt the exact format of the most recent iteration as they lack exposure to various physical exams, history-taking skills, investigations, and medical diagnoses necessary to finish a case. Lastly, the authors chose not to cite empiric improvement in their medical knowledge, clinical skills, or well-being, as it would not be possible to establish causal effect to this group study method alone.

Conclusion

Our proposed group study method may be useful as an adjunct to the UBC curriculum in building student competency prior to clerkship. The use of structured cases forces medical students to be confronted with gaps in knowledge and ultimately allows purposeful integration of medical knowledge into clinical practice. By placing these simulations before actual patient encounters, students have an opportunity to make mistakes, practice difficult scenarios (e.g., counselling on sensitive issues), and learn critical lessons without experiencing the negative consequences that follow such errors in real-world clinical settings. Finally, the strong peer-led nature of this study method promotes bonding among fellow medical students, which has been proven to play a critical role in student well-being.

- About CanMEDS [Internet]. Ottawa: The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2015 [date unknown] [cited 2018 Sep 29]. Available from: http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/ canmeds/about-canmeds-e
- 2. Competence by design [Internet]. Ottawa: The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; [date unknown] [cited 2018 Sep 29]. Available from: http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/ cbd/competence-by-design-cbd-e
- Entrustable professional activities (EPAs) [Internet]. Ottawa: The Association of Faculties of 3 Medicine of Canada; [date unknown] [cited 2018 Sep 29]. Available from: https://afmc.ca/medical-education/entrustable-professional-activities-epas
- 4 MDUP year level milestones and UBC exit competencies [Internet]. Vancouver: The University of British Columbia; 2016 [updated 2016 Dec; cited 2018 Sep 29]. Available from: https:// mednet.med.ubc.ca/Teaching/curriculum-management/educational-activity-form-resources/ Documents/MDUP%20Year%20Level%20Milestones%20and%20UBC%20Exit%20Competencies.pdf
- 5. UBC HELES Survey - For internal UBC Faculty of Medicine use only. Request for Access by the editors can be made to the author (AY).
- 6 O'Brien B, Cooke M, Irby M. Perceptions and attributions of third-year student struggles in clerkships: do students and clerkship directors agree? Acad Med. 2009 Oct;82(10):970 8.
- 7. Boyson G, Daste L, Northern T. Multigenerational challenges and the future of graduate medical education. Ochsner J. 2016;16(1):101 7.
- Hendry D, Hyde J, Davy, P. Independent student study groups. Med Educ. 2005 Jul;39(7):672 9. 9. Lovell, B. 'We are a tight community': social groups and social identity in medical undergraduates. Med Educ. 2015 Oct;49(10):1016 27.
- 10. MacNeill G, Kerr A, Mavor, I. Identity and norms: the role of group membership in medical
- student wellbeing. Perspect Med Educ. 2014 Apr;3(2):101 12. Chou L, Teherani A, Masters E, Vener M, Wamsley M, Poncelet A. Workplace learning through 11. peer groups in medical school clerkships. Med Educ Online. 2014 Nov;25(19):10.3402
- 12 Deming WE. The new economics. Cambridge: MIT Press; 1993. 135 p.
- Langley G, Nolan K, Nolan T. Quality progress: the foundation of improvement. Milwaukee: 13. American Society for Quality; 1994. 81 p.
- 14. The Human Diagnosis Project [Internet]. New York, San Francisco, Washington, D.C.: The Human Diagnosis Project; [date unknown] [cited 2018 Sept 28]. Available from: https://www. humandx.org/
- 15. Clinical cases articles: the New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. Massachusetts: The New England Journal of Medicine; 2013 Sep 5 [updated 2018 Sep 27; cited 2018 Sep 28]. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/medical-articles/clinical-cases
- Zimmerman B. Becoming a self-regulated learner: Which are the key subprocesses?. Contemp Educ 16. Psychol. 1986;11(4):307 13.
- 17. Artino A, Dong T, DeZee K, Gilliland W, Waechter D, Cruess D et al. Achievement goal structures and self-regulated learning. Acad Med. 2012;87(10):1375 81.
- 18. Turan S, Konan A. Self-regulated learning strategies used in surgical clerkship and the relationship with clinical achievement. J Surg Educ. 2012;69(2):218 25. 19.
- Cleary T, Sandars J. Assessing self-regulatory processes during clinical skill performance: A pilot study. Med Teach. 2011;33(7):e368 e374.
- 20. Van Nguyen H, Laohasiriwong W, Saengsuwan J, Thinkhamrop B, Wright P. The relationships between the use of self-regulated learning strategies and depression among medical students: An accelerated prospective cohort study. *Psychol Health Med.* 2014;20(1):59 70.
- Dunlosky J, Thiede K. What makes people study more? An evaluation of factors that affect self-21. paced study. Acta Psychol. 1998;98(1):37 56.
- 22 Gardner A, Jabbour I, Williams B, Huerta S. Different Goals, Different Pathways: The role of metacognition and task engagement in surgical skill acquisition. J Surg Educ. 2016;73(1):61 5.
- 23. Zimmerman B. Self-regulated learning and academic achievement: an overview. Educ Psychol. 1990;25(1):3 17
- 24. Zimmerman B. Attaining self-regulation: a social cognitive perspective. In: Boekaerts M, Pintrich
- P. Zeider M, editors. Handbook of Self-Regulation. San Diego: Academic Press; 2000. p. 13-39. Cho K, Marjadi B, Langendyk V, Hu W. Medical student changes in self-regulated learning during 25. the transition to the clinical environment. BMC Med Educ. 2017;17(1):59.
- 26 Berkhout J, Helmich E, Teunissen P, van der Vleuten C, Jaarsma A. How clinical medical students
- perceive others to influence their self-regulated learning. *Met Educ.* 2016;51(3):269 79. McCoy L, Pettit R, Kellar C, Morgan C. Tracking active learning in the medical school curriculum: 27.
- a learning-centered approach. J Med Educ Curric Dev. 2018;5:238212051876513. Freeman S, Eddy S, McDonough M, Smith M, Okoroafor N, Jordt H, et al. Active learning in-28. creases student performance in science, engineering, and mathematics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(23):8410 5.
- Krisberg K. Flipped classrooms: scrapping lectures in favor of active learning [Internet]. Washing-ton D.C.: AAMC News; 2017 [cited 28 September 2018]. Available from: https://news.aamc.org/ medical-education/article/flipped-classrooms-scrapping-traditional-lectures-/ 29
- 30. Wolff M, Wagner M, Poznanski S, Schiller J, Santen S. Not another boring lecture: Engaging
- Learners with Active Learning Techniques. J Emerg Med. 2015;48(1):85 93. Nestel D, Tierney T. Role–play for medical students learning about communication: guidelines for maximising benefits. BMC Med Educ. 2007 Dec;7(1):3. 31.
- 32 Van Gessel E, Nendaz MR, Vermeulen B, Junod A, Vu NV. Development of clinical reasoning from the basic sciences to the clerkships: a longitudinal assessment of medical students' needs and self-perception after a transitional learning unit. Med Educ. 2003;37(11):966 74.
- 33 Stevenson K, Sander P. Medical students are from Mars-business and psychology students are from Venus-university teachers are from Pluto?. Med Teach. 2002 Jan 1;24(1):27 31

The Significance of Race-Based Generalizations in **Canadian Medical Education**

Emma Woo¹

Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (16-18)

Abstract

Health outcomes between racial groups vary due to a range of genetic, cultural, and social factors. That said, when medical educators refer to race as a risk for disease, they often do not refer to any of these corresponding factors. As a result, medical education often promotes an essentialist view that both pathologizes race and discourages individualized care. This poses a risk to patients and society of reinforcing false understandings of race as a biological entity. Canadian medical schools should encourage students to think critically about race-based generalizations by delivering transparent and context-specific education.

In a small-group session in my first term of medical school, I was told that when it comes to race, I should "generalize, but not stereotype." Generalizations in healthcare are instruments of efficiency; they are crude screening tools implemented to help narrow differential diagnoses, stratify risk, and inform treatment. For example, it would be a generalization to put lactose intolerance high on a differential for an East-Asian person with stomach pain, considering there is a higher prevalence of lactase deficiency in this ethnicity. An example of a treatment-informing generalization would be being aware that a Jehovah's Witness may refuse a blood transfusion due to religious beliefs. Indeed, generalizing can lead to increased diagnostic accuracy as well as a deepened understanding of varied lifestyles. That said, generalizing also groups people into discrete categories and encourages physicians to think about patients as a part of those categories first and as individuals second.

There is a broad body of literature that states that race is a not a biological category.1 Rather, it is widely agreed upon that racial categories are social constructs, defined by the societies in which they lie. Given this, why does medical rhetoric so regularly group health statistics based on race, and to what effect? What does it mean when physicians say that nonwhite groups are at higher risk of diabetes or that African-Americans have higher rates of kidney disease?2,3

Undeniably, health outcomes differ between racial groups.^{4,5} There may be poor genetic similarity within groups, but certain ancestral alleles affect disease rates and can be passed down through generations.⁶ For example, 12-13% of African-Americans have two copies of a specific genetic variation in the gene APOL1. This genotype is associated with a four-fold increased risk of developing non-diabetic end stage kidney disease compared to the risk in those without the genotype.7 Similarly, absence of the HEXA gene on chromosome 15 is much more common in Ashkenazi Jewish populations than others and leads to the development of Tay-Sachs disease. Perhaps a more common cause for variation is the myriad of social determinants that affect health outcomes. There is strong evidence that factors such as food insecurity, social cohesion, and social support have associations with glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes.8 Other studies link race-based discrimination and hypertension, as well as internalized racism and insulin resistance.⁴ Combined, these genetic and social factors result in a de facto understanding that there are racial differences in disease prevalence and outcome. There is no problem

Correspondence to Emma Woo (emma.k.woo@gmail.com)

with acknowledging such differences exist and even making diagnostic decisions based on them. However, a problem arises when physicians use race as a proxy for discussing the factors underlying these differences. After all, genes are not passed down neatly and social determinants do not affect every member of a racial group equally.

I argue that in medicine, generalizing about racial differences can be a form of racial essentialism and should be reviewed critically and minimized when possible. Generalizations based on race as a biological entity are often imprecise and poorly evidenced. They ignore the circumstances of the individual and, in turn, can impact the health of visible minorities. Medical education should be wary of these generalizations and teach students to be critical of their use.

What is racial essentialism?

Racial essentialism is the belief in the existence of discrete, fixed, and uniform characteristics that constitute and differentiate racial categories. The concept of racial essences is not new. It was brought into philosophical discourse in the 18th century as a way of illustrating social hierarchy.9 Around the same time, Thomas Jefferson proposed that there were inherent differences in lung capacity between African slaves and white colonists.¹⁰ Ever since, the idea of biological racial differences has been foundational to the medical sciences. Indeed, lung capacity is still considered to vary based on race, despite a global study that showed for the same weight, height, and sex, there is no difference in lung function tests between races.^{11,12} On a societal level, this has the effect of encouraging people to think about races as fundamentally different from one another and therefore not equal. On a patient level, the application of racial essentialism can not only lead to beliefs about fundamental differences in biology, but also judgments from practitioners about fundamental differences in patient behaviours. For example, the generalization that non-white races have higher rates of type 2 diabetes complications may lead some healthcare practitioners to think that these racial groups have poorer lifestyle choices and will be less compliant, and subconsciously show their beliefs in their actions.

Indeed, racial essentialism can perpetuate racial stereotyping. In a study on racial essentialism from 2012, essentialist thinking positively predicted stereotyping, even when controlling for gender and age.14 This can result not only in overtly racist acts, but also in subtle changes in how patients are treated. Some cases of this involve physicians starting medications at low doses based on race-based disease rates and drug efficacy statistics, and not individual history.13

Racial essentialism also affects the practitioner. The same 2012 study showed that essentialist thinking has a common mechanism to

^{&#}x27;MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

creative stagnation: categorical thinking.¹⁴ In medicine, physicians need categorical thinking to divide concepts into groups and create differential diagnoses. However, more flexible thinking is required when considering the more complex aspects of medical care, including addressing unusual presentations of symptoms or discussing the significance of race. The study showed that essentialist thinking decreased markers of flexibility, association, and insight—all traits that are crucial to quality medical care.¹⁴

What can physicians do?

The adverse effects of racial essentialism do not mean that physicians should ignore racial categories. Paradoxically, to overcome health disparities, the concept of race may even be necessary. How can public health bodies track differences such as access to healthcare and discrimination if they do not acknowledge the categorization upon which these disparities arise? A recent study by sociologist Gerry Veenstra noted the challenge of discovering health outcome mediators due to small sample size. In order to fix this, Veenstra encouraged Statistics Canada to oversample minority populations in future surveys.⁴ The concept of race exists, whether or not it is helpful to society, and medical professionals should pay more attention to it in medical education, not less. The more research done that investigates the details behind differences in health outcomes by race, the less health care professionals will be able to justify broad and unsubstantiated generalizations. Similarly, the more research done that is Canada specific, the less health care professionals will be relying on American data to make possibly inaccurate generalizations.

Another way to be more thoughtful about presenting race-based generalizations is to acknowledge the repercussions of racial essentialism directly and explicitly in curricula. This could mean promoting educational leaders in specific race-based topics such as University of Toronto's "Black Health Lead" and University of British Columbia's "Indigenous Health Lead." Schools can encourage their lecturers to be wary of facile use of race as a bioscientific datum in their presentations and encourage further research into the topic. For example, educators and students alike can try to understand why non-white racial groups have a higher risk of diabetes. In doing so, they would find an extensive range of studies trying to identify the factors at play. This includes studies about the relevance of neighbourhood walkability in determining disease prevalence. It would also include associations between waist circumference and race, which show that waist circumference has more relevance in predicting diabetes onset in Asian populations than in African–American populations.¹⁵ This type of research takes a small amount of time and makes a big difference in how one treats the idea of race.

One of the UBC Medical Undergraduate Program exit competencies suggests that graduating medical students should be able to "help a patient access ... resources according to [their] unique physical and psychosocial needs."¹⁶ I suggest that medical students should be taught to critically review the use of race–based generalizations to better appreciate the unique physical and psychosocial needs of the individual and not perpetuate harmful racial stereotypes.

- American Anthropological Association. AAA statement on race. Am Anthropol. 1998;100:712-3.
- Spanakis EK, Golden SH. Race/ethnic difference in diabetes and diabetic complications. Curr Diab Rep. 2013;13(6):814-23.
- Tarver-Carr ME, Power NR, Eberhardt MS, LaVeist TA, Kington RS, Coresh J, et al. Excess risk of chronic kidney disease among African–American versus white subjects in the United States: a population–based study of potential explanatory factors. *JASN*. 2002 Sep;13(9):2363-70.
- Veenstra G, Patterson AC. Black white health inequalities in Canada. J Immigr Minor Healt. 2016;18:51.
- Veenstra G, Patterson AC. South Asian-White health inequalities in Canada: intersections with gender and immigrant status. *Ethnic Health.* 2016 Apr;21(6):639-48.
- Yasuda SU, Zhang L, Huang SM. The role of ethnicity in variability in response to drugs: focus on clinical pharmacology studies. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2008;84:417-23.
- Kopp JB, Nelson GW, Sampath K, Johnson RC, Genovese G, Ping An, et al. APOL1 genetic variants in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and HIV-associated nephropathy. JASN. 2011 Nov;22(11):2129-37.
- Walker RJ, Strom WJ, Egede LE. Influence of race, ethnicity and social determinants of health on diabetes outcomes. *Am J Med Sci.* 2016 Apr;351(4):366-73.
- Zack, N. The philosophical roots of racial essentialism and its legacy. Con J World Philos. 2016;1:85-98.
- Braun L. Race, ethnicity and lung function: a brief history. Can J Respir Ther. 2015;51(4):99-101.
- Quanjer PH, Stanojevic A, Cole TJ, Baur X, Hall GL, Culver BH. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95–yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. *Eur Resp J.* 2012 Dec;40(6):1324-43.
- Lujan HL, Dicarlo SE. Science reflects history as society influences science: brief history of "race," "race correction," and the spirometer. *Adv Physiol Educ.* 2018 Apr;42(2):163-5.
- 13. Weigmann K. Racial medicine: here to stay? EMBO Rep. 2006;7(3):246-9.
- Tadmor CT, Chao MM, Hong YY, Polzer JT. Not just for stereotyping anymore: racial essentialism reduces domain–general creativity. *Psychol Sci.* 2012 Nov;24(1):99-105.

The Humanity of Medicine: A Case for Literature and Subjectivity in Medical Education

Erik Haensel¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (21-22)

Abstract

Many schools are incorporating the study of humanities into medical education. This growing and diverse field offers opportunities for students to strengthen their capacity for meaningful doctor-patient relationships. In particular, fiction provides students with a unique opportunity to read cross-culturally and internalize disparate, subjective experiences resulting in a greater capacity for empathetic communication.

Empathetic capacity and the ability to interact meaningfully across differences of culture and lived experience are foundational skills for positive doctor-patient relationships. They also affect how practitioners understand aspects of medical research such as patient drug compliance and risk behaviour, and influence public perceptions of the profession as a whole.^{1,2} The empathetic ability and cultural sensitivity of medical students and residents can be strengthened through the guided study of fiction.

Many medical schools have adopted aspects of literary study into their programs under the heading Medical Humanities.² The University of Alberta "Arts and Humanities in Health and Medicine" program brings together medical students and faculty and "uses arts and artists to support medical students in learning to better relate to patients, understand patient stories, and translate science in relation to human experience."³ One of their courses, "Shadowing Artists on the Ward," pairs students with artists, including poets and writers, who then work with patients to translate their anxiety, pain, and hopes into art.⁴ The University of Toronto MD Program includes Health Humanities as a focal area in all four years of study and evaluates the narrative competence of students: their "capacity to appreciate, interpret and work empathically with the stories of others."⁵

A recent randomized controlled trial of 180 nurses measured scores on the Jefferson Scale of Empathy before and after zero, four, and eight months of narrative reading education.⁶ The intervention included reading and discussing literature around common themes such as "empathy," "holistic care," and "company," followed by relating patient narratives to these themes and assessing psychological and social needs. The authors observed a statistically significant six-fold greater increase in Jefferson Scale of Empathy by the group with the most narrative education. The study was limited to a cohort that was primarily female (90%) and young (mean age 18) but showed potential for the rigorous investigation of reading as a method to expand empathy.

A recent meta–analysis of arts–based interventions in healthcare education found widespread enthusiasm for the practice, but cited two key issues: "the first is a lack of clarity over the criteria for the success of these interventions; the second is the low proportion of studies involving artists in design and delivery."⁷ There was also very little homogeneity in the type of intervention, with only 16% classified as literary interventions based on the reading of fiction.

Many physicians have documented how fiction has helped them cope with difficult circumstances and/or patient trauma.⁸ Fiction can help physicians "shape the language of mourning, of suffering, of death entering the ill person's condition, and looking at it from all sides"⁹ and is "a means of rekindling and deepening those human experiences of imagination and commitment essential for caregiving."¹⁰ Fiction

Correspondence Erik Haensel (erikhaensel@icloud.com) situates the reader within the subjective experience of a character or set of characters: we do not read of the disparate experiences of others but are asked to place ourselves inside the point of view of the main character(s).

While the impact of fiction on empathy is beginning to be evaluated, the mechanism of this impact is less clear. Two potential mechanisms underscore the value of fictional art: it encourages the exercise of empathetic imagination, and it facilitates cross– cultural knowledge acquisition of underrepresented communities or communities that face unique burdens in the access and quality of health care.

Reading works written in the distant past can allow students a relatively safe space to explore their emotions, including grief, judgement, or apathy, without feeling the need to conform to contemporary expectations of how they should feel. A qualitative study of 250 fourth year medical students found that the novella "The Death of Ivan Illych," written over a hundred years ago by Russian author Leo Tolstoy, was an effective tool "to introduce new ethical concepts to less experienced medical trainees."¹¹ At this level, the goal is not to shape the responses of the students but rather to expand them: "The most fundamental of insights about literature [is that] it isn't supposed to have a single meaning."¹²

A related approach is to read contemporary works from medically relevant, underrepresented, at risk, or otherwise marginalized communities. In Canada, such communities include First Nations authors, women of colour, immigrants, members of the LGBTQ community, as well as those suffering from drug addiction or mental health issues.^{13,14} Here fiction is not intended to minimize the proven value of firsthand, non–fiction accounts from these communities.¹⁵ Instead, it serves as a different and undervalued resource by asking the reader to imagine themselves in the place of the marginalized person. Fiction has the unique ability to enable the reader to inhabit the subjective space(s) of the protagonist(s). To see as they see, hear as they hear, and feel as they feel. It is a safe space for a physician or medical student to take the leap of faith into the subjective reality of their patient and better understand their illness and emotional needs.

Unlike in non-fiction, or ethnographic accounts, those having read a work of fictional literature can more easily attempt to imagine themselves in the shoes of the main character. They can then proceed to share, discuss, and debate the subjective experience of the lives of the main characters without the limitation of it being tied to a real person. Ways of being become not right and wrong, but multiple and proliferative, and the act of imagination helps to bridge the distance between doctor and patient. Ruth Charon, a physician and literary scholar believes that "together with medicine, literature looks forward to a future when illness calls forth... recognition instead of anonymity, communion instead of isolation, and shared meanings instead of insignificance."¹⁶

It is unfortunate that many medical students find their exposure to fiction declines once they enter medical school. One study reported

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

that 75% read fewer non-curricular books during their medical education.¹⁷ The value of fictional literature in medicine needs to be further specified and measured if it is to make a lasting and meaningful foray into the overburdened curriculum of medical education. Specific teaching approaches need to be formulated and evaluated so that it can be recognized as a powerful process for the expansion of empathetic consciousness and a way to connect with marginalized communities.

- Fins JJ, Pohl B, Doukas DJ. In praise of the humanities in academic medicine. Camb Q Healths Ethics. 2013;22(4):355-64.
- Goulston SJ. Medical education in 2001: the place of the medical humanities. Intern Med J. 2001;31:123-127.
- Eccles K. Health Class [Internet]. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta; 2011 [cited 2018 Dec 13]. Available from: https://www.ualberta.ca/newtrail/winter2012/features/healthclass
- University of Alberta. Elective Years 1 & 2: Shadowing Artists on the Ward [Internet]. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta; 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 13]. Available from: https://www.ualberta.ca/medicine/programs/md/curriculum/electives/y1/catalogue1-2/shadowingartists
- University of Toronto. Curriculum: Themes [Internet]. Toronto, ON: University of Toronto; 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 13]. Available from: https://md.utoronto.ca/ node/21

- Yang N, Xiao H, Cao Y, Li S, Yan H, Wang Y. Does narrative medicine education improve nursing students' empathic abilities and academic achievement? A randomised controlled trial. J Int Med Res. 2018;46(8):3306-3317.
- Osman M, Eacott B, Willson S. Arts-based Interventions in Healthcare Education. Med Humanit. 2018;44:28–33.
- Gardner C. Medicine's uncanny valley: the problem of standardizing empathy. Lancet. 2015;386:1032-33.
- Rodriquez-Prat A, Monforte-Royo C. 25 years after intoxicated by my illness: challenges for medical humanities. *Lancet.* 2017;389:249-50.
- Kleinman A. Catastrophe and caregiving: the failure of medicine as an art. Lancet. 2008;371: 23-23.
- Zohouri M, Amini M, Sagheb MM. Fourth year medical students' reflective writing on death of Ivan Ilych: a qualitative study. J Adv Med Educ Prof. 2017;5(2):73-77.
- Skelton JR, Thomas CP, Macleod J. Teaching literature and medicine to medical students, part I: the beginning. *Lancet.* 2000;356(9245):1920–1922.
- Balestrery JE. Intersecting Discourses on Race and Sexuality: Compounded Colonization Among LGBTTQ American Indians/Alaska Natives. J Homosex. 2008;59(5): 633-655.
- Hunt S, Holmes C. Everyday Decolonization: Living a Decolonizing Queer Politics. J Lesbian Stud. 2015;19(2):154-172.
- Kristeva J, Moro MR, Ødemark J, Engebretsen E. Cultural crossings of care: An appeal to the medical humanities. *Med Humanit.* 2018;44:55-58.
- Charon R. Literature and Medicine: Origins and Destinies. Acad Med. 2000 Jan;75(1):23-27.
- Hodgson K, Thomson R. What do medical students read and why? A survey of medical students in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, England. *Med Educ.* 2000;34(8):622-629.

Cadaveric Anatomical Education in the 21st Century: Preserving Medical Education

Peter Baumeister¹, Nicholas Byers¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (23-24)

Abstract

Anatomical medical education through cadaveric dissection is a tradition that has been preserved through the centuries. Advancements in medical knowledge were gained throughout millennia through dissections of animals and humans. Now, the roots of this heritage wither as medical programs restrict laboratory time in favor of more modern educational techniques. We seek to promulgate a medical student's perspective on the use of cadaveric dissection within the curriculum and why dissections must remain an imperative part of medical education. Continuing a hands–on approach to anatomical systems will ensure both educational and medical standards are achieved and enhanced.

ducation in human anatomy through cadaveric dissection is Ea pedagogical tool nearly as old as the profession of medicine itself. Ancient literature by Galen and Hippocrates was dominated by dissections and vivisections of animals, whereby the foundation of medicine flourished.¹ Modern medical training arguably began during the Renaissance (14th-17th century), with key anatomists and physicians such as Andreas Vesalius and William Harvey producing seminal works on anatomy and circulation, respectively.^{2,3} These advances in the wealth of knowledge were hard won, continually facing pressure from hierarchical institutions. Despite the medical profession's pedigree in anatomy, there has been a reduction in the volume of information instructed via cadavers over the past decade, as various stakeholders vie for valuable time and resources.^{4,5} Here, we provide a student's perspective in this debate, asserting that cadaveric dissections have irreplaceable educational benefits in medical education. To emphasize this point, we will begin by discussing the change in pedagogical tools by examining the progression to prosections and digitization in anatomy. We will then discuss the importance of cadaveric dissection in the comprehension of organ systems and its benefits to practitioners.

Medical education is evolving with the development of new diagnostic and imaging technology. The incorporation of digital imaging and 3D rendering software, which allow learners to peer deeply into body systems, gives modern students a significant advantage over the forebears of anatomy, who dissected to understand structure and vivisected to understand function.6 Despite these advances, studies have failed to prove superiority of digital education over dissection.^{7,8} In fact, Saltarelli et al. suggest that cadaveric dissections may better facilitate knowledge transfer from laboratory to clinical practice.9 We propose that the digitization of anatomy as an instructing medium alone does not allow the student to critically appraise the body in its totality and thus cannot completely replace the cadaver. These tools do indeed come close to cadaveric anatomy, with the ability to manipulate, remove, and rotate structures digitally; however, this approach and that of 3D renderings lack the inherent advantage of tactile learning. We believe that the ability of the learner to observe structuresfeel by hand their tensile properties, thicknesses, and diametersand physically follow the neural and vascular input is of paramount importance. This form of kinesthetic learning is favored by medical

students and has been reported to enhance deep comprehension, thus improving the students' ability to apply information to other fields of medicine such as radiology.^{10,11} Furthermore, these kindly donated cadavers provide the opportunity to practice clinical techniques that would not be possible with digital constructs.¹²

To understand how disease impacts patients, one must comprehend how the various organ systems interact. While cadaveric anatomy in the 21st century is not always implemented, many institutes that hold true to this tradition deliver laboratory sessions by anatomical region.¹³ However, Brooks et al. report reductions in student comprehension and performance when anatomy is taught focusing on specific regions (e.g., using prosections) as opposed to systems.¹³ Additionally, among programs that instruct using prosections, there is evidence that brief exposure to whole-body dissections is viewed favorably in enhancing clinical skills and overall anatomical comprehension.14 These findings illustrate an inherent disadvantage of prosections in anatomical education, whereby students are required to piece together individual regions instead of understanding the body as a whole. For example, students may not fully understand the mechanism of Pancoast's syndrome if they only view the lungs in isolation, neglecting the neurovascular structures located superomedially. As such, we assert that a systems-based approach may best suit the clinician-in-training.

In a recent survey of physicians from diverse specialties, 50.9% of respondents indicated gross anatomy knowledge was most fundamental to clinical practice, followed by physiology (38.6%) and pharmacology (32.1%).¹⁵ Anatomy is utilized by the majority of clinicians as they interact with patients through landmarking and surveying for disease.¹⁶ Proper identification of structures is essential for ensuring adequate sensitivity and specificity in physical examinations, which students are required to perform with competency and precision. With in-office procedures such as injections and excisions being common practice, anatomy does not remain solely within the domain of the surgeon. For example, in 2006, 36% of Canadians reported experiencing some form of musculoskeletal disorder, making it one of the most common reasons for a physician office visit.¹⁷ These visits necessitate special physical exams, landmarking, and possible application of intra-articular medications in order to diagnose and treat the patient. Finally, cadaveric dissection provides students with the opportunity to sequentially view structures from superficial to deep, allowing for better comprehension of layers and their respective landmarks. As future practitioners, we view this deep understanding of anatomy as an integral part of our ability to deliver timely and quality care to patients.

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada Correspondence Peter Baumeister (peter.baumeister@alumni.ubc.ca)

A seemingly inevitable trend in science is the favoring of a reductionist approach, focusing inwardly to the protein, genome, and gene level.18 This gaze has undoubtedly led to significant advances in medical screening, diagnosis, and treatment; however, the ideology associated with this "one-gene disease" phenomenon fails to fully address systemic complications. Facilitated by the continual introduction of newer methods and technology, anatomical education too has fallen victim to this reductionist approach, focusing on specific body regions rather than a whole-body approach. We suggest that the concept of "systems biology" should be extended to medical education in anatomy, whereby cadavers are used to provide students with hands-on experience in learning about the human body as a whole.19 This approach, tactile in nature, will continue to facilitate greater comprehension and recognition of the impact of disease on the patient. The importance of these skills in evaluating the human body in its entirety has been reinforced time and time again and builds the foundation for clinical practice. The continuation of traditional cadaveric anatomy teaching, supplemented by the march of progress in technology, will ensure quality medical education and therefore quality diagnosis and treatment of patients.

Disclaimer

Peter Baumeister is currently a section editor with the UBCMJ but was not involved in the review process of this article.

- Franco NH. Animal experiments in biomedical research: A historical perspec-1 tive. Animals. 2013;3(1):238-73.
- Zampieri F, Zanatta A, Elmaghawry M, Bonati MR, Thiene G. Origin and de-2. velopment of modern medicine at the University of Padua and the role of the "Serenissima" Republic of Venice. Glob Cardiol Sci Pract. 2013;21:149-62.

- Aird WC. Discovery of the cardiovascular system: from Galen to William Har-3. vey. J Thromb Haemost. 2011;9((Suppl. 1)):11829.
- 4. Davis CR, Bates AS, Ellis H, Roberts AM. Human anatomy: let the students tell us how to teach. Anat Sci Educ. 2014;7(4):262-72.
- 5. Singh R, Shane Tubbs R, Gupta K, Singh M, Jones DG, Kumar R. Is the decline of human anatomy hazardous to medical education/profession?-a review. Surg Radiol Anat. 2015;37(10):1257-65.
- Darras KE, de Bruin ABH, Nicolaou S, Dahlström N, Persson A, van Mer-6. riënboer J, et al. Is there a superior simulator for human anatomy education? How virtual dissection can overcome the anatomic and pedagogic limitations of cadaveric dissection. Med Teach. 2018;40(7):752-3.
- 7. Codd AM, Choudhury B. Virtual reality anatomy: is it comparable with traditional methods in the teaching of human forearm musculoskeletal anatomy? Anat Sci Educ, 2011;4:119-25.
- 8 Winkelmann A. Anatomical dissection as a teaching method in medical school: a review of the evidence. *Med Educ.* 2007;41:15-22. Saltarelli AJ, Roseth CJ, Saltarelli WA. Human cadavers vs. multimedia simula-
- 9. tion: a study of student learning in anatomy. Anat Sci Educ. 2014;7:331-9.
- Lujan HL, DiCarlo SE. First-year medical students prefer multiple learning styles. *AJP Adv Physiol Educ.* 2006;30:13-6. 10
- Smith CF, Mathias HS. Medical students' approaches to learning anatomy: 11. students' experiences and relations to the learning environment. Clin Anat. 2010;23:106-14
- 12. Wilson DR, Nava PB. Medical student responses to clinical procedure teaching in the anatomy lab. Clin Teach. 2010;7(1):14-8.
- 13. Brooks WS, Woodley KTCP, Jackson JR, Hoesley CJ. Integration of gross anatomy in an organ system-based medical curriculum: strategies and challenges. Anat Sci Educ. 2015;8(3):266-74.
- 14. Larkin TA, Mcandrew DJ. Factors influencing students' decisions to participate in a short "dissection experience" within a systemic anatomy course. Anat Sci Educ. 2013;6(4):225-31.
- 15. Arráez-Aybar LA, Sánchez-Montesinos I, Mirapeix RM, Mompeo-Corredera B, Sañudo-Tejero JR. Relevance of human anatomy in daily clinical practice. Ann Anat. 2010;192(6):341-8.
- Standring S. Evidence-based surface anatomy. Clin Anat. 2012;25(7):813-5. 16.
- MacKay C, Canizares M, Davis AM, Badley EM. Health care utilization for musculoskeletal disorders. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2010;62(2):161-9. 17.
- 18. Noble D. Claude Bernard, the first systems biologist, and the future of physiology. Exp Physiol. 2008;93(1):16-26. Ahn AC, Tewari M, Poon C, Phillips RS. The limits of reductionism in med-
- 19 icine: Could systems biology offer an alternative? PLoS Med. 2006;3(6): e208.

Considering the Use of Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) in Medical Education

Vishwathsen Karthikeyan^{*1}, Azzra Mangalji^{*1} Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (25-26)

Abstract

Massive open online courses (MOOCs) are a form of e-learning that currently allows people to learn about a wide variety of topics remotely from experts. They may serve as a way to augment the current delivery of medical education. Specifically, MOOCs have a role in supplementing curricular content, enhancing preparedness for clinical medical practice, and guiding personal interests to assist in specialty decision-making for students in the foundational years of medical school. We will be exploring the benefits of learning with MOOCs, their limitations, and their potential implementation into medical curricula.

Introduction

viven the current explosion of medical knowledge and evolving Jocietal needs, medical curricula must adopt a pedagogical approach that addresses the changing requirements of a physicianin-training. Technology in the form of e-learning is being increasingly used as a means to achieve these goals and circumvent the time and resource constraints of an undergraduate medical education program.¹ E-learning refers to disseminating education via technology, such as the internet and multimedia platforms like Khan Academy. Massive open online courses (MOOCs) are a form of e-learning that are generally free and open to anyone for registration.² MOOCs are comprised of different elements including: 1) pre-recorded content; 2) graded assessments; and 3) discussion forums. Once registered, there are suggested timelines; however, course completion is asynchronous from learner to learner.³ MOOCs can be created by educational institutions and are hosted on online platforms, such as edX and Coursera. MOOCs may have an important role in helping medical students achieve certain CanMEDS competencies throughout their foundational medical training while supporting rapidly changing content.4,5 This article aims to explore the benefits, shortcomings, and relevant considerations regarding the potential implementation of MOOCs into medical education as a supplemental resource.

Benefits of MOOCs in Medical Education

MOOCs can be used to support the foundational first two years of medical education. Currently, students have content delivered in didactic lectures and are provided with recommended resources for supplementation. This traditional approach has some inherent limitations, including inflexibility to various learning styles.⁶ A systematic review reported that e-learning interventions compared to no intervention demonstrated higher degrees of clinical preparedness with better patient outcomes.⁷ With MOOCs, the content is provided in short pre-recorded segments utilizing both audio and visual learning. Research has shown this style of teaching increases attentiveness and retention of information.⁸⁹ The content is also available to review at any time, enabling students to access content remotely and at any point in their education. In addition, MOOCs promote retrieval-

Correspondence

based learning by using frequent assessment checkpoints to keep students engaged and active. Furthermore, as MOOCs are an open resource, students from various healthcare backgrounds, including physiotherapy, nursing, and pharmacy, may enrol at any given time. A diverse cohort coupled with the discussion forums promotes real–time collaboration and fosters an interprofessional community.⁶ Students can also use these forums to provide feedback to peers, which has been proven to be an effective model of learning.⁴ Lastly, the integration of MOOCs into formal medical education could allow students to better prepare for case–based learning, thereby providing more time in session to focus on interactive aspects such as problem solving, team–based skills, and knowledge application.⁶

While the conventional curriculum delivered in the foundational years of medical school is essential, there remain gaps in clinical preparedness that MOOCs can address. Medical students may have particular areas of interest which are not taught in-depth.¹⁰ For example, a student interested in a surgical subspecialty may opt to use a MOOC to gain preliminary knowledge about procedural practices. This could further enhance current practices, such as learning from upper-year medical students, shadowing practitioners, and using informal online resources. MOOCs in these specialized areas could be generated by leading doctors from around the world and accessed remotely by students.¹⁰

Limitations of MOOCs in Medical Education

It is important to consider the limitations of using MOOCs for medical education. Formal studies evaluating the effectiveness of MOOCs in medical education are lacking.^{6,11} It remains unclear whether they offer an advantage in comparison to other online education resources, such as the modules used in current curricula. In addition, the large heterogeneous population of students enrolled in MOOCs makes it difficult for instructors to cater to individual needs. The studentteacher ratio in MOOCs is typically in the thousands, which makes one-on-one interactions unlikely and places increased reliance on peers assisting each other through discussion forums.¹⁰ While MOOCs may be an effective form of teaching foundational knowledge, knowledge translation to patient care would be challenging without sufficient inperson interaction. In addition, while enrolment in current MOOCs is extremely high, the completion rate of these courses is typically less than 10%.3 Lastly, it is unclear whether MOOCs offer a sustainable business model for educational institutions to use.¹⁰

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada *These authors contributed equally

Vishwathsen Karthikeyan (vishu.karthik@alumni.ubc.ca)

Implementation in Medical Curricula

There are several important factors to consider when exploring implementation strategies for MOOCs into formal educational structures. In order to address high incompletion rates, medical institutions could incentivize students by providing academic credits or certification for the completion of MOOCs that meet their educational standards.¹⁰ With regards to content covered, MOOCs could be tailored to supplement lecture content as opposed to more complex problem solving and clinical reasoning.6 One possibility is to have national-level collaboration for creating resources in medical education. Sharing of these MOOCs across institutions would reduce the cost of producing and disseminating redundant materials.¹² This could be achieved by developing one centralized online collaborative learning platform like Coursera. In theory, the platform could act as a repository for students to access MOOCs synthesized by healthcare professionals within Canada, as well as MOOCs licensed from other international institutions.

Discussion

Technological innovation in the field of education is occurring at a rapid rate. However, it is ultimately effective teaching pedagogies that will determine the utility of these tools.¹⁰ Shifting towards a more student–centered approach can enhance medical education to fit progressing times. MOOCs can be used to augment and personalize traditional educational models in a way that serves varying learning styles. Furthermore, beyond the use in medical school, there remain many potential applications of MOOCs in supporting the transition into medical practice. MOOCs could help recent graduates in understanding billing practices, medical–legal nuances, and navigating and operating health information technology (HIT) systems such as electronic health records.¹² In conclusion, additional research evaluating the efficacy of supplemental MOOCs in comparison to current teaching standards could validate the implementation of MOOCs into higher–level education. Overall, we remain optimistic about the welcoming MOOCs in formal medical curricula.

- Ruiz JG, Mintzer MJ, Leipzig RM. The impact of e-learning in medical education. Acad Med. 2006 Mar 1;81(3):207-12.
- Masters K. A brief guide to understanding MOOCs. Int J Med Educ. 2011 Feb;1(2):2.
 Hoy MB. MOOCs 101: an introduction to massive open online courses. Medical Reference Services Quality. 2014 Jan 1;33(1):85-91.
- Subbi Y, Andresen K, Bojsen SR, Nilsson PM, Konge L. Massive open online courses are relevant for postgraduate medical training. *Dan Med J.* 2014 Oct 1;61(10):A4923.
- Leung WC, Diwakar V. Learning in practice competency based medical training. BMJ. 2002 Sep 28;325(7366):693-6.
- Mehta NB, Hull AL, Young JB, Stoller JK. Just imagine: new paradigms for medical education. *Acad Med.* 2013 Oct 1;88(10):1418-23.
 Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM. Inter-
- Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM. Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2008 Sep 10;300(10):1181-96.
- Moore E. Adapting PowerPoint Lectures for Online Delivery: Best Practices [Internet]. Faculty Focus: Higher Ed Teaching & Learning. 2019 [updated 2013 Jan 13; cited 2019 Jan 4]. Available from: https://www.facultyfocus.com/articles/online-ed-ucation/adapting-powerpoint-lectures-for-online-delivery-best-practices/
 Dykman CA, Davis CK. Part one the shift toward online education. Journal of
- Dykman CA, Davis CK. Part one the shift toward online education. Journal of Information Systems Education. 2008 Mar 1;19(1).
- Doherty I, Sharma N, Harbutt D. Contemporary and future eLearning trends in medical education. *Med Teach*. 2015 Jan 2;37(1):1-3.
- Harder B. Are MOOCs the future of medical education? *BMJ*. 2013 Apr 26;346:f2666.
 Han H, Resch DS, Kovach RA. Educational technology in medical education. *Teach Learn Med*. 2013 Jan 1;25(sup1):39-43.

Deconstructing Biases: The West is Not Best

Bavenjit K. Cheema¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (27-28)

Abstract

The Western world, a mirage of wealth, power, knowledge, and competence, is often used as a measuring stick to which the rest of the world is compared. Academics interested in global health understand the need to dismantle preconceived notions of people, culture, and health in their work. However, there might be one deeply rooted bias that has not left us. As I packed my bags for a month–long immersion in rural island medicine in the Philippines, I did not realize that I was unprepared to face my implicitly held belief that "health in the West is best."

s the world becomes increasingly globalized, medicine has Arecognized the need to create today's physicians as global citizens who serve populations of all cultural backgrounds.^{1,2} This need lends a strong interest in fostering global health education, whether that is serving marginalized populations in one's own country or working in international initiatives.3 Much of the literature in this field focuses on the subtle differences in cultural practices and ideologies of health; however, very few academics have focused on the similarities of health care across nations. Through this narrative reflection piece, I argue that this conversation has inadvertently created implicit biases that limit Western medical students from understanding the breadth of global medicine. By downplaying the commonalities of medicine worldwide, we harm the growth of global health practices. As I packed my bags for a month-long immersion in rural island medicine in the Philippines, I did not realize that I was unprepared to face my implicitly held belief that "health in the West is best."

In my first week, I sat in a third-year community medicine class at the University of the Philippines. The professor introduced a case about JJ, a child from a rural Philippine community who delayed seeking medical care due to funds and distance, resulting in his death from sepsis following untreated tuberculosis and pneumonia. The professor then asked the class three reasons why JJ died, unrelated to physiology. I vividly remember believing I would impress this class by presenting unique social determinants of health unheard of to the students in this Eastern medical educational institution. Ultimately, I assumed the East used a biomedical model that held little space for biopsychosocial discussions.^{4,5} To my surprise, the students in the class eloquently discussed patient health literacy, preventative care, access to care, and the disconnect between traditional and Western medicine. I had unknowingly belittled the higher education system in a foreign country by assuming the complexity of my own, when in fact I should have realized that post secondary education, in all countries, is a means of teaching critical thinking beyond lay ideologies.6 The intersectionality of the social determinants of health with physiological science is taught to academics, unrelated to cultural beliefs in any society.

Shifting into the clinical setting of a rural island in the Philippines, I quickly felt common ground as I heard names of diseases and conditions discussed in my first year of medical school such as: diabetes, hypertension, tuberculosis, COPD, and HIV. Yet for some reason, this familiarity took me by surprise. The field of medicine is related to the human body, and besides a few variations, all bodies have been made biologically similar. My education had trained me to learn about the diseases of the body, so I should not have been startled that this language was familiar in a foreign country. But, I was. Somewhere along the way of traveling to a "developing country," my brain had assumed that the premise of health would be drastically different. Yet, this thought was not spontaneous. The literature in global health practices focuses largely on the need to understand areas such as tropical medicine, or infectious diseases.^{1,2} We tend to hone into how practices are different rather than similar. Although this is justified because the context in which disease occurs is important, it also subconsciously labels health concerns in the developing world as alien to the more "developed" Western world by not recognizing any overlap. This creates a barrier to approaching the collaboration that can occur between health practitioners in various countries.

Arriving in a rural community, I had anticipated a very basic approach to health care services due to limited resources. As I progressed through my rotation, the structure of the Rural Health Unit highlighted how influential and creative direction from local leadership can change the landscape of health. My preceptor, Dr. J, was the Municipal health officer to a jurisdiction of 20,000 people. Not only was he the singular physician to the community, he also oversaw all health services and public health programming. Having the doctor be both a front-line and administrative worker allowed for the most effective change in the municipality. I witnessed how Dr. J constantly developed his academic and analytical skills in public health through continuous online education, in order to improve health delivery. At the beginning of our rotation, Dr. J presented a comparison between the national evaluations of health services in the remote island community of Alcantra in 2011 and 2017. In 2011, the jurisdiction was marked deficient in more than 80% of categories, yet in 2017 it was deficient in only 2% of categories. This community had flourished under the direction of a creative and driven doctor, despite its remoteness. Even the most rural communities can experience immense change when their leadership excels-the exact principle I applied in my own country.

I walk away from my immersion in the Philippine rural health system with the understanding that global health is an interplay of health systems, rather than a dichotomy between the "developed" and "developing" worlds. Global health is not rooted in outlining the shortcomings of another country and comparing it to my standard of efficiency. It is amalgamating the strengths of all the innovative leaders in each country to develop novel ideas for the advancement of health on a global scale. The field of medicine is more universal than I had subconsciously allowed myself to believe. Seeing world health as more homogeneous rather than disparate allows us, as western learners, to

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Correspondence Bavenjit Cheema (bavenjit.cheema@alumni.ubc.ca)

use our maximal potential to contribute to international health practices in the future. It means we include knowledge gained from our own world–lens in addition to learning from others, instead of seeing the two as exclusive. I argue that to truly be a global community we need to genuinely believe that no part of the world has better mastered the art of medicine and health care, but instead approach global health from a humble standpoint of community learning.⁵ Shifting our focus from solely comparing the differences in global health to understanding similarities can negate implicit biases on superiority that develop within Western global health education.

- Tissingh EK. Medical education, global health and travel medicine: A modern student's experience. *Travel Med Infect Dis.* 2009;7:15-8.
- Serafin A. Developing an understanding between people: The key to global health. *Travel Med Infect Dis.* 2010;8:180-3.
- Easter SR, Raglan GB, Little SE, Schulkin J, Robinson JN. Perspectives on global health amongst obstetrician gynecologists: A national survey. J Int Med Res. 2016;46:586-95.
- Huang CD, Liao KC, Chung FT, Tseng HM, Fang JT, Lii SC, et al. Different perceptions of narrative medicine between Western and Chinese medicine students. *BMC Med Educ.* 2017 May 10;17(1):85.
- Abedini NC, Gruppen LD, Kolars JC, Kumagai AK. Understanding the effects of short-term international service–learning trips on medical students. *Acad Med.* 2012;87:820-8.
- Altbach PG. Comparative higher education: Knowledge, the university, and development Greenwich, Conn: Ablex Pub. Corp; 1998.

Telecommunications: The Disconnect Between Medical Practice and Medical Education

Rebecca Afford¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (29-30)

Abstract

Innovations in telecommunications have reinvented the delivery of medical education, but the change in medical curricula may be lagging behind the rapid expansion of the use of these technologies in medical practice. Specifically, the use of smartphones is a mainstay for communicating between colleagues and to inform clinical decision–making. Medical education must therefore inform students of the risks associated with securing patients' confidential information. By analyzing the current state of personal electronic device usage by medical trainees clinically, practical solutions to secure patient information and protect healthcare professionals can be implemented into undergraduate and graduate medical programs.

Telecommunication is continuously expanding its niche in medicine. Not only is it changing medical education by connecting learners hundreds of kilometers away to their peers and mentors, it is also shaping the practice of medicine by connecting professionals and patients virtually instantly. Personal devices are used almost ubiquitously to inform clinical practice and maintain communication. Because of this popularity, medical learners begin using personal devices early in their training. Medical education should prepare learners for their future medical practice, but how is the prospective use of telecommunications being taught now?

Virtual connectedness has changed the medical profession as personal devices are at arm's reach in scrub pockets and beside call-room beds. They have become reference tools and a means of communication. In a 2018 study by Guo et al., medical learners at the University of British Columbia (UBC) from all stages in their education were surveyed regarding their use of personal cellphones.¹ Out of the respondents, 98% stated that they have used text messaging as a part of their medical training, but 9.1% were not aware of the security settings on their phones.1 Furthermore, 27% said their phone was backed up to a cloud while 30.5% were unsure of their backup settings.1 The location of the cloud in question was not further specified. The study only asked about the utilization of cellular devices in practice, not tablets nor laptops. A similar survey was completed by fourth-year medical students at the University of Toronto, yielding the following results: 26% of students not having any security features on their phones, 68% believing that personal devices pose a risk for patient privacy and confidentiality, and 22% communicating patientidentifiable information via their devices.² Although the majority of learners are using password protection or encryption on their phones, text messaging can also be forwarded to other devices such as tablets, laptops, and desktops in real-time. This creates an added layer of complexity to protecting patient information. Moreover, the use of applications or "apps" was not a part of these questionnaires. A multitude of apps have been developed for exchanging and obtaining clinical information as well as informing clinical decision-making. They have become pocket resources for trainees to develop differential diagnoses, determine investigations, and guide management. Some apps allow users to communicate in groups with the added benefit of encryption, such as WhatsApp. Unfortunately, some of these apps, including the aforementioned, use servers located outside of Canada to store information which, by means of the British Columbia Personal Information Protection Act, is a breach of patient confidentiality if messages contain identifying information.3 Furthermore, these studies only captured students at two universities. Without formal, public data published for most medical schools across the country or open access to the curriculum of each school, it is difficult to compare how Canadian medical programs are addressing this topic. The University of Alberta outlines required privacy and confidentiality training for clinical, non-clinical, and research staff, but not for trainees.⁴ On the East Coast, Memorial University's Medical Student Code of Conduct states, "The discussion of a patient and the handling of their medical record shall not violate their confidence."5 This objective is clear, but relies upon the judgment of the student, which potentially may not be informed by privacy and confidentiality policies. The use of devices is inevitable and becoming increasingly more prevalent, dependent upon in practice, but with this comes increasingly more complex safeguards to protect private information.

The prevalence of telecommunications in medicine has been addressed by the Canadian Medical Protection Agency (CMPA). The CMPA recognizes the "pervasiveness and convenience" of communication via text messaging and email, but also warns that these modalities are prone to misdirecting to the wrong recipient as well as having information held in databases outside of Canada.6 Governing bodies, such as the BC College of Physicians and Surgeons, have released similar standpoints.7 Overall, the Canadian medical community recognizes the concerns associated with the prevalence of personal devices in clinical practice, but the benefits of efficiency may outweigh the perceived risks. This sentiment has been echoed by patients.8 Patients generally prioritize communication and rapid access to healthcare over the protection of their personal information.8 Despite this, the risks of confidentiality breaches are not zero. Since medical students receive clinical exposure early on in their education, medical curricula should continue to reinforce the importance of technological stewardship in medical practice.

So, what can be done? Legislation regarding privacy and confidentiality puts the onus on the custodian of sensitive information to regulate its security.⁶ Therefore, as medical professionals it is our

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada Correspondence Rebecca Afford (*r.afford@alumni.ubc.ca*)

responsibility to not only be guardians of our patients' wellness, but also of their privacy and personal information. Currently, the Faculty of Medicine at UBC provides introductory modules as well as lectures during transitioning periods of medical education to address issues regarding personal devices and personal information of patients. UBC Information Technology has created the Privacy and Information Security Management (PrISM) Program, which provides online modules that provide step-by-step, device-specific instructions to encrypt and secure personal devices, as well as an overview of privacy and confidentiality policies.9 These modules are available to any UBC student or staff. As of August 2018, all UBC employees, including clinical clerks, are now required to complete these modules.¹⁰ As most Canadian medical programs have adopted cased-based or problem-based learning sessions into their curriculum, application of safe telecommunication practices may be woven into these regular small-group sessions. Furthermore, attending physicians and residents have the opportunity to impart conceptual and practical knowledge to students during clinical experiences. Physicians in these leadership positions can role model and reinforce secure telecommunication practices to encourage students to consolidate previous teaching on the clinical use of personal devices. Practical experience handling patient information electronically is especially pertinent for the clerkship and elective years. The next generation of healthcare professionals will need to adapt to an evolving tech-savvy climate, which is providing an exciting, innovative means of connecting patients and providers.

Personal devices, especially smartphones, are proving to be just as, if not more pervasive than a stethoscope in modern medicine. Current medical education has relied mainly on didactic learning to present this information to medical trainees. Unlike the practical physical examination and procedural skills that are routine in medicine, the practical training to safely use telecommunications is lacking. By practicing technological stewardship, we can further foster a trusting relationship with our patients and further explore the possibilities of these devices in medical practice.

- Guo D, Phan N, Ho K, Pawlovich J, Kitson N. Clinical texting among medical trainees of the University of British Columbia. J Cutan Med Surg. 2018 Jul/ Aug;22(4):384-389.
- Tran K, Morra D, Lo V, Quan S, Abrams H, Wu R. Medical students and personal smartphones in the clinical environment: the impact on confidentiality of personal health information and professionalism. *J Med Internet Res.* 2014 May;16(5):e132.
- Personal Information Protection Act, BC [Internet]. Chapter 63 [cited 2018 Oct 7]. Available from: http://www.bclaws.ca/EPLibraries/bclaws_new/document/ID/freeside/00_03063_01
- University of Alberta Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry. Privacy and security training requirements by role [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 25]. Available from: https://cloudfront.ualberta.ca/-/media/medicine/aboutus/informatics/privacy-and-security-training-requirements-by-role-nov-12-2015.pdf
- Memorial University Faculty of Medicine. Medical Student Code of Conduct [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 25]. Available from: https://www. med.mun.ca/getdoc/baacb6b5-c2af-4647-9b15-5532af540643/Medical-Student-Code-of-Conduct.aspx
- Canadian Medical Protective Association. Using electronic communications, protecting privacy [Internet]. 2013 [updated 2016 Jan; cited 2018 Oct 7]. Available from: https://www.cmpa-acpm.ca/en/advice-publications/browse-articles/2013/using-electronic-communications-protecting-privacy
 British Columbia College of Physicians and Surgeons. Practice Standard. Tele-
- British Columbia College of Physicians and Surgeons. Practice Standard. Telemedicine [Internet]. 2015 [updated 2018 Mar; cited 2018 Oct 7]. Available from: https://www.cpsbc.ca/files/pdf/PSG-Telemedicine.pdf
- Walker J, Ahkern DK, Le LX, Delbanco T. Insights for internists: "I want the computer to know who I am". *J Gen Intern Med.* 2009 Jun 24(6):727-732.
 The University of British Columbia. Privacy Matters @ UBC. Fundamentals
- The University of British Columbia. Privacy Matters @ UBC. Fundamentals Training. [cited 2018 Oct 7]. Available from: https://privacymatters.ubc.ca/ fundamentals-training
- Ono S. Data security new requirements for UBC faculty and staff [Internet]. The University of British Columbia; 2018 Oct 11 [cited 25 Nov 2018]. Available from: https://faculty-staff.ubc.ca/2018/10/11/data-security-new-requirements-for-ubc-faculty-and-staff/

Highlighting Current Needs in Addressing Youth Mental Health in British Columbia

Tribesty Nguyen^{*1}, Vivian W. L. Tsang^{*1}, Privia A. Randhawa¹, Maya Rosenkrantz¹, Muhamed Amirie¹, Faizan Bhatia¹, Laila Drabkin¹, Jowon L. Kim¹, Aaron S. Leung¹, Jacky K. K. Tang¹, Tanjot K. Singh¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (31-33)

Abstract

In 2017, undergraduate medical students in BC decided as a collective to advocate at the provincial level on the subject of youth mental health. This paper outlines key gaps and evidence–based recommendations to improve BC's youth mental health system, including: the introduction of mental health literacy programs for primary and secondary schools as a form of primary prevention; implementing simplified data collection and information sharing to facilitate coordinated care between different service providers; initiating one–stop shop and place–based models of care for improving accessibility; and reemphasizing a need to meet the Truth and Reconciliation Committee's Calls to Action regarding Indigenous health.

Introduction

Children and youth (0-24 years old, as defined by the United Nations) are vulnerable to mental illness, particularly due to the extensive biological, personal, and social development of early life.¹ Indeed, over half of young adults reported their mental illness first appeared during childhood.² Therefore, investing in positive mental health early on in life represents an opportunity to develop lifelong mental wellness.³

In BC, the prevalence of mental illness in children and youth is estimated to be 12.6%,⁴ with depression affecting as many as 3.2 million youths aged 12 to 19 in Canada.⁵ Although many service providers are already taking steps in supporting youth in BC, we aim to highlight evidence–based improvements that should be made in the areas of primary prevention, service coordination, accessibility, and Indigenous health.

Primary Prevention

Longitudinal studies show that the majority of mental illnesses arise in childhood and adolescence.⁶⁻⁸ Evidence also suggests that classroombased programs can substantially improve mental health.⁹ Therefore, mental health literacy programs that are implemented in schools may help to prevent initial occurrences of mental illnesses, leading to an improvement in mental health outcomes and a reduction in need for later crisis management.^{4,9-12}

An example of this is FRIENDS, an evidence–based cognitive behavioural primary prevention program in BC, offered at three different time points: grades K-1, 4-5, and 6-7. This program was endorsed by the World Health Organization as an effective management program for anxiety^{13,14} and taught skills such as emotional awareness, problem solving, and interpersonal communication.¹⁵ A program evaluation of FRIENDS found significantly improved levels of anxiety and self–esteem, and a qualitative assessment found the vast majority of participants thought the program was fun (81%), would recommend it to a friend (77.4%), had learned new skills (72.8%), and had used their skills to help someone else (41.1%).¹⁵

In June 2018, the Ministry of Children and Family Development (MCFD) discontinued its license with the FRIENDS Program. The

reason for this discontinuation is not clear, but there is now a gap in evidence–based mental health education available for grades K-7. Furthermore, in secondary schools, only North and West Vancouver have integrated mental health courses in their curriculum.¹⁶ These shortages result in a significant need for primary prevention programming aimed and delivered to BC youth.

Coordination of Mental Health Services

There are multiple youth mental health providers across BC, spanning local health authorities, the MCFD, the Ministry of Health, private psychology clinics, school counsellors, family physicians, and community agencies. These service providers lack infrastructure to efficiently communicate and coordinate with one another, especially due to legislation that restricts the sharing of information.^{17,18}

Strategies to increase the coordination of services must be collaborative between different providers. For instance, the Responsive Intersectoral Children's Health, Education, and Research Initiative and the BC Children's Hospital Emergency Department's Vulnerable Youth Working Group has developed a "Situation, History, Assessment, Recommendation, Disposition Script for Community–Emergency Department Communication."¹⁹ This facilitates direct communication and timely sharing of critical information between front–line community agencies and BC Children's Hospital. Such initiatives could be used as a framework for efficient and timely information sharing amongst other service providers.

Coupled with an additional lack of a centralized data collection system between the various service providers—and without simplified access to and analysis of those data—a significant gap in standardizing and enabling the coordination of services will persist. Creating reliable province–wide infrastructure for mental health data collection and information sharing has the potential to enhance both the coordination and quality of youth mental health care in BC.¹⁸

Accessibility of Mental Heath Services

Approximately 35% of youth aged 10-19 had their first contact with BC's mental health system in an emergency department,^{20, 21} indicating that youth may be waiting until a moment of crisis before receiving care. Accessing the myriad services can be difficult for youth, especially for

^{&#}x27;MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Correspondence to Vivian W. L. Tsang (vivianwltsang@alumni.ubc.ca)

those without the means to navigate services located outside of their community.

Evidence-based recommendations to resolve these issues include taking a "place-based" approach to services, where mental health professionals meet with youth at locations where they spend most of their time, such as schools and community centres.^{22, 23} School-based mental health services have been shown to improve access to mental health and substance use services by minimizing physical, financial, and social barriers to accessing care.24-26

Evidence also suggests that youth prefer to access services in one location, where a place-based model can also serve as a "one-stop shop."27-29 An example of this is the Foundry, a provincial initiative run by Providence Health Care, which delivers primary care, mental health, and social services in centres throughout BC.30,31 An early satisfaction survey of the first Foundry Centre (previously known as the Granville Youth Health Centre) found a high level of satisfaction with youth-friendliness and the benefits of integrated services. These results mirror the experiences of other "one-stop shop" integrated health centres around the world, including Headspace Centres in Australia and Headstrong Centres in Ireland.³²⁻³³ Addressing the issue of access to youth mental health services is imperative to closing gaps in care. It is important for all youth in BC to have the care they need, when they need it. A placebased approach is a way of increasing access to mental health resources for youth in BC.

Indigenous Youth Mental Health

First Nations, Métis, and Inuit populations experience far greater health inequities than non-Indigenous Canadians.³⁴⁻³⁷ Multiple factors contribute to this inequity, including the intergenerational effects of residential schools, familial deaths, racism, and the dismantling of culture.34,37 Indigenous youth suffer a disproportionately high burden of mental illness: for example, the suicide rate among all Indigenous youth aged 15-24 is 5-6 times the national average, and as high as 11 times the national average amongst Inuit youth.⁶

In 2015, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) published 94 Calls to Action³⁷ to address the legacy of residential schools and strive towards reconciliation. Three of the Calls to Action (#22, 23, 24) can be specifically achieved within the medical community through collective and individual action across workplaces, hospitals, medical schools, clinics, and health authorities. The Calls to Action include concrete steps that can be taken, such as recognizing the value of Indigenous healing and integrating practices collaboratively with traditional healers and Elders; increasing the recruitment and retention of Indigenous healthcare providers; developing continuing medical education courses in Indigenous health; and providing mandatory education and training for current physicians and medical students on the colonial history of Canada, Indigenous rights, anti-racism, and applied cultural safety. By addressing the TRC's Calls to Action, healthcare professionals can collectively work towards reconciliation and support the mental health and wellbeing of Indigenous youth in BC.

Conclusion

The youth mental health services spectrum in BC is complex and multifactorial. It requires systemic change and a holistic implementation of primary prevention, improved coordination and accessibility of services, comprehensive substance use and addiction services, and a collective effort to meet the needs of Indigenous youth. Specifically, there is a great need to expand primary prevention programs by implementing appropriate mental health education into the school curriculum for students of all ages. In conjunction, prioritizing the establishment and dissemination of infrastructure for data collection and information sharing can ensure coordination and communication between disparate mental health services. This concept can be further expedited by place-based approaches to youth mental health services that emphasize schools and community centres as early access points. Services should also be expanded to support a full spectrum of substance use and supportive recovery services for youth who are living with concurrent and complex mental health disorders. New models of clinical management can focus on building therapeutic relationships through youth-centred, trauma-informed practices. In particular, collaborations with Indigenous communities to address and respond to the TRC's Calls to Action #22, 23, and 24 will contribute to the ability to provide youth mental health services in culturally responsive ways.

Limitations

The intent of this piece is to highlight some of the gaps in services from prevention to treatment of youth mental health. As this is not an exhaustive list, there are many issues and policies that were not discussed that could be the focus of future policy development and research. Of particular note are the issues of adverse childhood events, role of the family in youth health, mental health and addiction amongst youth both within and aging out of government care, as well as issues of secure care, which should be further reviewed.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge the work of the University of British Columbia Faculty of Medicine's Political Advocacy Committee (PAC), whose lobby paper was reworked for this publication. In particular, thank you to the following individuals who provided research and writing support: Raymond Cho, David Min Woo Jung, Valerie Lai, Dennis Ma, Devon Mitchell, and Jacqueline Sproule. The original lobby paper was presented to the BC Government on February 26, 2018.

- World Health Organization. Adolescent development [Internet]. Geneva: World Health World Health Organization. Adolescent development [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 [cited 2018 Jan 27]. Available from: http://www.who.int/maternal_ child_adolescent/topics/adolescence/development/en/ Mental Health Commission of Canada. The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A Youth Perspective. Ottawa: Health Canada; 2018 p. 8. Accessed 30 April 2018. Available from:
- https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-07/Youth_Strategy_Eng_2016.pdf
- Sawyer S, Afifi R, Bearinger L, Blakemore S, Dick B, Ezeh A, et al. Adolescence: a foun-3. dation for future health. Lancet. 2012 Apr 25;379(9826):1630-1640.
- Waddell C, Shepherd C, Schwartz C, Barican J. Child and youth mental disorders: prevalence and evidence-based interventions. Vancouver: Children's Health Policy Centre; 2014 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: http://childhealthpolicy.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/14-06-17-Waddell-Report-2014.06.16.pdf
- Canadian Mental Health Association. Fast facts about mental illness. CMHA National 5 [cited 2018 February 14]. Available from: https://cmha.ca/about-cmha/fast-facts-aboutmental-illness
- Giroux R, Homer K, Kassam S, Pokrupa T, Robinson J, Sauve A, et al. Mental health and 6. suicide in Indigenous communities in Canada. Canadian Federation of Medical Students; 2017 [cited 2018 January 27]. Available from: https://www.cfms.org/files/position-pa-pers/sgm_2017_indigenous_mental_health.pdf
- Kim-Cohen J, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Harrington H, Milne BJ, Poulton R. Prior juvenile diagnoses in adults with mental disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003 Jul 1;60(7):709. Jones P. Adult mental health disorders and their age at onset. *Br J Psychiatry*. 7.
- 8. , 2013;202(s54):s5-s10. 0
- Conley CS, Durlak JA, Dickson DA. An evaluative review of outcome research on universal mental health promotion and prevention programs for higher education students. J Am Coll Heal. 2013 Jul;61(5):286–301.
- 10 Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs S and T. Out of the shadows at last: trans-

forming mental health, mental illness and addiction services in Canada. Ottawa; 2006 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/ default/files/out_of_the_shadows_at_last_- full_0_0.pdf Evidence Exchange Network for Mental Health and Addictions. Mental health promo-

- 11. Evidence Exchange rection for her within Frank index provide the second ca/resource/mental-health-promotion-prevention-and-early-intervention-through-campus-interventions-and
- 12. Waddell C, Hua JM, Garland OM, Peters RD, McEwan K. Preventing mental disorders in children: a systematic review to inform policy-making. *Can J Public Health*;98(3):166–73. B.C. FRIENDS Program. [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://healthy-
- 13. schoolsB.C..ca/program/327/B.C.-friends-program.
- Sawyer KA. A qualitative study on the implementation of the friends anxiety manage 14 ment and mental health promotion program. Trinity Western University; 2011 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://www.twu.ca/sites/default/files/sawyerkafui.pdf
- Province of British Columbia. FRIENDS Program in B.C. Schools. Province of Brit-15. ish Columbia [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/managing-your-health/mental-health-substance-use/child-teen-mentalhealth/friends-program
- West Vancouver Schools. New program to teach all North Shore youth mental health literacy. West Vancouver Schools [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: http://west-16. vancouverschools.ca/news/new-program-to-teach-all-north-shore-youth-mental-healthliteracy
- 17. Legacy Magazine. Collaborative toolbox. Legacy Magazine [cited 2018 February 12]. Available from: http://www.collaborativetoolbox.ca/legacy-magazine Representative for Children and Youth. Still waiting first-hand experiences with youth
- 18. mental health services in B.C. 2013 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https:// www.rcyB.C..ca/sites/default/files/documents/pdf/reports_publications/still_waiting bdf
- Sotindjo T, Moore E, Vo D, Narayan B. Bridging care for vulnerable youth. Adverse Childhood Experiences Summit, Vancouver, BC, 2017 November 14. 19.
- CYMHSU Collaborative. Shared care. [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: http:// www.sharedcareB.C.ca/initiatives/cymhsu-collaborative 20
- 21. Jones W, Butler A. Toward quality mental health services in Canada: a comparison of performance indicators across 5 provinces technical report. Vancouver, BC: Centre for Applied Research in Mental Health & Addiction (CARMHA); 2017 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://www.sfu.ca/content/dam/sfu/carmha/resources/2017-toward-quality-mh/prov_indic_technical_report_final.pdf
- Langer DA, Wood JJ, Wood PA, Garland AF, Landsverk J, Hough RL. Mental health service use in schools and non-school-based outpatient settings: comparing predictors of service use. *School Ment Health*. 2015 Sep 4;7(3):161–73. 22
- Belmont Secondary School. Wellness Centre at Belmont. [cited 2018 February 11]. Avail-23.
- able from: http://belmont.web.sd62.B.C..ca/nlc/wellness-centre-at-belmont/ Select Standing Committee on Children and Youth, Legislative Assembly Province of British Columbia. Final report: child and youth mental health in British Columbia, 24 concrete actions for systemic change. 2016 [cited 2018 February 2018]. Available from:

https://www.leg.bc.ca/content/CommitteeDocuments/40th-parliament/4th-session/ cay/reports/PDF/Report_SSC-CY-40-4-3_Concrete-Actions-For_Systemic_Change.

- Ministry of Health Communications. New funding to help create team based primary services throughout B.C. Kamloops, Canada; 2017 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2017HLTH0074-001006 25.
- Garcia I, Vasiliou C, Penketh K. Listen up! Person-centered approaches to help young people experiencing mental health and emotional problems. London, UK: Mental Health 26. Foundation; 2006 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://www.mentalhealth. org.uk/sites/default/files/Listen_up_web_version_0.pdf General Practice Services Committee. School-based Wellness Centre in Nanaimo breaks
- 27. down barriers and helps adolescents access primary care. 2018 [cited 2018 June 22]. Available from: http://www.gpscbc.ca/our-impact/team-based-care/school-based-wellness-
- centre-nanaimo-breaks-down-barriers-and-helps Hetrick SE, Bailey AP, Smith KE, Malla A, Mathias S, Singh SP, et al. Integrated (one-stop shop) youth health care: best available evidence and future directions. *Med J Aust.* 2017 28. Nov 20;207(10):S5-18
- 29.
- Nov 20;20/(10):So=18 Murphy R, Hutton P. Practitioner review: therapist variability, patient-reported therapeu-tic alliance, and clinical outcomes in adolescents undergoing mental health treatment a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2018 Jan;59(1):5–19 Representative for Children and Youth. A Review of Youth Substance Use Services in B.C. 2016 May [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://rcybc.ca/sites/default/ files/documents/pdf/reports_publications/rcy_reviewyouthsubstance-final.pdf Founders/ 2018 [cited 2018 head 2018 hea 30.
- 31. Foundry. Who we are. 2018 [cited 2018 June 22]. Available from: https://foundrybc.ca/ who-we-are/
- Stallard P, Simpson N, Anderson S, Carter T, Osborn C, Bush S. An evaluation of the 32. FRIENDS programme: a cognitive behaviour therapy intervention to promote emotional
- resilience. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2005;90(10), pp.1016-1019. British Columbia Integrated Youth Services Initiatives. Rationale and overview. 2015 [cited 2018 Nov 30]. Available from: http://bciysi.ca/assets/downloads/bc-iysi-back-33. ground-document.pdf
- Reading C, Wien F. Health inequalities and social determinants of Aboriginal peoples' health. 2013 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://www.ccnsa-nccah.ca/ 34 docs/determinants/RPT-HealthInequalities-Reading-Wien-EN.pdf
- Allan B, Smylie J. The role of racism in the health and well-being of Indigenous peo-ples in Canada Executive Summary. 2015 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: 35 http://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Summary-First-Peoples-Second-Class-Treatment-Final.pdf
- Cox J. Access to child and youth mental health services in B.C.: barriers, recommenda-tions, and strategies for improvement. 2017 [cited 2018 February 11]. Available from: https://dspace.library.uvic.ca/bitstream/handle/1828/8010/Cox_Julia_MA_2017.pd-36. f?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- The Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Honouring the truth, reconcil-ing for the future. 2015 [cited 2018 February 21]. Available from: http://www.trc.ca/ websites/trcinstitution/File/2015/Findings/Exec_Summary_2015_05_31_web_o.pdf 37.

The Importance of the Anatomical Sciences in Canadian Medical Education: A UBC Medical Student's Perspective

James Cairns¹

Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (34-35)

Abstract

In the pre–clerkship years of medical school, morphological sciences, including gross anatomy, neuroanatomy, histology, radiology, and pathology, are taught as part of an integrated curriculum along with small group case–based learning sessions (CBL), didactic lectures, small and large group seminars, and family medicine and clinical skills sessions. There is a large amount of material that students must learn in the pre–clerkship years of medical school and a limited number of hours each week in which to schedule all the necessary activities for the different components of the integrated medical school curriculum. This commentary reviews evidence that highlights the importance of anatomy, histology, pathology, and radiology in developing the clinical skills of trainees transitioning into clinical learning environments. In addition, this commentary will briefly highlight methods by which the University of British Columbia (UBC) has integrated these subjects into their new curriculum with increasing pressure to decrease curricular time devoted to the anatomical sciences. Regardless of medical students' backgrounds and previous degrees, a strong foundation in anatomy, histology, pathology, and radiology is important for trainees to develop their clinical acumen in diagnosing, treating, and managing the wide variety of clinical presentations they will encounter in their clerkships, residencies, and future clinical practices.

The overall structure and framework of Canadian medical school curricula

Over the last decade UBC and other Canadian medical schools have designed and implemented new curricula, which are now based on "spiral models" that integrate several subjects and content areas into longitudinal curricula over three or four years of medical training. Many medical school curricula are based on standards put forth in the historic 1910 Flexner report entitled, "Medical education in the United States and Canada."¹ The contents of this report laid the framework for the classical model of two years of basic science training followed by two years of clinical training (called "clinical clerkship") still seen in practice in most medical schools across Canada.¹ Despite the large increase in knowledge in medical sciences over the last several decades, the overall structure of medical school composed of two years of pre–clinical training followed by two years of clinical clerkship has remained relatively unchanged in Canadian medical schools over the last century.^{2,3}

Canadian schools are also faced with the challenge of providing their trainees with foundational knowledge and expertise in areas including: population and public health, healthcare policy development, medical technology, and psychosocial determinants of health.⁴ These are also necessary areas of training for future professionals in modern interdisciplinary healthcare systems.⁴ However, it is important to acknowledge that medical trainees still need to develop a solid foundation and understanding of applied anatomy, radiology, histology, and pathology in their medical school and residency program training.⁵ The amount of material and domains in which students must demonstrate proficiency is increasing, and this in turn, has been reflected by the implementation of competency–based training programs across the country. In Canada, competency–based medical school and residency programs are based on developing proficiency in the seven core CanMEDS domains. The CanMEDS framework put forth by the Royal College of Physicians and

Correspondence to James Cairns (j.cairns@alumni.ubc.ca) Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) was updated twice in 2005 and 2015 to reflect changing competencies that medical school graduates need for clinical practice. 68

The previous and current medical school curricula at UBC

At UBC, a curriculum update occurred in 2015 when the "blockbased curriculum" was replaced with a revised "spiral curriculum." The previous curriculum saw medical students learning about various organ systems in discrete units with the relevant anatomy, histology, pathology, and radiology of organ systems taught in parallel with small group sessions, lectures, seminars, and clinical skills sessions. The new curriculum at UBC organizes the curriculum by weekly clinical topics, such as pneumonia and sepsis. Morphological sciences like anatomy and histo-pathology labs are still present, but are integrated with CBL sessions, lectures, seminars, clinical skills, and family medicine sessions to make up the overall activities for each week. Since pre-clerkship is organized around different clinical practice themes, students will revisit various subjects repeatedly throughout the first two years of their training. Each subsequent encounter with topics becomes increasingly more complex and requires integration of different ideas, skills, and knowledge as compared to previous encounters with the material. Both "block-based" and "spiral" curricula have strengths and weaknesses in teaching subject matter to students and, ultimately, individual students have differing learning preferences. With a finite amount of curricular time, increasing amounts of material that students must learn, and limited resources (financial and non-financial), the amount of time devoted to the anatomical sciences in medical education has decreased over time.9-11

The importance of the morphological sciences in medical school

Several studies have cited reasons for the noted decline in curricular time devoted to anatomical sciences. Consistent themes that have emerged

¹MD Student, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

from studies include the fact that the duration of medical school has remained static at three to four years in length, but the amount of material that students must learn in this time period has increased, cutting into time previously devoted to the anatomical sciences.¹² Additionally, resources required to run large labs has placed increasing financial and non-financial pressures on medical schools that may have contributed to a decline in curricular time devoted to these subjects in recent years.9

Studies looking at the role of morphological sciences in medical education have found that training in subspecialties like surgery and radiology requires a deeper understanding of sciences like anatomy, but all specialists in medicine can benefit from comprehensive training in the anatomical sciences.13 A recent literature review conducted by Hefler and Ramnanan addressed the question of whether anatomical sciences in medical schools support the development of core CanMEDS competencies of trainees.14 The review found 71 studies linking relevant descriptions of CanMEDS traits to medical education in anatomy and related morphological sciences.14 Furthermore, medical training in the anatomical sciences was linked to the development of skills in the domains of "Medical Expert" (31 studies), "Collaborator" (12 studies), and "Scholar" (11 studies).14 Most papers found in the review were descriptive in nature, collected data using student surveys, and were not randomized controlled studies.14

Despite methodological shortcomings of some studies, it was noted that exposure to anatomical sciences, like gross anatomy, improves the clinical reasoning, physical exam skills, surgical skills, and ultrasound techniques of trainees.14 Evidence has shown that a multidisciplinary approach to teaching morphological sciences in medicine leads to students having a better appreciation of the scope of practice of other healthcare providers, like nurses and physiotherapists, and can improve the professional identity of healthcare trainees.¹⁵ Research has shown that anatomical sciences can also improve the research and teaching abilities of medical students.16 Nnodim found that students who were involved in teaching anatomy to their peers performed significantly better on their practical exams as compared to a control group.¹⁶

Methods used to integrate anatomical sciences into the revised UBC medical school curriculum

Schools across Canada have rolled out revised curricula to address the new competency-based requirements of medical graduates. A strategy used by UBC to continue to provide anatomical sciences training to students is to combine subjects like histology and pathology into integrated histo-pathology laboratories.¹⁷ Students first learn about the normal structure of tissues and organs and then learn about important pathologies that occur in the same tissues.¹⁷ The goal of the integrated histo-pathology curriculum is to allow students to better appreciate the architecture of tissues in order to develop a deeper understanding of the effects that pathologies have in the same tissues.¹⁷ Feedback from first year UBC students was mainly positive regarding the integration of anatomical sciences, and most students agreed that integrating pathology with histology highlighted the clinical relevance of histology to their training.¹⁷

Medical schools also used a similar integration approach to teach students other core sciences, like gross anatomy and radiology. UBC has taught gross anatomy through cadaver dissection and radiology in integrated lab sessions since 2011.18 UBC also developed a radiology app for smart phones and is using an anatomy visualization table to correlate 2D and 3D images of anatomical structures in CT scans with material students encounter during anatomy labs.18 The utilization of technology in integrated anatomy-radiology labs is intended to improve medical students' understanding of anatomical relationships.18 It aims to give students an appreciation of the applications of gross anatomy and radiology in future clinical practice, where they will be interpreting the results of various imaging modalities to make treatment and management decisions in consultation with their patients.¹⁸

Conclusion

These are a few strategies being used to maintain anatomical sciences in the revised UBC medical curriculum, and it will be interesting to see what novel strategies educators will develop to optimize teaching of these subjects in the future. With increasing pressures on schools to teach more material in a finite time period and decreasing curricular time devoted to the anatomical sciences, it will be important for educators to continue to provide a solid foundation in the morphological sciences. The importance of anatomy in the development of clinical skills of future physicians cannot be overstated, and with new competency-based programs, the necessity of good anatomical sciences teaching in medical education is arguably more important now than ever before.

- Flexner A. Medical Education in the United States and Canada: A report to the Carne-1 gie Foundation for the advancement of teaching. New York: Carnegie Foundation;1910.
- Cooke M, Irby DM, Sullivan W, Ludmerer KM. American medical education 100 years 2.
- after the Flexner report. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(13):1339 1344. Irby DM, Cooke M, O'Brien BC. Calls for reform of medical education by the Carnegie Foundation for the advancement of teaching: 1910 and 2010. Acad Med. 2010;85(2):220 3.
- Maeshiro R, Johnson I, Koo D, Parboosingh J, Carney JK, Gesundheit N, et al. Medical education for a healthier population: Reflections on the Flexner Report from a public health perspective. *Acad Med.* 2010;85(2):211 219. 4. 5
- Brauer DG, Ferguson KJ. The integrated curriculum in medical education: AMEE Guide No. 96. *Med Teach.* 2015;7: 312 322. Frank JR, Snell L, Sherbino J. CanMEDS 2015 physician competency framework. Ottawa: 6.
- Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada;2015. 7.
- Ringsted C, Hansen TL, Davis D, Scherpbier A. Are some of the challenging aspects of the CanMEDS roles valid outside Canada? *Med Educ.* 2006;40(8):807 815. 8.
- Sanfilippo T. Report on the future of medical education in Canada. Kingston: Queen's University;2015.
- Singh R, Shane Tubbs R, Gupta K, Singh M, Jones DG, Kumar R. Is the decline of human anatomy hazardous to medical education/profession? A review. Surg Radiol Anat. 9. 2015:37(10):1257 1265
- Whelan A, Leddy JJ, Mindra S, Matthew Hughes JD, El-Bialy S. Student perceptions of 10. independent versus facilitated small group learning approaches to compressed medical anatomy education. *Anat Sci Educ.* 2016; 9(1):40 51.
- 11.
- Vogl W. The state of gross anatomy. UBCMJ. 2017;8(2):4. Doukas DJ, Kirch DG, Brigham TP, Barzansky BM, Wear S, Carrese JA. Transforming educational accountability in medical ethics and humanities education toward profession-12. alism. Acad Med. 2015;90(6):738 743.
- Leveritt S, McKnight G, Edwards K, Pratten M, Merrick D. What anatomy is clinically 13.
- useful and when should we be teaching it? *Anat Sci Educ.* 2016;9(5):468 475. Hefler J, Ramnanan CJ. Can CanMEDS competencies be developed in medical school anatomy laboratories? A literature review. Int J Med Educ. 2017;8:231 238.
- 15 Fernandes AR, Palombella A, Salfi J, Wainman B. Dissecting through barriers: A mixed-methods study on the effect of interprofessional education in a dissection course with healthcare professional students. *Anat Sci Educ.* 2015;8(4):305 316.
- 16. Nnodim JO. A controlled trial of peer-teaching in practical gross anatomy. Clin Anat. 1997:10:112 117.
- Pinder K, Nimmo M, Cooper D, Allard M, Yule H, Maurice S. Integrated histology and pathology education in the renewed UBC M.D. undergraduate program. *EASEB J*. 17. 2017;31(1): Abstract Number 583.14.
- Darras K, Reeves J, Roston A, Hu J, Nicolaou S, Forster B, et al. An authentic link to the clinic: Implementation of an integrated anatomy-radiology curriculum. *FASEB J*. 18. 2017;31(1): Abstract Number 737.2.

Coordinating Student Academic Advocacy in the UBC Medical Undergraduate Program through the Medical Education Committee (MEC)

Eric Y. Zhao¹, Kevin Nguyen¹, Jesse Tinker¹, Daphne Lu¹, John Liu¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (36-38)

Abstract

The past two decades have seen rapid shifts in medical education practices. Within a learner-centred paradigm, medical students play an increasingly important role in educational policy and curriculum decisions. Prior to 2016, there was no centralized process for nominating students to serve on decision-making committees of the Faculty of Medicine. The Medical Education Committee (MEC) arose in response to the growing demand for a fair and accountable selection process, as well as to ensure that viewpoints presented to the Faculty are representative of student opinion. This commentary will discuss MEC's formation, operations, and mission. We show how MEC's actions aim to promote student engagement and coordinate academic advocacy in a transparent and accountable manner.

Background and Motivation

core mandate of any medical Faculty is to train future healthcare professionals. Medical students are thus a key stakeholder group within a Faculty, especially with regard to its excellence in health education. Student participation in university governance offers many potential benefits.1 Functionally, student engagement provides experiential perspectives on Faculty decisions. Student leaders also serve as accessible contacts for information dissemination and honest dialogue among peers on educational issues such as curriculum renewal. Moreover, healthcare disciplines are unique in that learners participate directly in patient care, and their feedback can therefore contribute to gradual system improvements with potential societal impact. Involvement in Faculty governance also provides personal and professional development opportunities, aligning with nearly all competencies of the CanMEDS 2005 framework, especially the Professional, Communicator, Collaborator, and Health Advocate domains.2

At the University of British Columbia (UBC), the nature of student involvement in university governance varies throughout the Faculty of Medicine. The role of some students is to provide feedback on policy or program proposals, especially on committees whose role is administrative oversight. Other students contribute to specific mandates such as reviewing applications (e.g., Admissions Subcommittee or Research Access Committee). Still others are engaged in bottom–up strategic development roles, such as the implementation working groups for the Faculty of Medicine 2016-2021 Strategic Plan.³ Some students serve as part of their responsibilities as an elected official of the Medical Undergraduate Society (MUS), while others are appointed directly to a committee to represent their peers.

At the 2016 Annual General Meeting of the Canadian Federation of Medical Students (September 24-25, 2016), presidents of the Canadian Medical Student Societies discussed the topic of student representation on medical education committees. The minutes of that discussion have been summarized compactly in Figure 1. Notably, many student societies utilize a combination of multiple systems to choose their representatives. The figure also reflects one update to the system used by the McGill Medical Student Society, which we were made aware of when Medical Student Society presidents were recently repolled in November 2018.

Currently at UBC, 80 Medical Education Committee (MEC)– appointed students serve as representatives on 18 different Faculty of Medicine committees (Table 1). Prior to 2016, students were appointed as needed by specific MUS Executives upon request by the Faculty of



Selection Processes

A Council executives serve designated roles on committees

- **B** Council members appoint representatives at their discretion
- C Faculty members appoint representatives at their discretion
- D Open applications, decided by lottery
- E Open applications, each reviewed by designated council member

F Open applications, blinded and rated by multiple reviewers

Figure 1 | Systems employed by Canadian Medical Student Societies to appoint student representatives to Faculty of Medicine decision–making committees. This information was extracted from minutes of the Presidents' Roundtable discussions at the 2016 Annual General Meeting of the Canadian Federation of Medical Students and may not perfectly reflect current practices.

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Correspondence to Eric Y. Zhao (eric@eyzhao.com)

	Student
Committee	Seats
Curriculum Integration Advisory Council	1
Faculty Development: Clinical Decision Making	4
Internal Medicine Undergraduate Education Committee (UEC)	8
Joint Occupational Health & Safety Committee	2
Learning Environment Advisory Council	1
MD Admissions Subcommittee	2
MEDD 419 FLEX	7
Northern and Rural MD Admissions Subcommittee	4
Pediatric Undergraduate Education Committee	5
Portfolio Advisory Group	6
Recommendations Implementation Committee for the Dean's Task Force on Mistreatment in the Learning Environment (RIC)	5
Research Committee	1
Student Affairs Advisory Council	18
Student Assessment Subcommittee	4
Transition to Postgraduate Practice	2
UBC Health Student Caucus	2
UBC Medicine Family Practice	4
Undergraduate Medical Education Committee	4

 Table 1 | The number of MEC-appointed student seats on each Faculty of Medicine committee. Note that seats filled ex officio, such as by elected MUS councillors, are not included.

Medicine. Students did not have equal access to these opportunities, as the representatives were often appointed on the decision of a single MUS executive or chosen based on students' existing connections with the Faculty. Communication between the MUS and student representatives was inconsistent, and communication between representatives on different committees was rare. In 2016, the MUS partnered with a number of engaged students to form MEC in order to coordinate student representation. In this commentary, we outline the core goals of MEC, outline its operations, and describe future directions.

Core Principles of The Medical Education Committee

MEC operates on four core goals:

- 1. Facilitate communication among students to ensure effective partnership between the MUS and the Faculty of Medicine via unified, coordinated, and consistent representation of the interests of medical students.
- Recruit student representatives in a fair, efficient, and accessible manner while promoting the personal and professional development of all those involved.
- 3. Ensure accountability by streamlining the timely communication of relevant information to the medical student body in a transparent manner.
- 4. Support student representatives as leaders and communicators so that they can effectively represent the thoughts, views, and needs of their class.

MEC was approved in April 2016 at the Annual General Meeting of the MUS. It was founded entirely by students under the purview of the MUS, without oversight or direction by the Faculty of Medicine. Policy development occurred in a grassroots, collaborative manner through a series of discussions between students engaged in disparate Faculty subcommittees and the MUS. The membership of the MEC executive committee is approved by the MUS annually and consists of student volunteers tasked with facilitating a fair nominations process and maintaining open channels of communication with the MUS and the Faculty of Medicine. The MEC chair serves as a nonvoting MUS council member under the MUS VP Academic portfolio. Accordingly, the MUS VP Academic Sr. and Jr. sit on the MEC as voting members.

For all committees within its purview, the MEC invites student applications through a standardized form. It then recruits an ad hoc selection board comprised of MUS executives and a previous representative on the relevant committee, who review anonymized applications. Once selected, contact information for all student



Figure 2 | Tallies of student applications for Faculty of Medicine committees via MEC. (A) The number of committees available annually varies depending on duration of the committee's student terms. Engagement has consistently been maintained at 5 to 6 applications per opportunity. (B) The number of applications to each committee varies, with most receiving 1-15 applications, but some receiving over 20.

representatives is listed on the MEC website. MEC is also responsible for working with the MUS VP Academics to ensure that student representatives are aware of key academic issues and MUS strategy.

Metrics and Milestones

Since its inception in 2016, MEC has received 361 student applications and filled 62 positions on Faculty of Medicine committees, maintaining an average of 5.8 responses per committee opportunity (Figure 2). Opportunities vary yearly depending on the duration of student terms for each committee and the year and site of students eligible to apply. The slight decrease in number of positions since 2016-2017 is likely due to renewal of terms for some existing student representatives. Unfortunately, prior to MEC, such metrics were not recorded, making it difficult to determine to what extent MEC's presence encourages student engagement.

An updated website that lists appointed representatives coupled with regular email announcements regarding new engagement opportunities help to inform students of who their current representatives are. This represents a key milestone in promoting openness and transparency. As channels of communication between representatives and the MUS continue to solidify, further advances could be made, such as through regular updates about important past or upcoming policy changes or academic programming decisions disseminated via the semiweekly MUS newsletter.

Through ongoing partnership with the Faculty of Medicine and MUS, the MEC maintains a central role in the ecosystem of medical education. The organizational structure of a Faculty is in constant flux, responding to the shifting demands of society and stakeholders. To this end, Dr. Roger Wong, the Faculty's Executive Dean of Education, has been a key partner and mentor to the MEC, serving as its Faculty Advisor. Dr. Cheryl Holmes, Associate Dean of Undergraduate Medical Education, has also mentored and supported MEC as it grows and pursues new endeavours. Moreover, MEC plays an important role in the proactive advancement of academic goals. In 2017, MEC chairs contributed substantially to the development of the 2017-2020 MUS Strategic Plan, which defined focus areas in academic advocacy.

Vision for the Future

The past two decades have seen rapid shifts in medical education around the world, with regard to both demographics and teaching methods.⁴ The shift from lecture–based to problem–based learning is emblematic of a broader desire for curiosity–driven, self–directed learning.⁵ Rapid change in this arena demands a learner–centred approach to designing and implementing educational policy and curricula.

Today, learners play key roles on Faculty of Medicine decisionmaking committees. It is an ongoing mandate of the MUS to ensure representative, diverse, and informed communication of student feedback. Over the past two years, MEC has provided a tangible process to address this mandate. In the future, MEC is well situated to provide educational advocacy training, report key issues to the student body, and produce educational scholarship on the perspectives and outcomes of students serving in leadership roles.

- Lizzio A, Wilson K. Student participation in university governance: the role conceptions and sense of efficacy of student representatives on departmental committees. *Stud High Educ.* 2009 Feb;34(1):69-84.
- Frank JR, Danoff D. The CanMEDS initiative: implementing an outcomes-based framework of physician competencies. *Med Teach*. 2007 Sep;29(7):642-7.
 UBC Faculty of Medicine [Internet]. Vancouver BC: University of British Columbia. Fac-
- UBC Faculty of Medicine [Internet]. Vancouver BC: University of British Columbia. Faculty of medicine strategic plan: 2016-2021 [cited 2018 Oct 13]. Available from: https://stratplan.med.ubc.ca/
- Lewington K. Changes to medical education over the past 20 years. BMJ. 2012 Jun;344:e4246.
- Spencer JA, Jordan RK. Learner centred approaches in medical education. BMJ. 1999 May;318(7193):1280-3.

The Decline of Embryology Instruction Within Medical Schools Worldwide: Options for Adapting

Anne B. Robertson¹, Olusegun Oyedele² Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (39-40)

Abstract

There has been a drastic decline in the hours devoted to embryology within medical curricula worldwide over the past century. The instructional hours have dwindled to an annual average of seven hours within Canadian medical schools and 14 hours within the United States. Current evidence suggests that incorporating three-dimensional animations and models into embryology teaching may improve learner outcomes. Incorporating new teaching methods may ensure that medical graduates meet the embryological competencies needed to practice medicine safely, in spite of restricted instructional time.

Embryology is a fundamental component of a thorough medical education. Understanding the embryonic origins of human anatomy is essential for many fields of medicine, most notably those that deal with congenital abnormalities, such as pediatrics and obstetrics. Aside from clinical relevance, an understanding of embryology can improve and enrich students' understanding of human anatomy. Furthermore, an understanding of embryology can improve physicians' understanding of disease processes and the necessary treatment.¹ The significance of embryology is not lost on students. In a recent survey polling 146 British medical students, 81% stated that embryology should be included in the medical curriculum.² A similar survey within Australia found that an overwhelming number of medical school graduates believed that understanding embryology helped during their clinical experiences.³

Despite being recognized as an important facet of medical education, progressively less time is being allocated to anatomical sciences within the medical curriculum.^{4,5} In 1909, over 900 hours of laboratory and lecture time was devoted to the anatomical sciences in American medical schools, compared to an average of 129 hours in 2016-2017.^{4,5} This reduction in anatomy instruction has been attributed to several factors, including a shift to an integrated curriculum, an increase in curricular content due to advances in molecular medicine, and the need for future doctors to be educated in social determinants of health.⁴

Embryology instruction has declined as the anatomical sciences have been squeezed out of the medical curriculum. In 2016-2017, American medical schools allocated an average of 14 hours (SD \pm 8) to embryology, with some schools allocating zero hours.⁵ The limited teaching hours combined with the complexity of the subject has made learning embryology frustrating for students. Reports have shown that medical students are not confident in their embryology knowledge, find it difficult to learn, and consider it to be poorly taught during their undergraduate degree.^{2,3} Overall, the evidence suggests that traditional teaching methods are not suitable for teaching embryology given the current time constraints.

Worldwide, the cutback in embryology is concerning enough that several expert groups have released syllabi for foundational embryological knowledge.^{6,7} Here in Canada, a study from McMaster

Correspondence to Anne B. Robertson (anne.robertson@alumni.ubc.ca) University showed that Canadian medical schools devoted an average of seven hours to embryology in 2016-2017, with the University of British Columbia reporting six hours.⁸ The impact, if any, of severely limited hours of embryology instruction in Canadian medical schools and worldwide is worthy of rigorous inquiry. Are students confident in their embryological knowledge? Are they satisfied that the knowledge of embryology acquired in medical school will translate into competent clinical practice, not only for embryology–related disciplines, but also more broadly? These questions require urgent, systematic elucidation, at least within a Canadian context.

There is also the related question of how to best teach embryology effectively and efficiently, given the current time constraints. Currently, most studies focus on innovative methods used to teach gross anatomy. Given the close relationship between embryology and gross anatomy, it is reasonable to assume that many of the research findings in anatomy education would be applicable to embryology as well. By reviewing the current research surrounding anatomy education (and the few studies specific to embryology), educators can determine which best–evidence approaches may improve embryology teaching.

Online modules, videos, and interactive web atlases have been previously used to supplement the anatomy curriculum in medical schools, with students accessing the resources on their own time to reinforce concepts taught during lectures.^{9,10,11} Studies have had mixed results as to whether or not online modules improve learning outcomes compared to lectures.^{9,11,12} However, they have found that students' learning experiences are positively affected.^{9,11,12} Interactive, three–dimensional images and animations are often incorporated into these modules as a way for students to participate in their own learning. Traditionally, teachers have used two–dimensional chalkboard drawings to illustrate static and dynamic concepts within anatomy. However, research shows three–dimensional images are superior to two–dimensional ones, as they increase learner satisfaction, factual knowledge, and spatial knowledge.^{12,13} In particular, three–dimensional animations have been shown to improve understanding of dynamic processes such as embryonic development.¹⁴

It is important to note that while three–dimensional animations are a beneficial supplement to physical models and cadavers, they are not a suitable replacement. Evidence suggests that learning outcomes for anatomy, including spatial knowledge and long–term retention, are always better when a physical model is available to students.^{14,15} Several studies have explored the incorporation of physical models, such as clay or three–dimensional printed models, in embryology teaching.^{16,17,18} The evidence indicates that physical models are superior to three–dimensional

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada ²Department of Cellular & Physiological Sciences and Southern Medical Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia

images when it comes to learning embryology. However, physical models are not always feasible or accessible in the embryology classroom. Most embryology teaching no longer occurs in a lab, but in a lecture hall, where models must be passed around or assembled during limited instructional time.^{4,5} It appears from the available evidence that, given the time constraints on embryology education, the consensus best practice would be employing online modules that incorporate three-dimensional images as embryology teaching adjuncts.

Going forward, hours devoted to embryology are unlikely to increase within the medical curriculum. Educators should adapt to the limited instructional time by using innovative teaching methods to ensure that students are meeting the necessary embryological competencies to safely practice medicine. The limited hours for embryology education may not impact students' embryological knowledge if instructors are willing to adapt. However, remaining bound to traditional teaching styles in today's environment will be to the detriment of learners and potentially patients.

- 1. Moore KL, Persaud TVN, Torchia MG. Before we are born: essentials of embryology and birth defects. 9th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier; 2016.
- Hamilton J, Carachi R. Clinical embryology: is there still a place in medical schools today? Soutt Med J. 2014;59(4):188-192. 2.
- Scott KM, Charles AR, Holland AJA. Clinical embryology teaching: is it relevant any-3. more? ANZ J of Surg. 2013; 83(10): 709-712. Drake RL, McBride JM, Lachman N, Pawlina W. Medical education in the anatomical
- 4. sciences: the winds of change continue to blow. Anat Sci Educ. 2009; 2(6): 253-259

- 5. McBride JM, Drake RL. National survey on anatomical sciences in medical education. Anat Sa Educ. 2018; 11 (1): 7-14. Fakoya FA, Emmanouil-Nikoloussi E, Sharma D, Moxham BJ. A core cyllabus for the
- 6. teaching of embryology and teratology to medical students. Clin Anat. 2016; 30 (2): 159-
- 7. Das M, Claeson KM, Lowrie DJ, Bolender DL, Fredieu JR, Guttmann G, et al. A guide to competencies, educational goals and learning objectives for teaching human embryology in an undergraduate medical education setting. *Med Sci Educ.* 2018; 28 (2): 417-428.
- 8. Wainman BC, Rockarts J. National Survey on Anatomical Education in Canadian Medical Education: Harnessing the winds of change. Forthcoming 2019. Evans DJR. Using embryology screencasts: a useful addition to the student learning ex-
- 9. perience? Anat Sci Educ. 2012; 4(2): 57-63.
- 10. Moraes SG, Pereira LAV. A multimedia approach for teaching human embryology: devel-
- opment and evaluation of a methodology. Ann Anat Anz. 2010; 192 (6): 388-395. Pani JR, Chariker JH, Naaz F, Mattingly W, Roberts, J Sephto SE. Learning with interac-tive computer graphics in the undergraduate neuroscience classroom. Adv Health Sci Educ. 11. 2014; 19(4): 507-528.
- 12. Schleich JM, Dillenseger JL, Houyel L, Almange C, Anderson RH. A new dynamic 3D virtual methodology for teaching the mechanics of atrial septation as seen in the human heart. *Anat Sci Educ.* 2009; 2 (2): 69-77.
- Yammine K, Violato C. The effectiveness of physical models in teaching anatomy: a me-ta-analysis of comparative studies. *Adv Health Sci Educ.* 2016; 21(4): 883-895. Abid B, Hentati N, Chevallier JM, Ghorbel A, Delmas V, Douard R. Traditional ver-13.
- 14. sus three-dimensional teaching of peritoneal embryogenesis: a comparative prospective study. *Surg Radial Anat.* 2010; 32(7): 647-652. Lombardi SA, Hicks RE, Thompson KV, Marbach-Ad G. Are all hands-on activities
- 15. equally effective? Effect of using plastic models, organ dissections, and virtual dissections on student learning and perceptions. Adv Physio Educ. 2014; 38(1) 80-86.
- Howell CE, Howell JE. Sectioning clay models makes anatomy & development tangible. Am Biol Teach. 2010; 72 (5): 313-314. 16.
- 17 Kooloos JGM, Schepens-Franke AN, Bergman EM, Donders RART, Vorstenbosch MATM. Anatomical knowledge gain through a clay-modeling exercise compared to live and video observations. *Anat Sci Educ.* 2014; 7(6) 420-429.
- 18 Loke YH, Harahsheh AS, Krieger A, Olivieri LJ. Usage of 3D models of tetralogy of Fallot for medical education: impact on learning congenital heart disease. BMC Med Educ 2017; 17 (1): 54.

Shaping Medical Education Through A Trauma–Informed Curriculum

Carmen Wong¹, Mona Maleki¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (41-42)

Abstract

Experiences of violence and trauma are widespread with significant mortality and morbidity worldwide. Despite the prevalence of such experiences and the impact on population and individual health, they are often misunderstood in the health care system. Without a trauma– informed lens through which to address patient concerns, physicians may overlook somatic manifestations and coping mechanisms and miss the underlying histories of trauma. The undergraduate medical curriculum is an ideal setting to introduce a coherent foundation for trauma–informed practice. This commentary aims to address current principles and approaches to trauma, and to discuss new directions in the trauma–informed medical curriculum.

Tiolence and trauma are significant causes of morbidity and mortality with 1.3 million people dying of violence each year, and many more non-fatally affected through physical, psychological, and/ or sexual abuse.1 Violence is "the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against oneself, another person, or a group or community, resulting in or having a high likelihood of resulting in injury, death, psychological harm, mal-development or deprivation."2 Trauma is the emotional response following a devastating event such as a sexual assault.3 Violence and trauma manifest in populations and individuals. In Canada, policies enacted by settler colonialism such as the "Indian Act," residential school systems, and the Sixties Scoop have led to intergenerational trauma that continues to affect indigenous communities today.4 Individual experiences of violence can manifest as physical, emotional, and behavioural issues. This has been well described amongst childhood survivors of abuse from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study who have an increased risk of biopsychosocial problems in adulthood.5

Medical students learn to elicit the patient's chief complaint and gather data, but rarely does the patient present with a chief complaint of "trauma." Patients presenting with behavioural changes, somatic manifestations, or mental health concerns may be misdiagnosed or overlooked, particularly when a history of violence is not on the differential diagnosis. Patients with maladaptive coping mechanisms, such as self-medication and substance use, may be written off without further inquiry or support.⁶ If students are not trained to appreciate the possibility of trauma in their clinical interactions with patients, they may ultimately miss opportunities to support and intervene. To provide appropriate care for these patients, clinicians need to change the traditional approach of "what is wrong with this person?" to "what happened to this person?"⁷

British Columbia's Trauma Informed Practice Guidelines highlight six main principles that shape trauma–informed practice (TIP)⁶:

- 1. Awareness of trauma;
- 2. Looking at trauma through the eyes of the individual;
- 3. Emphasizing safety and trustworthiness;
- 4. Providing options for choice, collaboration and connection;
- 5. Using a strengths-based and skill-building approach;

6. Recovery is possible.

While these principles may seem intuitive, they do not always reflect current clinical practice or medical education.⁸ Dr. Carol–Ann Saari recently wrote how TIP changed her practice, with physicians inevitably seeing patients with recent or remote trauma.⁸ Often, these patients' presentations are not well understood in the medical field, which can further affect the patient–provider relationship, shifting from safety and empathy to unintended judgement.⁸ TIP "is a way of providing services that recognizes the need for physical and emotional safety, choice, and control in decisions affecting one's treatment and an environment where patients do not experience further traumatization."⁸

The UBC medical curriculum

The introduction of UBC Faculty of Medicine's spiral curriculum and flexible learning education scholarship (FLEX) projects presented a unique opportunity to engage faculty, trainees, and community stakeholders in the development of a cohesive and trauma-informed medical curriculum. The growing need for TIP in medical training is reflected in the increased efforts to incorporate training for residents and practicing physicians in North America.9 A FLEX project was designed to assess current curricular objectives related to trauma and violence, as well as determine avenues for further improvement. Faculty experts in medical education, marginalized populations, and health equity were involved to apply a trauma-informed lens to education in a culturally safe manner. After curricular objectives were mapped, violence, as a general topic, was identified to be introduced in preclinical years through two cases in case-based learning, three didactic lectures, one family practice seminar on sexual assault, and one sensitive interview in clinical skills on intimate partner violence (see Table 1). Despite seemingly foundational exposure to violence, unpublished feedback from the Classes of 2016-2018 relay that 20% of respondents did not recall learning about this topic. This suggests that trauma and violence require reinforcement regarding their medical implications and consistency with how it is presented in the curriculum. On review of curricular organization, "trauma" was not specifically represented under any faculty leads, which likely contributed to the inconsistent teaching of this important topic.¹⁰

This student-led FLEX project resulted in the re-examination of the pre-existing Year 2 sexualized violence seminar to include

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada Correspondence Carmen Wong, Mona Maleki (c.wong@alumni.ubc.ca, m.maleki@alumni.ubc.ca)

	Year 1	Year 2
Case-Based	Week 32: Meningitis	Week 44: Joint Injury
Learning (CBL)		
Lectures	Week 28: Determinants of Hope Among First	Week 44: Child Abuse (CDM)
	Nations (Discussion)	
	Week 32: Symposium on the Health and	
	Social Issues Related to IV Drug Use	
Clinical Skills Psychiatry Clinical Skills Session		Sensitive Interviewing Clinical Skil
		Session
Family Practice	Week 5: Health Inequities	Week 40: Sexual Assault Session
Modules	San'yas Indigenous Cultural Safety Training	

Table 1 | Curricular activities with objectives relating to trauma and violence in the Class of 2019 cohort.

an introduction on trauma-informed care. In addition, a new online case module for the Year 3 rural family practice clerkship curriculum was also developed, focusing on the presentations of recent and remote trauma in a family practice clinic. Both of these learning modules incorporate multiple cases for medical students to learn the approach to a patient with a possible history of trauma. The collaborative efforts with faculty leaders provided a student perspective to build a thorough framework for TIP in the UBC medical curriculum, and to bridge the gap between didactic and clinical teaching.

The role of medical students

As medical students, there are ways to adopt a trauma-informed lens to our training:

1. Become familiar with the TIP principles and intentionally apply these principles in your interactions with patients. Patients do not need to disclose a past history of abuse or violence for this care to be provided to them.

2. Learn about local resources and connect with expert faculty that support individuals who have experienced trauma and violence to feel more comfortable in future patient counselling scenarios.

3. Challenge yourself with practice, peer discussions, and self-exploration.

It is important for medical students to learn how to apply these skills appropriately to all patients, as physicians encounter many patients who have experienced some degree of trauma and violence on a daily basis. Current tools that teach TIP describe a common basic skillset, reinforcing the importance of practicing and training in a trauma–informed way early in medical education.¹¹ Violence and trauma are pervasive social and health concerns that affect every demographic population. The medical profession has embraced patient–centred care, but it may never truly achieve this without consideration to the experiences behind the patient's decisions. ternet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 [cited 2018 Sep 20]. 292 p. Available from: http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/ status_report/2014/en/

- Krug E, Dahlberg L, Mercy J, Zwi A, Lozano R. World report on violence and health [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002 [cited 2018 Sep 28]. 360 p. Available from: http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/ violence/world_report/en/
- American Psychological Association. Trauma [Internet]. Washington DC: American Psychological Association; 2018 [cited 2018 Sep 30]. Available from: http://www.apa.org/topics/trauma/index.aspx
- First Nations and Indigenous Studies. Indigenous foundations [Internet]. Vancouver: University of British Columbia's Department of First Nations and Indigenous Studies; 2009 [cited 2018 August 5]. Available from: http://indigenousfoundations.arts.ubc.ca/
- Felitti VJ, Anda R, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. *Am J Prev Med.* 1998 May;14(4):245-58.
- Provincial Health Services Authority of BC. TIP guide [Internet]. Vancouver: British Columbia's Centre of Excellence for Women's Health; 2013 [cited 2018 August 15]. Available from: http://bccewh.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/2013_TIP-Guide.pdf
- Ponic P, Varcoe C, Smutylo T. Trauma- (and violence-) informed approaches to supporting victims of violence: policy and practice considerations. *Victims of Crime Res Digest.* 2016 Sept 30;9:3-15.
- Saari CA. Trauma informed practice (TIP) makes perfect (or at least it is a good start) [Internet]. Vancouver: UBC Faculty of Medicine; 2018 Sept 5 [cited 2018 Sept 28]. Available from: https://thischangedmypractice.com/trauma-informed-practice/#discussion
- Green BL, Saunders PA, Power E, Dass-Brailsford P, Schelbert KB, Giller E, et al. Trauma-informed medical care: a CME communication training for primary care providers. *Fam Med.* 2015 Feb 4;(47):7-14.
- Foundational Systems Definitions & Theme Definitions [Internet]. Vancouver: UBC Faculty of Medicine; 2018 [cited 2018 Nov 24]. Available from: https:// mednet.med.ubc.ca/Teaching/curriculum-management/educational-activity-form-resources/Documents/UBC%20Curiculum%20-%20Systems%20 and%20Themes%20-%20Definitions%20and%20Leads%20-%20updated%20November%2022,%202018.pdf
- Alberta Addiction Service Providers: Addiction and Mental Health Training [Internet]. Alberta: Alberta Addiction Service Providers; 2015-2016. What is Trauma Informed Care (AHS online course); 2016 [cited 2018 Sept 28th]; [about 30 screens]. Available from: http://www.albertaaddictionserviceproviders.org/training.php

References

1. Butchart A, Mikton C. Global status report on violence prevention 2014 [In-

Should We Be Teaching Medical Students to be Moral Isolationists?

Farhad R. Udwadia¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (43-44)

Abstract

Learning not to judge cultural practices can be implicitly or explicitly stressed to medical students and healthcare professionals. The perspective that one should not impose judgement on the practices of other cultures is termed "moral isolationism." Mary Midgely, a philosopher, argues against moral isolationism, citing it as a logically incoherent theory. This perspective piece presents and applies Midgely's argument within the context of medical education, and healthcare at large.

As medical students, we are implicitly and explicitly taught the importance of being respectful towards other cultural practices, with respect to medicine, healing, and other aspects of daily living as well. This is exceedingly important as respect is integral to the formation of a trusting relationship between physician and patient. Culturally sensitive health care has been empirically shown to improve health outcomes amongst racial and ethnic minorities in multiple studies.^{1,2} Therefore, it makes sense that cultural respect would be such an integral part of medical education in Canada.

However, respecting cultural practices is often conflated with not judging cultural practices, and it would not be untoward to state that we are often led to believe that imposing judgment on the practices of another culture is wrong. Mary Midgely, a world–renowned ethicist and philosopher describes this position as one of 'moral isolationism,' and argues against it.³ In essence, moral isolationism is the view that one ought to respect other cultures, but not impose any judgement upon them. I find Dr. Midgely's work on the subject to be greatly important to those embarking on careers in healthcare professions, as it brings clarity and context to an important perspective.

The question of whether or not we should impose judgement on cultural practices is a controversial one in medicine and global health. A popular example would be the practices of circumcision and female genital mutilation in different parts of the world. A more common and polarizing example in North America is parents refusing life–saving treatment for their children due to religious or cultural beliefs. In Canada, the example of Jehovah's Witnesses refusing blood transfusions for their children has a contentious history. In 2009, the Supreme Court ruled that such interventions fall within the legal mandate of the court in cases where the minor's life is clearly in danger.⁴ Under different circumstances, however, the courts have gone the other way. For example, 11–year–old Makayla Sault, was allowed to refuse life saving chemotherapy in lieu of traditional Indigenous medicine and alternative therapy.⁵

Both examples have ignited intense public debate in recent history, and have subsequently raised the question: as healthcare providers, community members, and fellow human beings, should we pass judgement on the practices of cultures that we are not a part of? A moral isolationist would say we should not, and Midgely vehemently disagrees.

Midgley argues that as human beings, we experience a common and rather intense difficulty trying to understand cultures that are different from us. She claims that a way of dealing with this difficulty is by taking a stance of moral isolationism, a route that many people favor. Moral isolationism posits that we can never understand any culture well except our own; therefore, in order to respect these different cultures, we should not impose judgement on them. This is also based upon the assumption that as human beings, we are embedded within different societies, each

Correspondence to Farhad Rushad Udwadia (farhad.udwadia@alumni.ubc.ca)

with their own set of cultural beliefs and practices.

However, Midgley also goes on to argue that such a position is not only wrong, but logically incoherent. Midgely forms her argument against moral isolationism by analyzing the logical cohesiveness of the theory with other premises we know to be true. Her argument and its implications can be broken down as follows:

1) If we cannot judge another culture, that also means we can never truly respect another culture. Midgley claims that one cannot actually respect another culture without imposing some particular judgement about the culture first. In other words, she means to say that we cannot actually form respect for something—which involves forming an opinion—without imposing some degree of prior judgement. On the other hand, she claims that if we are to be true moral isolationists, then we cannot praise another culture either, as that also involves a subjective evaluation. How would this play out in a medical setting? From a moral isolationist perspective, any attempts to respect a cultural difference would either be disingenuous—as it would require a lack of judgement or evaluation—or nonexistent altogether.

2) Outsiders can make good and constructive judgements about our own cultures. Midgely's second point is that outsiders can, and regularly do, make accurate and important judgements about other cultures. Understanding is not binary; we can make progressive judgements along a spectrum that allows us to make intelligent indictments as outsiders about a particular culture. We are, in principle, capable of making fair and logically sound judgements, which are to be distinguished from 'crude opinions;' that is, opinions that are based on ignorance and not reason. In healthcare, we often need to make useful judgements about something without understanding it to an exact degree, but a moral isolationist stance would not allow us to do so.

3) If the grounds for moral isolationism is not understanding, then we cannot judge our own culture either. If understanding is a prerequisite for judgement, then we should not be able to judge our own culture because sometimes, we do not fully understand it either. Additionally, this would also mean we have the general inability to engage in moral reasoning of things we do not fully understand. This is both wrong and problematic, as moral reasoning is crucial and fundamental to our existence. The ability to judge our own culture is integral in medicine; without it we would not be able to critically assess, evaluate, and improve practices within our own healthcare system.

4) We do not live in isolated bubbles of culture, which is an inherent assumption of moral isolationism. Midgley brings her argument home by negating the very premise of moral isolationism—the idea that we live in isolated bubbles of culture. She claims this to be a false statement, as we are constantly transferring, mixing and fusing aspects of different cultures together, now more than ever before. It would make sense to have isolated opinions of isolated cultures, but no such thing exists. Healthcare is the perfect example, where people from different cultural backgrounds work together every day.

In principle, I believe Midgely's argument to be sound and especially

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

pertinent to those working in healthcare and medicine. When educating people who will one day serve as stewards of health and wellness for a multitude of people, I wonder to what extent an education that favors a moral isolationist way of thinking would influence health outcomes. I recognize that Canadian medical history has been stained by acts of racial oppression and discrimination. The most severe breaches in trust have occurred not so far in the past, with instances of unethical research practices and abuse inflicted on Indigenous populations at residential schools as recently as the 1970s.6 Therefore, it is fundamental that medical education is rooted in cultural respect. But does that equate to a culture of nonjudgement?

When we look at the few examples discussed earlier (genital mutilation, parents refusing life-saving treatment for their children), I believe taking a stance of moral isolationism is inherently wrong. When practices call into question the life and dignity of an individual, we must not turn a blind eye for fear of imposing judgement on something we do not fully understand. In fact, we should look keenly, collaborate, listen, and work towards understanding and critically evaluating practices in a fair and just way, which includes taking into consideration past injustices. We should not be quick to shy away from moral arguments when culture is a factor. That is not to say that any of these practices discussed above are wrong or right; rather, they should not be beyond our discerning eye.

The risk of being a moral isolationist is significant, as harm and oppression can often be masqueraded as a cultural practice. It might be a distorted interpretation of such a practice, but it happens. This is frequently seen in sexual abuse and oppression of women, where rights are breached with culture cited as an excuse.⁷ As healthcare professionals, we are in a unique position to advocate and safeguard human rights, especially when the violations of these rights affect health.

Even though I have never been explicitly told to be a moral isolationist as such, the message of "nonjudgement" has been stressed to me at various points in my formal and hidden medical curriculum. In turn, I have pondered deeply on whether or not it is beyond our purview as medical students or healthcare providers to pass judgement on practices associated and stemming from a particular culture. I believe that it is not, and that there is a need to learn just how to do so in a fair, respectable and reasoned way.

- Tucker CM, Marsiske M, Rice KG, Nielson JJ, Herman K. Patient-centered culturally sen-
- stive health care: model testing and refinement. *Health Psychol.* 2011 May; 30(3): 342-50. Thom D, Tirado M. Development and validation of a patient-reported measure of physician cultural competency. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2006; 63: 636–655. doi: 10.1177/1077558706290946 2
- Midgley M. (1981). Trying out one's new sword. In: Shafer-Landau R, editor. Ethical Theory: An Anthology. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing. p 58-61. CBC. Girl's forced blood transfusion didn't violate rights: top court. CBC Canada. 2009 3.
- 4 Jun 26. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/girl-s-forced-blood-transfu-sion-didn-t-violate-rights-top-court-1.858660 Walker C. Makayla Sault, girl who refused chemo for leukemia, dies. CBC Canada, Jan 19,
- 5. 2015. Available from: https://www.cbc.ca/news/indigenous/makayll-who-refused-che-
- Dangerfield K. Canada subjected Indigenous people to 'cruel' medical experiments, law-suit claims. Global News. 2018 May 11. Available from: globalnews.ca/news/4202373/ 6. indigenous-people-medical-experiments-canada-class-action-lawsuit/
- 7. Wallstrom M. Culture is not an excuse for oppressing women. The Economist. 2018 June 25. Available from: www.economist.com/open-future/2018/06/25/culture-is-not-an-excuse-for-oppressing-women

Potential Cost Savings and Reduction of Medication Errors Due to Implementation of Computerized Provider Order Entry and Bar–Coded Medication Administration in the Fraser Health Authority

Kane Larson¹, Clifford Lo² Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (45-46)

Abstract

A closed–loop medication management system is an ideal system that seamlessly integrates the distribution of medication from health care providers to the patient. The main areas that the system encompasses are prescribing, transcription, dispensing, and drug administration. This paper examines two main aspects of a closed–loop medication management system: bar–coded medication administration (BCMA) and computerized provider order entry (CPOE). Our review of the literature shows that these systems combined could have prevented up to 72% of medication errors; this equates to 11,234 medication errors and 201 adverse drug events (cost saving of \$1.4 million) in the Fraser Health Authority from 2013-2017.

Introduction

Medication errors can lead to significant harm to patients and increase To,000 preventable adverse events occur per year in Canada, and onequarter of these events are related to medication errors, resulting in 700 deaths per year.²³ The cost of these medication errors is estimated to be \$2.6 billion per year.⁴ Each preventable adverse drug event in a hospitalized patient costs an estimated \$6750 CAD (inflation adjusted to 2017) and increases the length of stay by 4.6 days.⁵

The most frequently cited method for preventing medication errors is incorporating a closed–loop medication management system (CLMM).^{4,5,6} The ideal CLMM system seamlessly integrates information technology from automated dispensing devices (ADD), computerized provider order entry (CPOE), and bedside bar–coded medication administration (BCMA). This integration will enable each stage of the medication management process, including prescribing, transcription, dispensing, and administration, to be consolidated into an efficient and safe structure that optimizes patient health.⁶

Fraser Health is British Columbia's largest health authority and is comprised of 12 acute care hospitals, 7760 residential care beds, and 25,000 staff, with an annual operating budget of over \$3 billion.⁷ Presently, Abbotsford Regional, Surrey Memorial, Royal Columbian, and Chilliwack Hospitals have deployed ADDs, and the rest of the Fraser Health hospitals will eventually receive them; however, implementation of CPOE and BCMA is only in the planning stages.⁸

CPOE can produce exceptional safety improvements, reducing 46% to 88% of medical errors within US hospitals.⁹⁻¹² Furthermore, BCMA has been shown to reduce medication errors by 49% to 51%, and generate an annual savings of \$2.2 million from time–saving.^{13,14} Thus, we believe that if a CLMM system had been deployed in Fraser Health from 2013-2017, a significant number of medication errors would have been prevented, in addition to a potential cost savings. This article examines the potential benefits of implementing BCMA and CPOE in Fraser Health. The

¹Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, 2405 Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6T 1Z3, Canada ²Manager, Quality & Medication Safety, LMPS, Provincial Pharmacy Lead, Special Projects & Initiatives, BCPRA, Clinical Instructor, UBC Faculty of Pharmacy

Correspondence to Kane Larson (kanelarson@hotmail.com) medication errors in the Fraser Health Authority from 2013-2017 are listed in Table 1.

Category	Actual Event
Other	3980
Omitted dose	2890
Incorrect quantity (e.g., dose, strength, or concentration)	1812
Extra dose	1448
Incorrect product	1147
Incorrect time (e.g., given late)	1055
No order	783
Incorrect rate or frequency	646
Incorrect patient	545
Incorrect route or technique (includes use of incorrect IV line or SC butterfly)	267
Adverse reaction	277
Contraindicated	206
Incorrect form or formulation (e.g., tablet instead of liquid)	177
Incorrect storage or location	116
Expired or deteriorated product	93
Incorrect sequence	48
Narcotic count discrepancy	14
Total	15,504

Table 1 | Medication Errors from 2013-2017 in the Fraser Health Authority

Discussion

Several systematic reviews summarize the effectiveness of BCMA and CPOE. The main benefits include more accurate timing of administration, preventing wrong medication from being given to the patient, ensuring the correct route of administration, improving dosage adjustments, and increasing transcription precision.^{12,14} Both CPOE and BCMA can prevent many medication errors, and the effects of these two systems can be multiplied together due to their independent reduction values.¹⁴ Based on conservative estimates from the literature, CPOE and BCMA could reduce medication errors by 46% and 49%, respectively.⁹⁻¹⁴ The documented number of medication errors in the Fraser Health Authority from 2013-2017 was 15,504; the number of errors would therefore have been reduced from 15,504 to 8372 with the implementation of CPOE, and further reduced to 4269 with the addition of a BCMA system (Table 2).

Preventable adverse drug events refer to patients having dangerous responses to medications that could have been prevented. If CPOE and BCMA had been implemented from 2013-2017, 201 adverse reactions in

the Fraser Health Authority would have been avoided and would equate to a total savings of \$1.4 million CAD. The proposed savings from a reduction in adverse drug events represents a small portion (13%) of the total savings that can be realised by implementing a closed–loop system.⁹

	Prior to	CPOE and BCMA	Total
	Implementation	Implementation	Reduction
Medication	15,504	4269	11,234 (72%)
Errors			
Adverse Drug	277	76	201
Events			

 $\ensuremath{\text{Table 2}}\xspace$ | Medication errors and projected potential reduction with CPOE and BCMA implementation

'Adverse drug events' was the only category for which we could accurately calculate cost savings. Other medication error groups were excluded in the cost-saving calculations due to insufficient clinical and literature information. This provided a very conservative estimate. The categories not included in the calculation were errors with dose, quantity, product, time, order, frequency, patient, route, storage, expired product, and sequence. Furthermore, additional benefits of CPOE and BCMA were not included in the analysis due to considerable variance between hospital systems and implementation strategies. These 'other benefits' include improved nurse time utilisation, specific drug guidance, renal dosing guidance, and laboratory monitoring.⁹ 'Other benefits' are difficult to quantify and can require an extended period of time to manifest.

Despite the potential for CPOE and BCMA implementation to produce significant patient safety improvements, it is essential to be cautious, as the numbers calculated here are theoretically derived and may be imprecise. Incorrect implementation of the system, for example, could lead to conflicting results, such as what occurred with the implementation of iHealth in Nanaimo Regional General Hospital, Dufferin Place, and Oceanside Healthcare Centre. A survey indicated that more than 50% of the staff felt the new Electronic Health Record system (EHR) was less safe and more inefficient compared to the previous paper-based one.15 Furthermore, the system went over budget by \$18.9 million CAD in capital funds and an additional \$35.2 million CAD in operating cost.15 Nevertheless, the leadership at these centres is working tirelessly to improve the usability and functionality of the iHealth system. The principal message is that when examining results, it is critical to be cautious in drawing conclusions about the benefits of these systems, as each location is unique and will have a different experience. Proper implementation of CPOE and BCMA into Fraser Health will require significant stakeholder input, full investigation of all safety concerns with iHealth, assurance that the right leaders are in place, creation of realistic financial plans, secured funding, reviewed governance structure, and readiness plans including sufficient training for all staff.¹⁵ The above recommendations are critical to solving the usability and functionality concerns that may arise if Fraser Health chooses to adopt this system.

Conclusion

Overall, the potential cost savings associated with a closed-loop system due to preventing medication errors is underestimated. The initial stage of implementing the system is the costliest and is usually the primary barrier to implementation. The cost of implementation is challenging to determine for the Fraser Health Authority and will require an extensive review. Nevertheless, implementing CPOE and BCMA has significant potential to produce improved safety and cost savings if the system is appropriately executed.

Conflicts of Interest

None to disclose.

- Ferner RE, Aronson JK. Clarification of terminology in medication errors. Drug Saf. 2006 Nov 1;29(11):1011-22.
- Baker GR, Norton PG, Flintoft V, Blais R, Brown A, Cox J, et al. The Canadian adverse events study: the incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. Can Med Assoc J. 2004 May 25;170(11):1678-86.
- Institute for Safe Medication Practices Canada [Internet]. ISMP Canada; c2000-2018. Ontario pharmacists can help provide a safer medication use system; 2001 Jan 21 [cited 1 September 2017]. Available from: https://www.ismp-canada.org/OPA-Article.htm
- Hohl CM, Nosyk B, Kuramoto L, Zed PJ, Brubacher JR, Abu-Laban RB, et al. Outcomes of emergency department patients presenting with adverse drug events. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2011 Sep 30;58(3):270-9.
- Bates DW, Spell N, Cullen DJ, Burdick E, Laird N, Petersen LA, et al. The costs of adverse drug events in hospitalized patients. *JAMA*. 1997 Jan 22;277(4):307-11.
- Agrawal A. Medication errors: prevention using information technology systems. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2009 Jun 1;67(6):681-6.
- About Fraser Health [Internet]. Fraser Health Authority; 2018. Our People and Our Services; 2017 [cited 7 September 2017]. Available from: http://www.fraserhealth. ca/about-us/about-fraser-health/
- Letwin S, Millin B, Miyata M, Morris L, Virani A, Vojt A. Automated Unit Dose Drug Distribution System Business Case [Internet]. Fraser Health; 2008 Nov [cited 3 Nov 2018]. 29 p. Available from: https://www.cshp.ca/sites/default/files/Drug%20 Distribution/FraserHealth_ADC_BusCase.pdf
- Distribution/FraserHealth_ADC_BusCase.pdf
 Kaushal R, Jha AK, Franz C, Glaser J, Shetty KD, Jaggi T, et al. Return on investment for a computerized physician order entry system. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2006 May 1;13(3):261-6.
- Lwin AK, Shepard DS. Estimating lives and dollars saved from universal adoption of the Leapfrog safety and quality standards: 2008 update. Washington, DC: The Leapfrog Group; 2008 Sep 23. 12 p.
- Devine EB, Hansen RN, Wilson-Norton JL, Lawless NM, Fisk AW, Blough DK, et al. The impact of computerized provider order entry on medication errors in a multispecialty group practice. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2010 Jan 1;17(1):78-84.
- Nuckols TK, Smith-Spangler C, Morton SC, Asch SM, Patel VM, Anderson LJ, et al. The effectiveness of computerized order entry at reducing preventable adverse drug events and medication errors in hospital settings: a systematic review and meta–analysis. Systematic reviews. 2014 Jun 4;3(1):56.
- Poon EG, Keohane CA, Yoon CS, Ditmore M, Bane A, Levtzion-Korach O, et al. Effect of bar–code technology on the safety of medication administration. N Engl J Med. 2010 May 6;362(18):1698-707
- Shah K, Lo Ć, Babich M, Tsao NW, Bansback NJ. Bar code medication administration technology: a systematic review of impact on patient safety when used with computerized prescriber order entry and automated dispensing devices. *Can J Hosp Pharm.* 2016 Sep;69(5):394.
- Ministry of Health. Review of Island Health's IHealth Electronic Health Record system [Internet]. Ministry of Health; 2018 Dec 12 [cited 1 May 2018]. 116 p. Available from: http://www.health.gov.bc.ca/library/publications/year/2017/review-of-Island-Health-IHealth-electronic-health-record-system.pdf

Increasing Patient Engagement Using Community-Based Resources

Rachael E. Houlton¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (47-49)

Abstract

Patients' level of engagement in their health and health care is a key determinant of their health status and should be maximized. This article highlights two organisations ("InspireHealth" and "Self–Management BC") offering free patient engagement interventions within British Columbia and discusses the need for better publicizing of these and other community–based patient resources to ensure that patients receive the best available care.

Patient engagement has been referred to as "the blockbuster drug of the century" and is the cornerstone of patient-centred care. For the majority of the population, their level of engagement and ability to self-manage is likely to be the primary determinant of their health.

What are self-management and patient engagement, and why are they important?

Self-management refers to all the things that patients do to manage their own health. This includes day-to-day activities such as maintaining a healthy diet, doing regular exercise, and mitigating stress, as well more directly medically-related actions such as taking medications, monitoring blood sugar, and interacting with the health care system in various ways.²

The term "patient engagement" or "patient activation" refers to patients' ability to self-manage their health. This is determined by their knowledge, skills, confidence and motivation, and is often correlated with socioeconomic status.³ Greater patient activation is associated with lower rates of smoking and obesity, improved A1C, HDL and triglyercide values, increased participation in cancer screening programs, and fewer emergency department visits.³

Increasing patient engagement

Given the great importance of patient engagement, how can we increase the engagement of all our patients? Primary care physicians can play a key role. A mere 2-4 minute counselling session with a family physician followed by referral to a health educator was shown to increase patients' cardiovascular fitness.⁴ Likewise, a 30–minute session providing advice and information about the importance of physical activity reduced patients' cardiovascular disease risk factors 6 months later.⁵

In their 2016 study, Greene et al. used a validated survey–based measure of patient activation (the patient activation measure or "PAM") to assess how PAM changed across a two–year period. They found that changes in PAM levels were positively associated with changes in health status. They also found that some physicians were more successful at increasing patient activation than others. Those who were most successful tended to use five key strategies: emphasizing patient ownership; partnering with patients; identifying small steps; scheduling frequent follow–up visits; and showing care and concern for patients.⁶

However, despite the impact that physicians can have on patient

Correspondence to Rachael E. Houlton (r.houlton@alumni.ubc.ca) activation/engagement, many physicians are failing to discuss lifestyle changes with their patients. For example, in their 2011 study, Yang et al. found that only 40% of pre–diabetic patients reported having been advised about lifestyle modifications by their healthcare provider within the last year.⁷ It is likely that time constraints⁸ and limited training in motivational interviewing are limiting factors for many family physicians.⁹

Thankfully, physicians do not have to tackle patient engagement on their own, and there are a growing number of studies describing community–based patient engagement interventions.² Evidence suggests that self–management interventions are effective in improving patients' confidence, knowledge and feelings about their condition and self–management behaviours, while findings are more mixed regarding quality of life, service utilization, health outcomes, and mortality.² Interventions tend to be more effective for patients with less severe illnesses or in the early stages of disease.¹⁰⁻¹² Outcomes are also likely to depend on the patients' stage of change and level of engagement with the intervention¹³, which may reduce the apparent effectiveness of interventions during randomized controlled trials. However, in real–world situations, where motivated patients self–select by choosing to participate in programs, the benefits may be more consistent.

My personal experience with patient engagement programs in British Columbia

Given the possible benefits of supplementary patient engagement interventions, I was interested to learn about two such programs that are freely available to patients in B.C.

In December 2017, I attended a two-day patient education program at "InspireHealth", a not-for-profit supportive cancer care organisation with locations in Vancouver, Victoria, and Kelowna (www.inspirehealth.ca). The "LIFE Program" is a free course for cancer patients and their supporters. Approximately 20-40 people can participate in a given course, and they are offered regularly throughout the year. The course includes talks on a range of topics, including nutrition, exercise, mindfulness, and even laughter yoga. It provides patients with easy-to-digest information about how to maximize their health and well-being in the wake of their cancer diagnosis. Furthermore, it gives patients an opportunity to meet with others going through similar experiences (peer support and social connectedness have been shown to be associated with positive health behaviours).^{14,15} Within two days, there was a palpable increase in morale and the participants seemed more empowered

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

and optimistic. Even though I was there as medical student rather than a patient, I too was motivated to prioritize my health and felt a strong bond with the other participants.

While I found InspireHealth's LIFE program to be excellent for cancer patients, I wanted to know what programs are available for patients with other conditions. I was therefore excited to learn of "Self-Management BC", an offshoot of the University of Victoria's Institute on Aging and Lifelong Health. Self-Management BC runs free educational courses for patients with any chronic health condition, as well as courses specifically catered to those with diabetes, chronic pain, or cancer. Similar to InspireHealth, their courses cover healthy eating, exercise, pain and fatigue management, and stress management, as well as how to communicate effectively with healthcare professionals, manage medications, plan and problem solve. Courses are delivered in weekly, 2.5-hour group sessions over a period of six weeks and are offered in multiple languages throughout the province (see www.selfmanagementbc. ca for more information). They also offer an online version of the course and an extended telephone-based "Health Coach Program", in which patients speak with a trained health coach for 30 minutes a week, over a period of three months. Self-Management BC's evidence-based courses follow the approach of the Self-Management Resource Centre (previously known as the Stanford Patient Education Research Center) in Colorado, USA, which has been found to be efficacious in a large number of studies (see www. selfmanagementresource.com/resources/bibliography). The Self-Management BC website also provides useful links to government resources, advocacy groups, nutrition and lifestyle resources, and some disease-specific support groups.

Moving forward: publicizing patient engagement resources

These free courses offered by InspireHealth and Self–Management BC have the potential to improve both patients' subjective experiences as well as their health. However, few patients (and physicians) seem to know that they are available. Indeed, most of the patients I met in the InspireHealth program had heard about the course through friends and family, rather than their health care providers. This realization made me wonder what other courses, community resources, and support groups are available to patients but under–utilised due to a lack of publicity.

In their 2015 international survey of patients with a range of chronic health conditions, the health consulting company, Accenture, found that only 19% of patients are aware of the therapeutic services available to them.¹⁶ However, of those patients who are aware of services, 58% use them and 79% consider them to be very or extremely valuable. Furthermore, as awareness increases, so do participation rates. This lack of awareness of services is also an issue in Canada and appears to be a significant barrier to service use among Canadian dementia patients and carers.^{17,18} Furthermore, those family physicians who attempt to link patients with community–based services are relying on out–of–date resources and inefficient search strategies to do so.¹⁹

A key issue seems to be the lack of a single authoritative and centralized list of patient resources. As mentioned above, the Self– Management BC website provides a list of patient resources, as does the B.C. government (https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/ health/health-drug-coverage/pharmacare/registeredgroups.pdf). However, neither list is fully comprehensive (the Self–Management BC's site does not include information about InspireHealth, while the B.C. government does not mention either organisation).

"Pathways" (pathwaysbc.ca) is a new online resource that provides family physicians and their staff with access to lists of local specialists to whom they can refer patients, as well as lists of relevant patient support services. Pathways can be accessed through the Electronic Medical Record system and is hoped to help family physicians connect patients with resources at the point of care. However, it is not clear what measures will be taken to ensure that the Pathways list of patient resources will have more comprehensive coverage than the pre–existing lists mentioned above. I also fear that by restricting access to this list to health care providers, we are preventing patients from researching resources on their own, reducing their self–efficacy. Conversely, leaving patients to "Google it" for themselves, puts too much onus on them and means that resources will be discovered only by highly determined patients who know what they are looking for and which search terms to use.

I therefore suggest that there is a need for a well–promoted and comprehensive database of all patient resources (interventions, education programs, support groups etc.) that is easily accessible to both physicians and patients, and can be filtered by geographical location. Indeed, the development of an "easily searchable 'one– stop–shop' online database with all available community services" was also strongly recommended by Canadian family physicians interviewed by Ploeg et al.¹⁹

Ontario's "thehealthline.ca" has made great strides towards meeting this goal. It provides an easy-to-navigate listing of community care and social services and is accessible for both physicians and the public. This is an excellent resource, and other provinces could benefit from adopting something similar (or, ideally, a single nationwide site). However, it is worth noting that a website of this format will require vigilant updating to remain comprehensive.

An alternative is to create a collaborative wiki site that physicians, support organisations, and patients can access and contribute to. A collaborative format would allow patients to play an active role, reduce the likelihood that resources will be omitted, and share the workload involved in creating and updating the site. Other examples of successful healthcare wiki sites that allow contributions from both patients and physicians include wikicancer.org and diabetes. wikia.com. Contributions can also be moderated by an editor before being published in order to prevent errors. Once created, this site would need to be actively promoted in order to increase awareness and encourage use; however, I propose that this would be a highly cost–effective way to improve patient engagement, health, and well–being, while ensuring that existing services are fully utilised.

Conclusion

As physicians, we need to be aware of and open to using all available resources that can help improve our patients' health. Community– based resources that have the potential to increase patient engagement are freely available in B.C., and patients should be made aware of these resources so that they can participate if they wish. The current lack of awareness of such resources among physicians and patients demonstrates the need for better publicity of patient services and support groups within British Columbia. I suggest that this could be achieved through the use of a collaborative wiki site that can be accessed and contributed to by both physicians and patients.

- 1. Kish, L. The Blockbuster Drug of the Century: An Engaged Patient. Health Standards [Internet]. 2012 August 28 [cited 2018 March 8]. Available from: http://healthstandards.
- com/blog/2012/08/28/drug-of-the-century/ de Silva, D. Helping people help themselves: a review of the evidence considering wheth-er it is worthwhile to support self-management. *London: The Health Foundation* [Internet]. 2. 2011 [cited 2018 March 15]. Available from: https://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/
- files/HelpingPeopleHelpThemselves.pdf Greene J, Hibbard JH. Why does patient activation matter? An examination of the rela-tionships between patient activation and health-related outcomes. J Gen Intern Med. 2011 3. Nov 30;27(5):520-6.
- Nov 50,27(2):220-0. Writing Group for the Activity Counseling Trial Research Group. Effects of physical activity counseling in primary care: The activity counseling trial: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2001 Aug 8;286(6):677–87. Maruthur NM, Wang NY, Appel LJ. Lifestyle interventions reduce coronary heart disease risk: results from the PREMIER trial. *Circulation*. 2009 Apr 20;119(15):2026–31. 4.
- 5.
- Greene J, Hibbard JH, Alvarez C, Overton V. Supporting patient behavior change: ap-6. proaches used by primary care clinicians whose patients have an increase in activation levels. *Ann Fam Med.* 2016 Mar 7;14(2):148–54.
- Yang K, Lee Y-S, Chasens ER. Outcomes of health care providers' recommendations for healthy lifestyle among U.S. adults with prediabetes. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord*. 2011 7. Mar 1;9(3):231-7
- Linzer M, Manwell LB, Williams ES, Bobula JA, Brown RL, Varkey AB, et al. Working conditions in primary care: physician reactions and care quality. *Ann Intern Med.* 2009 Jul 8. 7;151(1):28-36-W6-9.

- Anstiss T. Motivational interviewing in primary care. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. 2009 Mar 9. 1;16(1):87-93.
- Parchman ML, Arambula-Solomon TG, Noël PH, Larme AC, Pugh JA. Stage of change 10. advancement for diabetes self-management behaviors and glucose control. Diabetes Educ. 2003 Jan 1;29(1):128-34.
- 11 Bode C, Taal E, Emons PAA, Galetzka M, Rasker JJ, Van de Laar MAFJ. Limited results of group self-management education for rheumatoid arthritis patients and their partners: explanations from the patient perspective. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2008 Dec;27(12):1523–8.
- Wegener ST, Mackenzie EJ, Ephraim P, Ehde D, Williams R. Self-management improves outcomes in persons with limb loss. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2009 Mar;90(3):373–80. Toukhsati SR, Driscoll A, Hare DL. Patient self-management in chronic heart failure es-12.
- 13. tablishing concordance between guidelines and practice. Card Fail Rev. 2015 Oct;1(2):128-
- Trento M, Gamba S, Gentile L, Grassi G, Miselli V, Morone G, et al. Rethink organi-zation to improve education and outcomes (ROMEO): a multicenter randomized trial of lifestyle intervention by group care to manage type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2010 14. Apr;33(4):745-7
- Reeves D, Blickem C, Vassilev I, Brooks H, Kennedy A, Richardson G, et al. The contri-15. bution of social networks to the health and self-management of patients with long-term conditions: a longitudinal study. PLoS ONE. 2014 Jun 2;9(6):e98340.
- Accenture. Patient Services Pharma's Best Kept Secret. Accenture Life Sciences [Inter-net]; 2015 [cited 2018 May 8]. Available from: https://www.accenture.com/_acnmedia/ 16. Accenture/next-gen/patient-services-survey/Accenture-Mc814-Patient-ServicesLS-Re-
- search-Note2015-v7.pdf Strain LA, Blandford AA. Community-based services for the taking but few takers: rea-sons for nonuse. *J Appl Gerontol.* 2002 Jun 1;21(2):220–35. 17.
- Ploeg J, Denton M, Tindale J, Hutchison B, Brazil K, Akhtar-Danesh N, et al. Older 18 adults' awareness of community health and support services for dementia care. *Can J Aging*. 2009 Dec;28(4):359–70.
- Ploeg J, Denton M, Hutchison B, McAiney C, Moore A, Brazil K, et al. Primary care phy-19. sicians" perspectives on facilitating older patients" access to community support services: Qualitative case study. *Can Fam Physician*. 2017 Jan;63(1):e31–e42

Listen and Learn: How the Podcast Revolution Is Shaping Medical Education

Braedon R. Paul¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (50-51)

Cince the dawn of portable music players and smartphones, podcasts Thave rapidly earned their way into the pockets of consumers across the world. The term "podcast" was first coined in 2004 to describe regularly published audio excerpts that can be downloaded from the Internet and listened to on personal computers or mobile devices.1 Young people are particularly fond of this rising form of digital media, with 41% (and counting) of Canadians aged 18-34 having listened to one or more podcasts in the past month.2 This statistic is not particularly surprising, given the multitude of podcasts that are publicly available. According to a recent survey, over 525,000 active podcasts and 18.5 million episodes in topics ranging from comedy to investigative journalism to current events have been produced as of 2018.3 Although podcasts are perhaps most well-known as a source of entertainment, many have turned to them for their educational value. The medical field, for instance, although a newcomer to the podcast world, has started to embrace this unique medium of communication to educate medical trainees and professionals at all levels and specialties around the world.

With respect to subject matter, medical education podcasts fall into a variety of subcategories based on the target demographic, whether it be medical students, residents, fellows, or full-fledged family/specialist physicians. Depending on the listener population, these podcasts can have vastly different objectives. For the busy physician, for instance, podcasts offer an efficient and practical means by which one can stay up to date on the medical literature in his or her respective field. Moreover, podcast developers often perform the most time-and resourceintensive tasks themselves by sifting through and hand-selecting the most recent and relevant literature, while simultaneously supplementing it with their own critical analyses and clinical pearls. The BS Medicine Podcast, produced by the Therapeutics Education Collaboration in Vancouver, for example, provides healthcare professionals with "current, evidence-based, practical, and relevant information on rational drug therapy"4 and is freely and publicly available to anyone with Internet access. Among the podcasts targeted towards students, objectives more commonly involve conveying general clinical knowledge and preparing students for written and clinical exams. Surgery 101, produced by the University of Alberta in Edmonton, for example, is a popular series of surgical education podcasts aimed at teaching clerkship students and residents about the basics of surgery. Although a small number of other open-access medical podcasts exist, the supply remains markedly overshadowed by the growing demand for high-quality podcasts.

Podcasts provide users with advantages that cannot be offered through more traditional methods of learning. One clear benefit regards the flexibility afforded to learners to study at their own pace, wherever and whenever they may choose. Medical students in one study, for example, reported listening to educational podcasts while commuting, shopping, exercising, and performing household chores.⁵ Listeners may

Correspondence Braedon Paul (braedon.paul@alumni.ubc.ca) also rewind, fast–forward, pause, or increase the episode speed to their choosing and are free to listen to the podcast as many times as necessary.⁶ The implications from this are significant: busy students of today are no longer restricted to the classroom or the library to study but can instead look outside these traditional settings to chart their own schedules and learn "on the go." Podcasts also help cater education to students with a range of learning styles and study habits, particularly auditory learners. Indeed, studies have suggested greater benefits to long–term memory if material is listened to as opposed to read.^{7,8}

To the podcast skeptics, early studies have even shown test score improvements among students who used podcasts when compared to controls using text resources, though further research is needed to establish stronger links.9 Supporting these early results are a collection of qualitative findings demonstrating that educational podcasts reduce exam-related stress and anxiety, help consolidate information, and allow for multitasking among medical students.10,11 Regarding the podcast style, medical students in past studies particularly enjoyed conversational and case-based episodes, as they were simultaneously engaging and clinically relevant.¹¹⁻¹³ Students also benefitted from wrapup summaries at the end of podcasts,¹¹ a welcome addition given the "multitasker-friendly" design of podcasts and subsequent potential to miss pertinent information. Listeners across multiple studies also tended to prefer podcasts under 30 minutes of duration.9 Importantly, however, such time restraints limited the volume of information that could effectively be packed into a single podcast. As such, students often tended to prefer podcasts as supplements to live lectures and textbooks rather than replacements.¹⁰ Others yet preferred podcasts as extracurricular tools, i.e., for learning outside of direct curricular needs.¹¹ Thus, although podcasts have demonstrated their worth as adjuncts to core curricular content, podcasts alone are likely not sufficient as a sole learning resource for medical students. This is further supported by the fact that podcasts are pre-recorded resources and thus prevent listeners from contributing to discussions or asking questions as they would during a live lecture or seminar. Another limitation involves the money, time, and labour costs required to develop a high-quality podcast. As a result, medical education podcasts such as PedsCases, produced by the University of Alberta in Edmonton, accept podcast submissions written and recorded entirely by medical students, thus reducing costs while offering eager students a platform to gain experience in their field of interest.

Despite the recent emergence of medical education podcasts, relatively few studies have explored their effectiveness and formal podcast development guidelines have yet to be established. However, data from existing studies are consistent: podcasts are valuable learning tools that, among other benefits, improve and individualize learning by offering total flexibility with regards to when and how one chooses to learn. Test scores agree, with early studies demonstrating score improvements among podcast learners as compared to control groups. Add this to the relative ease at which episodes can be distributed and

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

shared online and it is clear to see why many medical educators are so enticed by them. In the future, educators should focus on developing objective and validated evaluation tools and producing evidence-based guidelines for the creation of new podcasts. In the meantime, however, one thing is clear: thanks to this exciting new form of media, education can be as simple as hitting "play."

- Hammersley B. Audible revolution. The Guardian [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2018 1. Oct 19];10-3. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/media/2004/ feb/12/broadcasting.digitalmedia
- 2. Edison Research TD. The Infinite Dial Canada 2018 [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 17]. Available from: https://www.edisonresearch.com/infinite-dialcanada-2018/
- Edison Research TD. The Infinite Dial 2018 [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 3. 17]. Available from: https://www.edisonresearch.com/infinite-dial-2018/
- 4. Therapeutics Education Collaboration. BS Medicine Podcast [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2018 Oct 18]. Available from: https://therapeuticseducation.org/bsmedicine-podcast

- Long SR, Edwards PB. Podcasting: making waves in millenial education. J Nurses Staff Dev. 2010;26(3):96 101. 5.
- Shantikumar S. From lecture theatre to portable media: students' perceptions 6. of an enhanced podcast for revision. Med Teach. 2009;31(6):535 8
- Sandars J. Twelve tips for using podcasts in medical education. Med Teach. 7. 2009;31(5):387 9. Brown A, Ajufo E, Cone C, Quirk M. LectureKeepr: a novel approach to
- 8. studying in the adaptive curriculum. Med Teach. 2018 Aug 3;40(8):834 7.
- 9 Cho D, Cosimini M, Espinoza J. Podcasting in medical education: a review of the literature. Korean J Med Educ. 2017 Dec;29(4):229 39.
- 1Kalludi SN, Punja Ď, Pai KM, Dhar M. Efficacy and perceived utility of 10. podcasts as a supplementary teaching aid among first-year dental students. Australas Med J. 2013;6(9):450 7.
- 11. Chin A, Helman A, Chan TM. Podcast use in undergraduate medical education. Cureus. 2017 Dec 9;9(12):e1930.
- Kamel Boulos MN, Maramba I, Wheeler S. Wikis, blogs and podcasts: a new 12. generation of web-based tools for virtual collaborative clinical practice and education. BMC Med Educ. 2006 Dec 15;6(1):41.
- White JS, Sharma N, Boora P. Surgery 101: evaluating the use of podcasting in a general surgery clerkship. Med Teach. 2011;33(11):941 3. 13.

The Future of Lung Cancer: An Interview with Dr. Stephen Lam

Andrew P. Golin¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (52)

Introduction

Lung cancer causes the greatest number of cancer–related deaths worldwide.¹ Despite this sobering statistic, the five–year survival of lung cancer has only slightly improved from 15% during 1995-2000 to 18% during 2006-2012.^{1,2} This is largely explained by the asymptomatic nature of lung cancer during its early stages. As a result, half of all lung cancer cases in Canada are diagnosed during advanced stages.³

Given the high frequency of individuals with stage III and IV lung cancer, lung cancer screening has been proposed. Dr. Stephen Lam, Leon Judah Blackmore Chair in Lung Cancer Research and MDS– Rix endowed Director of Translational Lung Cancer Research at the BC Cancer Research Center, is currently researching lung cancer risk prediction calculators with low–dose CT scans as a population–level screening method. In this paper, Dr. Stephen Lam will discuss the past, present, and future state of lung cancer.

Why do you focus your research on the early detection of lung cancer?

Lung cancer is the most common cause of cancer death in not only Canada, but around the world.⁴ When I first began practicing medicine, the survival rate of lung cancer was around 5% to 8%. Presently, it is better, but still very poor at approximately 18%. I think this has not changed much because there is no lung cancer screening program in place. Early detection of lung cancer is key because treatments were and are still not very effective for patients with advanced lung cancer. I examined the global trends of different diseases and I noticed lung cancer is among the top five killers. I wanted to address this important health issue.

How has lung cancer treatment evolved over the past twenty years?

Firstly, we have much better surgical techniques. For small early cancers, we have developed image–guided surgery where a radiologist can insert a fuzzy wire into the nodule to enable the thoracic surgeon to precisely locate the tiny growth and remove it with a high degree of accuracy, without significantly compromising the lung function of a patient.⁵ There are also new radiation therapies, such as stereotactic body radiation therapy, which can treat early stages of lung cancer for people who cannot or do not want surgery.⁶ For patients with advanced lung cancer, there are exciting developments in targeted therapy and immunotherapy, although these are mostly palliative.

What do you think lung cancer screening will look like in ten years and how does the recent legalization of marijuana affect this?

I think it will be much more precise. Even today, there is now good

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Correspondence Andrew Golin (agolinp@gmail.com) evidence from two large randomized clinical trials that screening with low–dose CT scan can reduce lung cancer deaths by 20% or more.^{7, 8} With additional research, we will likely be able to identify people who should be screened based on numerous additional parameters such as environmental factors and perhaps blood or genetic tests. Analyses will also be more precise and rapid since CT scans will be read using deep learning. This will help to identify patients who need to be carefully watched or who need an early biopsy versus those with a slow growing cancer or benign nodule who can be more easily watched. Regarding the legalization of cannabis in Canada, it will be very difficult to study its effects on lung cancer. Unlike cigarettes where you can calculate how many cigarettes an individual smokes per day, one joint is not the same as another joint, and with the numerous ways people inhale marijuana, this makes it challenging to study.

Conclusion

Worldwide, lung cancer continues to cause the most cancer–related deaths.⁹ This is partly explained by its common insidious progression, often resulting in advanced stages of lung cancer when patients present with symptoms. A limited number of surgical and radiation therapies have been developed over the years, and these are still ineffective at curing advanced lung cancer.

The work by Dr. Stephen Lam and his colleagues paves the way for improving the future of lung cancer diagnosis by encouraging the use of low-dose CT scans as a screening method for asymptomatic patients. Currently, research groups around the world are refining their screening processes by implementing environmental and genetic parameters into risk prediction models, attempting to use deep learning to accelerate CT scan readings, and modifying and comparing screening protocols amongst research groups. The current prognosis of lung cancer is abysmal, but the future of lung cancer screening and treatment is promising.

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2017. CA: Cancer J Clin. 2017 Jan;67(1):7-30.
- Jemal A, Murray T, Ward E, Samuels A, Tiwari RC, Ghafoor A, et al. Cancer Statistics, 2005. CA: Cancer J Clin. 2005 Jan 1;55(1):10-30.
- Canadian Cancer Statistics Advisory Committee. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2018 [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2018 [cited 2018 Sept 18]. Available from: cancer.ca/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2018-EN
- Molina JR, Yang P, Cassivi SD, Schild SE, Adjei AA. Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, Treatment, and Survivorship. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2008 May 1;83(5):584-594.
- Finley RJ, Mayo JR, Grant K, Clifton JC, English J, Leo J, et al. Preoperative computed tomography–guided microcoil localization of small peripheral pulmonary nodules: A prospective randomized controlled trial. J Thorac Cardionus Surg. 2015;149(1):26-32.
- Abreu CE, Ferreira PP, de Moraes FY, Neves Jr, WF, Gadia R, Carvalho HdA. Stereotactic body radiotherapy in lung cancer: an update. J Brus Pneumol. 2015 Jul;41(4):376-387.
- Aberle DR, Adams AM, Berg CD, Black WC, Clapp JD, Fagerstrom RM, et al. Reduced Lung-Cancer Mortality with Low-Dose Computed Tomographic Screening. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(5):395-409.
- De Koning H, Van Der Aalst C, Ten Haaf K, Oudkerk M. Effects of volume CI' lung cancer screening: Mortality results of the NELSON randomized-controlled population based trial. Paper presented at: World Conference on Lung Cancer, 2018 Sept 25; Toronto, Canada.
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *Int J Caneer*. 2015 Mar 01;136(5):359.

The Problem of Unmatched Canadian Medical Graduates: Where Are We Now?

Sympascho Young¹ Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (53-54)

Over the past few years, there has been a heated national debate on the Canadian Resident Matching Service (CaRMS), spurred in part by the tragic case of Robert Chu, a highly qualified Canadian medical graduate (CMG) who chose to end his own life in 2017 after remaining unmatched for two consecutive years.¹ Over the last decade, the number of unmatched CMGs has increased steadily from 11 in 2009 to 69 in 2018.² When accounting for the number of CMGs who chose not to apply for the second iteration after going unmatched in the first iteration, there were 115 CMGs who could not obtain residency positions in 2018.^{3,4} In a country with a projected shortage of physicians, why is it that a growing number of CMGs cannot find residency positions?

Since 2009, the Canadian Medical Association and the Canadian Federation of Medical Students have recommended an ideal target of 120 spots for every 100 CMG applicants in order to optimize the matching algorithm.^{5,6} In 2009, there were 112 spots for every 100 CMG applicants,⁷ which although was less than desired, still allowed for the majority of students to match into a specialty of their choice. Over the past decade, this ratio has steadily decreased to the point where there are now 101 spots for every 100 CMG applicants.² When language differences are taken into account, there may be less than 98 spots for every 100 English–speaking applicants due to a greater number of Quebec graduates matching outside of Quebec than English speakers matching inside Quebec.²

There are many reasons for the relative shortage of residency positions. Medical school class sizes have grown at a rate faster than that of residency positions over the past decade.⁸ Since 2014, residency positions have failed to increase and even suffered cutbacks while the number of applicants continues to grow.⁸ In 2015, Ontario cut 50 residency positions due to cited "scarce healthcare dollars."⁹ At the same time, the number of international medical graduates (IMGs) applying for residency in Canada has been growing, many of whom are Canadians who studied medicine abroad.¹⁰ The number of CMGs applying to the US and international residency programs has also decreased over the past decade.¹⁰ Finally, students who fail to match for a residency position in the previous year re–enter the match, adding to the pool of current–year candidates. Overall, a mismatch between the number of graduating students and available spots has resulted in this crisis.

Going unmatched is an anxiety–provoking topic for medical students. In addition to the stigma and emotional toll caused by a year of uncertainty, there are significant career and financial repercussions. With neither student status nor professional license, unmatched graduates depend on their school and provincial legislation for the ability to work in clinical settings.¹¹ In addition to potentially paying for another year of tuition, unmatched students are required to immediately begin paying back their student loans and lines of credit—which can

Correspondence Sympascho Young (sympascho@alumni.ubc.ca) total more than \$100,000—without a resident salary.¹ Unfortunately, their chances of being successfully matched the following year are not optimistic either. Over the past three years, an average of 41% of prior–year CMGs failed to match, compared with only 3.5% of current–year CMGs.^{2,12,13} Their medical degree is essentially useless without residency as one cannot practice medicine without a license.

Across Canada, student affairs, undergraduate medical education (UGME) committees, and student leaders are collaborating to find a solution to this crisis. In January 2018, the Association of Faculties of Medicine in Canada released a position paper titled, "Reducing the number of unmatched CMGs: A way forward."⁶ In May 2018, the Canadian Federation of Medical Students published its own position paper.¹⁴ Among the strategies and recommendations put forward by both parties, increasing the ratio of CMG spots to CMG applicants to 1.1 was seen as the priority, either by increasing funding or shifting IMG positions to CMGs.⁶ Both parties also agreed that the first step would be to increase support for unmatched CMGs, such as providing career counseling and increasing access to opportunities during a year off.^{6,14}

As of 2018, all Canadian schools have improved the availability of individualized career counseling and match data for students as early as their first year.¹⁰ The majority of schools now allow a "fifth year" for unmatched students to obtain additional clinical elective experience.¹⁵ Other schools are instead offering graduate–level programs to gain research experience and develop complementary skillsets in epidemiology, education, or business.¹⁵

For UBC graduates, there are currently two main options available: expedited access to a UBC Masters of Health Science (MHSc) program or the ability to organize their own clinical traineeship within BC, provided they can find an appropriate supervisor.¹¹ In a UBCMJ interview, Dr. Janette McMillan, Associate Dean of Student Affairs at UBC, revealed that UBC UGME is in the process of developing a new program that would offer UBC–supported clinical time for unmatched graduates.¹⁵ She stated, "The more flexibility we can offer for our [unmatched] students, the better we can meet each individual graduate's need."¹⁴ During the interview, she also proudly mentioned that every CMG that had finished the UBC MHSc and worked with Student Affairs matched the following year, though not necessarily in the specialty they applied for in their first attempt.¹⁵

Provincial governments have also begun to recognize the importance of this issue. As a temporary fix, the Ontario provincial government responded in April 2018 by announcing that it would fund 53 additional positions in the coming match cycle for unmatched Ontario CMGs, with the requirement of a two–year rural service contract.¹⁶ In May 2018, the Canadian Armed Forces also announced that they will work to fund additional family residency spots for the Medical Officer Training Program.¹⁷ Though these are steps in the right direction, it remains to be seen whether this funding will be available for the coming years.

As a nation with an aging population and increasing health

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

needs, Canada needs to continue prioritizing healthcare and ensure that medical students trained with taxpayer money can continue to residency so that they have the opportunity to contribute to the community as practicing physicians. With increasing attention to this issue and collaboration between stakeholders, there is hope for a future that protects Canada's resource of young doctors.

References

- Woods A. Tragic case of Robert Chu shows plight of Canadian medical school grads [Internet]; 2017 Jun 17 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https:// www.thestar.com/news/canada/2017/06/17/tragic-case-of-robert-chushows-plight-of-canadian-medical-school-grads.html
- Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2018 Main Residency match Results: Combined Iterations; 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/
- https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/
 Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2018 R-1 Main Residency Match Report Second Iteration; 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/
 Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2018 R-1 Main Residency
- Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2018 R-1 Main Residency Match Report – First Iteration; 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/
- Canadian Medical Association. Flexibility in Medical Training (Update 2009). 2009.
- Reducing the Number of Unmatched Canadian Medical Graduates: A Way Forward [Internet]. The Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada; 2018 Jan [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://afmc.ca/publications/ reducing-number-unmatched-canadian-medical-graduates/
- Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2019 Match Results First Iteration R-1; 2019 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.

ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/

- Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. National Data on CMG Applicants & Quota in the R-1 Match (2008-2018, 1st iteration only); 2018 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1data-reports/
- CBC. Ontario cuts 50 medical residency places, critics warn of doctor shortage [Internet]. CBC; 2015 Aug 10 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https:// www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/ontario-cuts-50-medical-residencyplaces-critics-warn-of-doctor-shortage-1.3186094
- ARMC Undergraduate Medical Education and Student Affairs Committees. The role of MD programs in transitioning students to residency (position paper). Unpublished.
- McMillan J. Information and support for students who have not matched. University of British Columbia Faculty of Medicine. Unpublished.
- Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2016 Main Residency Match Results: Combined Iterations; 2016 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/
- Canadian Resident Matching Service [Internet]. 2017 Main Residency Match Results: Combined Iterations; 2017 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https://www.carms.ca/data-reports/r1-data-reports/
- Canadian Federation of Medical Students [Internet]. Unmatched Canadian Medical Graduates; 2018 May 29 [cited 2018 Oct 20]. Available from: https:// www.cfms.org/CFMS%20uCMG%20MP%20Handout%20May%2029.pdf
- McMillan J (Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC). Interview with: Sympascho Young (University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC). 2018 Dec 12.
- CBC. Ontario to fund more residency positions for graduating doctors [Internet]. CBC; 2018 [cited 2018 Dec 3]. Available from: https://www.cbc. ca/news/health/residency-ontario-1.4623120
- Global News. Canadian military recruiting doctors who need to complete medical residencies [Internet]. Global News; 2018 May 17 [cited 2018 Nov 28]. Available from: https://globalnews.ca/news/4216697/canadian-militaryrecruiting-doctors-medical-residencies/

Screen Time and Childhood Obesity: A Commentary on the Evidence Behind Current Guidelines

Jasper Johar¹

Citation: UBCMJ. 2019: 10.2 (55-56)

Tow more than ever, youth are being exposed to media at a young age. It can be expected that an average elementary school student is adept at using a tablet or a smartphone. However, this acquisition of technological prowess is not without its downsides. It has been well-established that the use of technology that requires one to be sedentary is associated with obesity in youth.1 "Screen time," a term that describes the number of sedentary hours spent in front of a screen, has been coined to quantify an individual's usage of technology. Given the ubiquity of technology in modern life, it seems unreasonable to entirely eliminate screen time among youth. Nevertheless, the impact that screen time is having on obesity has become so apparent that national guidelines recommend a limit on the daily amount of screen time in youth.^{2,3} This article identifies the pertinent literature supporting the role of limiting screen time in youth in reducing obesity, explores why and how screen time contributes to obesity, and lastly, highlights current guidelines that address this issue.

Evolutionarily, humans have been selected to live active lifestyles in the pursuit of food rather than remain sedentary in front of a screen.⁴ As humans have seemingly become more sedentary in the 21st century, one wonders what role this behaviour is playing in the increasing rates of metabolic dysregulation and obesity worldwide.⁵ A longitudinal study done at the University of North Carolina that followed 9155 15-year-olds to the age of 21 demonstrated an association between obesity and the amount of screen time.6 The researchers surveyed the participants' activity levels, screen time, and weight, and found that weekly hours of screen time independently predicted obesity in early adulthood. In the study, fewer hours of weekly screen time reduced the relative odds of incidence of obesity by over 40% among females and over 20% in males. The study also found that longitudinal physical activity patterns were not predictive of obesity in the cohort.⁶ This suggests that with increased sedentary screen time, the effect of exercise on obesity may not be as protective as previously thought. This is particularly concerning for healthcare practitioners who prescribe exercise to patients. Knowing this, it may be more prudent to prescribe a maximum cap of daily screen time, and to encourage frequent breaks during screen time to limit continuous sedentary behaviour.

Given the powerful effect that sedentary screen time has on obesity, the question remains: what is the mechanism behind this relationship? Some suggest that eating while screen–viewing contributes to increased energy intake.⁷ According to a review by Robinson et al., some of the effect that screen time has on obesity may be caused by the high–caloric foods that are consumed while watching television, media distracting children from their feelings of satiety, and media advertising sugary and processed foods to children.⁷ In a study done in 2014, 2 to 11–year–olds and 12 to 17–year–olds, respectively, saw an average of 12.8 and 15.2 food and beverage advertisements on television alone daily.⁸ Over 90% of the foods marketed through television and other

Correspondence Jasper Johar (jasper.johar@alumni.ubc.ca) media platforms are highly processed and unhealthy, according to a report published by the Heart and Stroke Foundation (HSF) in 2017.⁹ Importantly, many children are being marketed to through novel forms of media such as applications, websites, and social media. This change is especially disconcerting when one considers that these platforms may appear to younger children as entertainment and not advertising.⁹ In response to this growing issue, the HSF has recommended a push for legislation to restrict marketing of food and beverages to children in Canada. The Child Health Protection Act, a bill that has been designed to prohibit the marketing of food and beverages towards children under the age of 13, was put forth in the senate in 2015.¹⁰ In addition to this upcoming legislation, evidence–based guidelines have been created to limit screen time in the interim.

The Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology (CSEP) has released guidelines surrounding activity in a 24-hour day for 5 to 17year-olds. These guidelines, otherwise known as "Sweat, Step, Sleep, and Sit," suggest no more than two hours of screen time per day. In addition, the CSEP guidelines recommend 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous exercise daily, unstructured light exercise throughout the day, and 9-11 hours of uninterrupted sleep per night.² These guidelines are based on evidence collected from several systematic reviews.^{11,12} In one of the systematic reviews, which compiled 235 studies and represented 1,657,064 unique participants, they found that children 5-17 years-old who spent more time in front of a screen were more likely to have elevated body mass index (BMI) and higher cardiometabolic risk scores.¹² More specifically, in this meta-analysis, children who were less sedentary, more physically active, and who got more sleep had the most favourable cardiometabolic profile. Moving forward, replacing screen time with physical activity to optimize child health is a warranted recommendation.

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) has also released their own guidelines about maximal dose of screen time in children. These guidelines recommend restriction on screen time for children between 2 and 5 years of age to no more than one hour per day.³ The rationale for this restriction is to allow children more time to engage in healthier activities that are critical to their development, and to establish screen–viewing habits that are conducive to a lower risk of obesity later in life.³ These same guidelines also suggest that screen time in children up to 18 months of age should be avoided altogether unless it is being used for video calling, because non–social screen time is hypothesized to be detrimental to neurodevelopment.³

Screen time has become commonplace in day-to-day life, however it appears that its normalcy has gone unchecked. In particular, youth are vulnerable to becoming obese due to the large amount of time they spend in front of screens, as well as the marketing of poorer food choices through various forms of media.⁹ Organizations of healthcare practitioners are beginning to recognize and caution against too much screen time in youth, as evidenced by the CSEP and AAP guidelines. Considering the data summarized above and the harm that screen time presents, it will be vital for healthcare practitioners to be

¹MD Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

prepared to advocate for healthier ways of using technology. Physician advocacy groups and research studies must continue to monitor the impact of technology on youth in order to minimize its harms as our world enters an era of technological ubiquity.

- Chaput JP. Screen time associated with adolescent obesity and obesity risk factors. J Pediatr. 2017 Jul;186:209-12.
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology [Internet]. Ottawa, Ontario: Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology; 2019. 24–hour movement guidelines in children and youth; 2016. Available from: http://csepguidelines.ca
- AAP Council on Communications and Media. Media and young minds. Pediatrics. 2016 Nov 1;138(5):e20162591
- Chakravarthy MV, Booth FW. Eating, exercise, and "thrifty" genotypes: connecting the dots toward an evolutionary understanding of modern chronic diseases. *J Appl Physiol.* 2004 Jan 1;96(1):3-10.
 Bullock VE, Griffiths P, Sherar LB, Clemes SA. Sitting time and obesity in a
- Bullock VE, Griffiths P, Sherar LB, Clemes SA. Sitting time and obesity in a sample of adults from Europe and the USA. *Annals of Human Biology*. 2017 Apr 3;44(3):230-6.
- Boone JE, Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Popkin BM. Screen time and physical activity during adolescence: longitudinal effects on obesity in young adulthood. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* 2007 Jun 8;4:26.

- Robinson TN, Banda JA, Hale L, Lu AS, Fleming-Milici F, Calvert SL, et al. Screen media exposure and obesity in children and adolescents. *J Pediatr*: 2017 Nov;140(Supplement 2):S97-101.
- Dembek CR, Harris JL, Schwartz MB. Trends in television food advertising to young people: 2013 update [Internet]. Hartford, Connecticut: Yale Rudd Center for Food Policy and Obesity; May 2014 [cited 2018 Feb 28]. 6 p. Available from: http://www.uconnruddcenter.org/files/Pdfs/RuddReport_ TVFoodAdvertising_6_14.pdf
- Heart and Stroke Foundation. The kids are not alright. How the food and beverage industry is marketing our children and youth to death. 2017 Report on the Health of Canadians [Internet]. Heart and Stroke Foundation; 2017. 15 p. Available from: https://www.heartandstroke.ca/-/media/ pdf-files/canada/2017-heart-month/heartandstroke-reportonhealth2017. ashx?la=en&hash=1D4354193C46A235D2A657230FE2EB29DC6F34C8
- An Act to amend the Food and Drugs Act (prohibiting food and beverage marketing directed at children), S. 228, 1st sess, 42nd Parl. (2015).
 Saunders TJ, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput JP, Janssen I, et al. Combinations
- Saunders TJ, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput JP, Janssen I, et al. Combinations of physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep: relationships with health indicators in school-aged children and youth. *Appl Physiol, Nutr, and Metab.* 2016 Jun;41(6 (Suppl.3)):S283-S293
- Carson V, Hunter S, Kuzik N, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behavior and health indicators in school–aged children and youth: an update. *Appl Physiol, Nutr, and Metab.* 2016 Jun;41(6 (Suppl.3)):S240-S265

2018-2019 UBCMJ Staff

EXECUTIVE

Editors in Chief

Calvin Liang, MSc (Sr.) Annette Ye, PhD (Sr.) Christine Wang (Jr.) Seo Am Hur, MSc (Jr.)

Managing Editors

Jennifer Ling, MSc (Sr.) Janice Mok, BHSc (Hons) (Sr.) Mark Trinder, MSc (Jr.) Aishwi Roshan (Jr.)

Publications Managers

Cody Lo, BSc (Sr.) Mark Cahalan, BHSc (Jr.)

Communications

Ellen He, BHSc (Sr.) Alvin Qiu, BSc (Hons) (Jr.)

STAFF WRITERS

James Cairns, MSc Braedon Paul Sympascho Young, BSc (Hons) Sewon Bann, BSc Jasper Johar, HBSc Andrew Golin, BSc Erik Haensel, BA Farhad R. Udwadia, MBE

SECTION EDITORS

Academics

Daniel Kwon, MSc (Sr.) Alvin Liu, BSc (Jr.)

Case and Elective Reports

Wissam Nassrallah, MSc (Sr.) Michael Minkley, MSc (Jr.)

Reviews

Peter Baumeister, MSc (Sr.) Rohit Singla, MASc (Jr.)

Commentaries

Kate Koh, BSc (Sr.) Allyssa Hooper, MSc (Jr.) Jessica Li, MPH (Jr.)

News and Letters

Gabriel Blank, BSc (Sr.) Vivienne Beard, BSc (Jr.)

COPYEDITING

Chief Copyeditors Elisabeth McClymont, BA (Sr.) Andy An, BSc (Jr.)

Copyeditors

Jeffery Ye, BHSc (Sr.) Cassia Tremblay, BSc (Sr.) Derek van Pel, PhD (Jr.) Katrina Besler, BSc (Jr.) Nathan Ko (Jr.) Jonathan Choi, BSc (Jr.) Sophie Zhang-Jiang (Jr.) Lianne Cho, BSc (Jr.)

EXTERNAL

Finances, Advertising & Sponsorship

Jason Kim, BSc (Pharm) (Sr.) Eric Esslinger, BSc (Sr.) Amanda Wong, BSc (Jr.) Sophia Ly, BSc (Hons) (Jr.)

IT Managers

Tami Lin, BSc, BMus (Sr.) Ryan Sandarage, BSc (Jr.)

PUBLICATIONS

Layout & Graphics Editors Nancy Duan, BSc (Sr.) Talise Lindenbach, BSc (Jr.) The University of British Columbia Medical Journal (UBCMJ) is a student-driven academic journal with the goal of engaging students in medical dialogue. Our scope ranges from original research and review articles in medicine to medical trends, clinical reports, elective reports, and commentaries on the principles and practice of medicine. We strive to maintain a high level of integrity and accuracy in our work, to encourage collaborative production and cross-disciplinary communication, and to stimulate critical and independent thinking.

Submission Guidelines

Articles are submitted online via our online submissions system, OJS (http://ojs.library.ubc.ca/index.php/ubcmj). For detailed submission instructions, please refer to the complete online version of the UBCMJ Guide to Authors, which can be found at http://ubcmj.med.ubc.ca/ submissions/ubc-medical-journal-guide-to-authors/.

Author Eligibility

Authors must acknowledge and declare any sources of funding or potential conflicting interest, such as receiving funds or fees from, or holding stocks and benefiting from, an organization that may profit or lose through publication of the submitted paper. Declaring a competing interest will not necessarily preclude publication but will be conducive to the UBCMJ's goal of transparency. Such information will be held in confidence while the paper is under review and will not influence the editorial decision. If the article is accepted for publication, the editors will discuss with the authors the manner in which such information is to be communicated to the reader. UBCMJ expects that authors of accepted articles do not have any undisclosed financial ties to or interest in the makers of products discussed in the article.

In the interest of full transparency, no current members of the UBCMJ executive staff will be permitted to publish in the journal, except for those officially invited in a staff writer capacity to author a news piece or editorial. This policy is intended to limit the potential for conflicts of interest. All former members of the UBCMJ staff are exempted from this policy, as they will not have involvement in the workings of the journal at the time of their submission.

Author Originality

Authors must declare that all works submitted to the UBCMJ contain original, unpublished content and have been referenced according to the appropriate academic style. Written content that displays excessive similarity to previously published works, including works written by the submitting authors, will not be published by the UBCMJ. This policy is consistent with the UBC policy on plagiarism. The UBCMJ editorial staff reserves the right to request revisions, to deny publication, or to require retraction of submitted or published work that contains clear violations of this policy.

Specific Submission Criteria

Academic Research

Research articles report student-driven research projects and succinctly describe findings in a manner appropriate for a general medical audience. The articles should place findings in the context of current literature in their respective disciplines. UBCMJ currently accepts both full length articles and research letters.

If in your manuscript you acknowledge anyone for a contribution that goes beyond administrative assistance, you must obtain written permission from that person to publish his or her name (a) where the manuscript or article contains any material(s) (including text, images or other media) or other contribution(s) which belong to others, the author(s) are solely responsible for obtaining permission in writing from the owner(s) for its publication in the article. If applicable, primary research articles must include ethics approval.

Reviews

Reviews provide an overview of a body of scientific work or a medical trend. Reviews may outline a current medical issue or give insight into the principles of practice of a clinical field. Authors may choose to review the etiology, diagnosis, treatment, or epidemiology of a specific disease. Articles may also provide a survey of literature dealing with philosophy and social science as it pertains to medicine.

Case and Elective Reports

Case Reports describe patient encounters in a clinical or public health setting. The case should provide a relevant teaching point for medical students, either by describing a unique condition OR by presenting new insights into the diagnosis, presentation, or management of a more common condition. A template form to be used by the authors to obtain documented consent is provided on our website. The patient's consent form should be retained by the authors for a period of five years. Please do not provide the patient's name or signature directly to the UBCMJ.

Elective Reports provide a specific description of the scope of practice of a medical specialty and/or training program, and recall the student's impressions and reflections during and upon completion of the elective.

News and Letters

This section includes articles that touch on current events in the field of medicine, significant medical advances, or brief summaries of research in an area. Note that submissions to this section do not require extensive elaboration on the methods or results of the review process. **Commentaries**

Commentaries

Commentaries are intended to provide a platform for intellectual dialogue on topics relevant to the study and practice of medicine. Submissions should correspond to one of the following categories:

- Subjective pieces relevant to medical studies, life as a future physician, or the current social context of medicine.
- Clinical perspectives on an interesting research study or area of focus.

Correspondence

For any questions related to your submission, please contact the appropriate Section Editors.

Academic Research	(academic@ubcmj.com)
Case and Elective Reports	(reports@ubcmj.com)
Reviews	(reviews@ubcmj.com)
News and Letters	(news@ubcmj.com)
Commentaries	(commentaries@ubcmj.com)
Editorial Inquiries	(managing.editor@ubcmj.com)
Other Inquires	(external.editor@ubcmj.com)
Sponsorship	(sponsorship@ubcmj.com)

The UBC Medical Journal is now accepting submissions for...



UBCMJ Volume 11 Issue 1 Fall 2019

Chronic Disease

A substantial proportion of Canadians are living with chronic diseases ranging from well-managed illnesses to degenerative and debilitating conditions without effective treatments. The burden of chronic diseases on the healthcare system is significant and is projected to become greater due to the aging Canadian population. Certain lifestyle elements can play a part in the development and prognosis of chronic conditions. There is a key role for patient education and counselling in reducing the onset of chronic diseases with modifiable risk factors.

In addition to prevention and treatment, we recognize the growing role of palliative medicine in managing chronic diseases. Palliative care is a multi-disciplinary approach that involves the physical, mental, social, and spiritual care of patients, as well as their loved ones. The federal government of Canada has committed \$11 billion over the next 10 years towards home, palliative, and mental care, which are important in the care of patients with chronic disease. As we recognize the growing number of chronic diseases, the accessibility, quality, and financial constraints in palliative care need to be discussed.

In this coming issue, we invite you to engage in a dialogue surrounding different types of chronic diseases, management and prevention of these conditions, and potential future therapies. To encourage and recognize high-quality writing, the UBCMJ Distinguished Writing Award, which includes a \$250 honorarium, will be presented to the authors of the strongest article submitted in the Fall 2019 and Spring 2020 issues. For more information please visit our guide to authors: https://ubcmj.med.ubc.ca/submissions/ubc-medical-journal-guide-to-authors/

Submit at: ubcmj.med.ubc.ca/submissions/



This issue of the UBCMJ could not have been possible without the support and guidance of the following individuals:

Linda Herbert Dr. Janette McMillan Dr. Michelle Wong Jennifer Fong

The University of British Columbia Medical Journal uses an open access publishing policy in line with our mandate to publish in a socially responsible way. We endorse open access publishing as the preferred model for scholarly communication and encourage the adoption of open access principles by universities and research agencies.



The UBCMJ provides many options for your advertising needs:



Please enquire about our Product Advertisement Rate Card at www.ubcmj.com or advertising@ubcmj.com

"Take two of these



and be back in Vancouver the same morning."

Painless travel between metro Vancouver, Vancouver Island, the Gulf Islands & the Sunshine Coast. It's just what the doctor ordered.

- Fast, frequent flights
- Easy, flexible charters
- Preferred pricing programsGreat loyalty rewards







I wish I had just called Katie on Day 1 of med school and let the experts take me through the process. Being properly insured takes one thing off my list of worries and knowing that the team I've got specializes in the work I do every day makes it that much better.

- Dr. Heather O'Donnell



At Haslett Financial, we recognize that your needs are unique. Our goal is to provide you with the best solutions to address those needs. We will always customize the financial plan to you... and not the other way around.

Our customized, comprehensive financial solutions for Students and Medical Professionals include:

- > Life, Disability and Critical Illness Insurance
- > Financial and Investment Planning
- > Debt Consultation

We would love to hear from you! Contact us today for a consultation. 604-261-2037 | www.hassolutions.com





THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA